
 

 

 

 
Meeting 
 

Council 
 

Date and Time 
 

Thursday, 26th February, 2026 at 6.30 pm. 

Venue 
 

Council Chamber, Castle Hill, Winchester SO23 8UL and 
streamed live on YouTube at www.youtube.com/winchestercc 

 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an Ordinary Meeting of the Council will be held at 
6.30 pm on Thursday, 26th February, 2026 in the Council Chamber, Castle Hill, 
Winchester SO23 8UL and all Members of the Council are summoned to attend. 

 
Note: This meeting is being held in person at the location specified above. Members 
of the public should note that the meeting will be streamed live to the council’s You 
Tube channel (www.youtube.com/WinchesterCC). 
 
A limited number of seats will be made available at the above named location, 
however attendance must be notified to the council at least 3 working days before 
the meeting. Please note that priority will be given to those having registered to 
speak during the Public Question session over those wishing to attend and observe. 
Please note that Questions must be received in writing by Democratic Services 
(democracy@winchester.gov.uk) prior to 10am, five working days preceding the day 
of the council meeting.  
 

AGENDA 
 

 

1.   Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of the Council held on 14 January 2026 
(Pages 9 - 10) 
 

2. Disclosure of Interests  
 To receive any disclosure of interests from Councillors or Officers in 

matters to be discussed. 
 
Note: Councillors are reminded of their obligations to declare disclosable 
pecuniary interests (DPIs), other registerable interests (ORIs) and non-
registerable interests (NRIs) in accordance with the Council’s Code of 
Conduct. 
 

3.   Announcements from the Mayor, Leader and Chief Executive.  
 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.youtube.com/WinchesterCC
mailto:democracy@winchester.gov.uk


4. Questions from Members of the Public  
 To receive and answer and questions from the public. 

(Questions must be received in writing by Democratic Services – 
democracy@winchester.gov.uk – no later than 10am on Thursday 19 
February) 
 

5. To consider and determine the following Recommended Minutes: 
Cabinet held 12 February 2026 - Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Budget 2026/27 (CAB3540 - REVISED) (Pages 11 - 46) 

  

Please note revised versions of Report CAB3540 and Appendices 1, 3 and 7 
from those considered at Cabinet on 12 February 2026. 

RECOMMENDED (TO COUNCIL): 
 
1. That the HRA Financial Plan operating account, including annual 

working balances be noted, as detailed in Appendix 6 of report 
CAB3540. 
 

2. That the 2026/27 Housing Revenue Account budget be approved, as 
detailed in Appendices 1 and 2 to the report.   

 

3. That the proposed capital programme for maintenance, improvements 
and renewals totalling £162.7m be approved. 

 

4. That capital expenditure be approved and authority be delegated to the 
Strategic Director with responsibility for housing to enter into necessary 
contracts for the 2026/27 capital programme of £22.8m, as detailed in 
Appendix 3 of the report in accordance with Financial Procedure Rule 
7.4. 

 

5. That a change in approach to delivery of retrofit installation of solar 
panels and batteries to achieve best value for money following the 
decision by the Department for Energy Security and Net Zero to 
withhold Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund grant on battery 
installations be approved, as outlined at paragraphs 11.56 to 11.63 of 
the report. 

 

6. That the proposed 10 year capital programme for new homes totalling 
£202.8m, and expenditure of £21.8m in 2026/27 be approved, as 
detailed in Appendix 4 of the report in accordance with Financial 
Procedure Rule 7.4. 

 

7. That the financing of the HRA Capital Programme be approved as 
detailed in Appendix 5 of the report, (noting the planned repayment of 
borrowing following the 1000 homes programme). 

 

8. That the revenue savings target of £1.13m at Appendix 7 of the report 
as amended be approved, which was outlined to Cabinet in November 

mailto:democracy@winchester.gov.uk


2025 (CAB3523) and includes additional savings as outlined at 
paragraphs 11.32-11.38 of the report. 

 

9. That the Section 151 Officer be authorised, in consultation with the 
Strategic Director with responsibility for Housing to approve buybacks of 
individual former HRA properties sold under the Right to Buy during 
2026/27, following positive financial appraisal, utilising the unallocated 
New Homes budget (see paragraph 11.26 of the report). 

 

10. That subject to the acceptance of the expression of interest to the Local 
Authority Housing Fund (LAHF) round 4: 
a. the Strategic Director with responsibility for Housing be 

authorised to enter into a revised Memorandum of Understanding 
with Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government to 
secure additional LAHF funding. 

b. Authority be delegated to the Section 151 Officer to approve 
capital expenditure (subject to financial appraisal, in accordance 
with Financial Procedure Rule 7.4) of up to £12m to purchase up to 
30 properties between 2026/27 and 2029/30 using the approved 
HRA unallocated new build budget, to be part-financed by LAHF 
grant with any balance via prudential borrowing.  

c. The Corporate Head – Asset Management and the Strategic 
Director with responsibility for Housing be authorised to purchase up 
to 30 properties. (Paragraphs 11.74-11.78 of the report). 
   

11. That the average rent increase for 2026/27 for all affordable, Shared 
Ownership and social housing of 4.8% be approved, based on the 
September 2024 CPI figure of 3.8% +1% (Paragraphs 11.6-11.8 of the 
report). 
  

12. That amendments to HRA tenant service charges in 2026/27 be 
approved to reflect cost recovery based on 2024/25 actual costs (see 
paragraphs 11.41 to 11.45 of the report). 

 

13. That it be noted that the draft HRA Business 30-year Plan is viable and 
sustainable and has the capacity to support the delivery of 1,000 new 
affordable homes 

 

6. To consider and determine the following Recommended Minutes: 
Cabinet held 12 February 2026 - General Fund Budget 2026/27 
(CAB3541 - REVISED) (Pages 47 - 82) 

  

Please note revised versions of Report CAB3541 and Appendices A and C 
from those considered at Cabinet on 12 February 2026. 

a) RECOMMENDED (TO COUNCIL): 
 

1. That the level of General Fund Budget for 2026/27 be agreed and the 

summary be recommended as shown in Appendix A of CAB3541, as 



amended, due to the late change in the Government's local 

government financial settlement announced by MHCLG on 10 

February 2026.  

2. That in relation to the Greener Faster Council Plan priority:  
 

a. a growth of £30,000 be approved to increase the annual Town 

Account tree maintenance budget as a result of risks associated 

with the effects of climate change and associated tree disease. 

3. That in relation to the Healthy Communities priority of the new Council 
Plan:  

 
a. the revised income bands for the Council Tax Reduction scheme for 

working age applicants (set out in Appendix E of report CAB3541) 
be approved, that ensure claimants continue to receive the 
appropriate level of support after the DWPs increase in Universal 
Credit rates with effect from 1 April 2026. 

 
4. That in relation to the Efficient and Effective priority:  
 

a. a growth to the annual expenditure budget of £89,000 be approved 
for improvements to make the way our residents’ contact us is 
easier and faster. 

 
5. That other service expenditure annual budgets be amended as follows, 

in response to revised estimates:  
 

a. Utility budget increased by £150,000 in order to cover the additional 
forecast utility costs from 2026/27. 

b. An additional budget of £115,000 per annum from 2026/27 for the 
Corporate Head of Resources.  

c. A growth of £130,000 to reflect the net budget pressure of the 
migration of the Land Charges service to HM Land Registry.  

d. A net budget saving of £215,000 per annum to reflect changes to 
forecast employers’ pension contributions and rates. 

 
6. That one-off service expenditure budgets be approved as follows:  
 

a. A £470,000 digital transformation budget, relating to the 
implementation of improvements to make our residents’ digital 
contact with us easier and faster, with £400,000 funded from the 
digital transformation reserve and £70,000 funded from the 
transitional reserve.  

b. A Town Account budget of £15,000 for feasibility work related to 
speed indicators within the town area, funded by the town reserve.  

c. £1.7m for essential structural and repair works to the Guildhall to 
maintain this listed civic building (and required prior to further 
decision making on the future operating model of the Guildhall and 
Abbey House) funded from Property - Asset Management Reserve, 
and delegates authority to:  



 
i.  the Strategic Director to appoint, in accordance with the 

council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs), all necessary 
consultants to prepare design work for the works required to 
the Guildhall through a competitive bid process or framework; 

ii.  the Strategic Director to undertake a procurement exercise to 
obtain bids or use of a framework to appoint a contractor(s) for 
the works required to the Guildhall, in accordance with the 
council’s CPRs;  

iii. the Strategic Director to appoint the relevant contractors and to 
negotiate and agree contractual heads of terms with the 
contract appointment; and 

iv. the Service Lead: Legal to prepare and enter into all relevant 
agreements, negotiate the contractual agreements and see 
them to completion to enable the Guildhall works. 

 
7. That following a review of earmarked reserves they be amended as 

follows: 
  

a. £2m of the Major Investment Reserve be re-allocated to the 
Property  Reserve to fund maintenance requirements of corporate 
properties. 

b. £1m from the Major Investment Reserve be re-allocated to the Car 
Parks Property Reserve to fund maintenance of and investment in 
parking.  

c.  An additional £500,000 per annum be set aside into the Property 
Reserve, for the maintenance of and investment in operational 
assets. 

 
8. That the sum of £1,434,779 be treated as Special Expenses under 

Section 35 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 in respect of 
the Winchester Town area as set out in section 17 and Appendix D of 
the report. 

 
9. That the Council Tax for the Special Expenses in the Winchester 

Town area at Band D for 2026/27 be increased by 5% (£4.50) to 
£94.58. 

  
10. That the surplus balance on the Council Tax Collection Fund for 

distribution to this Council, calculated in January 2026 of £107,910, 
be approved. 

  
11. That the level of Council Tax at Band D for City Council services for 

2026/27 be increased to £168.49, an increase of £4.83 reflecting an 
average Council tax increase of 2.95% (the maximum allowed under 
the referendum limit of 2.99% when combined with the increase to 
the Special Expenses for the town area). 

 
12. That the carry forward of the balance of the Council Tax Exceptional 

Hardship Fund in 2025/26 to 2026/27 be approved in order to extend 



this vital support for those on low income. 
 
 

b) TO PASS A FORMAL RESOLUTION SETTING THE COUNCIL TAX 
FOR THE CITY OF WINCHESTER FOR THE YEAR COMMENCING 1 
APRIL 2026. 

 

7. To consider and determine the following Recommended Minutes: 
Cabinet held 12 February 2026 - Capital Investment Strategy 2026 - 36 
(CAB3539) (Pages 83 - 128) 

  

RECOMMENDED (TO COUNCIL): 
 
1. The Capital Investment Strategy be approved including: 

 
a) the Capital Programme and Capital Programme Financing 

(Appendices A and B to report CAB3539); 
b) the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement 

(Appendix E of the report); 
c) the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy (Appendix G of the 

report); and 
d) the prudential indicators detailed in the report and Appendix F of 

the report. 
 

8. To consider and determine the following Recommended Minutes: 
Cabinet held 12 February 2026 - Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27 
(CAB3538 - REVISED) (Pages 129 - 160) 

  

Please note revised version of Report CAB3538 (Appendix D) from that 
considered at Cabinet on 12 February 2026.  

RECOMMENDED (TO COUNCIL): 
 
1. That the Treasury Management Strategy Statement which includes the 

Annual Treasury Investment Strategy for 2026/27 (and the remainder of 
2025/26) is approved;  

 
2. That authority be delegated to the Section 151 Officer to manage the 

council’s pooled property investment and long-term borrowing according 
to the Treasury Management Strategy Statement as appropriate; and 

 
3. That authority be delegated to the Section 151 Officer, who in turn 

discharges this function to Hampshire County Council’s Director of 

Corporate Operations, as agreed in the Service Level Agreement, to 

manage all council investments (other than the high yield portfolio) and 

short-term borrowing according to the Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement as appropriate. 



 

9. Changes to Committee Memberships  
 To receive any resignations from committees and to make any necessary re-

appointments. 
 

10. Questions from Members of Council  
 The total time for questions and the answer and supplementaries thereto 

shall not exceed 40 minutes. 
 

LAURA TAYLOR 
Chief Executive 

 
All of the Council’s publicly available agendas, reports and minutes are 
available to view and download from the Council’s Website and are also open 
to inspection at the offices of the council.  As part of our drive to minimise our 
use of paper we do not provide paper copies of the full agenda pack at 
meetings. We do however, provide a number of copies of the agenda front 
sheet at the meeting which contains the QR Code opposite. Scanning this 
code enables members of the public to easily access all of the meeting papers 
on their own electronic device. Please hold your device’s camera or QR code 
App over the QR Code so that it's clearly visible within your screen and you 

will be redirected to the agenda pack.  

 

 
18 February 2026 
Agenda Contact: David Blakemore, Democratic Services Team Manager 
Tel: 01962 848217   Email: dblakemore@winchester.gov.uk 
 
Quorum = 15 members 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
Members of the public may ask questions of the Leader, Cabinet Members and 
Committee Chairs at Ordinary Meetings of the Council. The total time allocated for 
questions by the public shall normally be limited to 20 minutes. 
 
A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing to 
Democratic Services no later than 5 working days preceding the Council meeting. 
For example, if the Council meeting is being held at 7pm on a Wednesday then the 
question would need to be received by 10am on the preceding Wednesday.  Please 
email to democracy@winchester.gov.uk. 
 
FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION 
This meeting will be recorded and broadcast live on the Council’s website. The 
meeting may also be recorded and broadcast by the press and members of the 
public – please see the Access to Information Procedure Rules within the Council's 
Constitution for further information, which is available to view on the Council’s 
website. 
 
DISABLED ACCESS:  
Disabled access is normally available, but please phone Democratic Services on 
01962 848 264 or email democracy@winchester.gov.uk to ensure that the necessary 
arrangements are in place.

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=352&MId=2032&info=1&Ver=4
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=352&MId=2032&info=1&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

COUNCIL 
 

Wednesday, 14 January 2026 
Attendance: 

 
Councillors Present 

 
Achwal S (The Mayor) 

 
Gordon-Smith 
Achwal V 
Aron 
Bailey-Morgan 
Batho 
Becker 
Bennett 
Bolton 
Brophy 
Chamberlain 
Clear 
Cook 
Cramoysan 
Cunningham 
Cutler 
Eve 
Godfrey 
Horrill 
Laming 
Langford-Smith 
Latham 
 

Learney 
Lee 
Miller 
Morris 
Murphy 
Pett 
Pinniger 
Porter 
Power 
Reach 
Rutter 
Scott 
Small 
Thompson 
Tippett-Cooper 
Tod 
Warwick 
Westwood 
White 
Williams 
Wise 
 

  
Apologies for Absence:  
 
Councillors Brook and Wallace 
 
Recording of Meeting  
 

 
1.    MINUTES OF THE ORDINARY MEETING OF THE COUNCIL HELD ON 24 

SEPTEMBER 2025  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the minutes of the Ordinary meeting of the Council held on 24 September 
2025 be approved and adopted. 
 

2.    DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS  
 
Councillors Porter, Tod, Warwick and Williams each declared disclosable 
pecuniary interests in respect of agenda items due to their role as Hampshire 

Page 9

Agenda Item 1

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=4839&Ver=4


 

 
 

County Councillors.  However, as there was no material conflict of interest, they 
remained in the room, spoke and voted under the dispensation granted on behalf 
of the Audit and Governance Committee to participate and vote in all matters 
which might have a County Council involvement.  
 
Councillor Tod also declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in respect of 
agenda item 7 c – Notice of Motion (Hampshire Mayoral Election) as he was a 
candidate for the new combined authority and due to the fact that the motion 
referred to the timing of this election, he left the chamber during consideration of 
this item and took no part in the discussion or decision. 
 
Councillor Godfrey also declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in respect of 
agenda item 7 a – Notice of Motion (Armed Forces – ‘Credit Their Service’) as 
he was in the process of applying for payment from one of the schemes referred 
to (the Armed Forces pension and compensation schemes) and he left the 
chamber during consideration of this item and took no part in the discussion or 
decision. 
 
Councillor Pett declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in respect of agenda 
items due to his role as Council’s representative on the South Downs National 
Park Authority. However, as there was no material conflict of interest, he 
remained in the room, spoke and voted under the dispensation granted on behalf 
of the Audit and Governance Committee to participate and vote in all matters 
which might have a South Downs National Park Authority involvement. 
 

3.    ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE MAYOR, LEADER AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE.  
 
The Mayor referred to recent engagements and then announced his forthcoming 
charities events.  
 
He then advised that the annual Mayor of Winchester’s Community Awards had 
been launched and that presentations would take place on 12 March 2026.  
 
The Mayor then advised that he had written to the following recipients in the 
King’s New Year Honours:  
 

Kim Wilkie of Bishops Waltham – a CBE for services to Landscape 

Architecture. 

Sara Russell, Principal and Chief Executive Officer at Peter Symonds 

College – an OBE for services to Further Education.  

Anne Fairhurst, Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public 

Health at Hampshire County Council – an MBE for services to Adult 

Social Care. 

Kim Quaintrell, Head of Reducing Reoffending, HM Prison Winchester – 

an MBE for Public Service.  

The Leader then announced that he had recently attended the opening of 
Winchester hospital’s new orthopaedic out-patients department, which had been 

Page 10



 

 
 

officially opened by a former councillor, who had recently retired after 52 years 
as a hospital plaster technician. 
 
The Leader then advised that, on behalf of the council, he had recently 
responded to the government’s consultation on Local Government 
Reorganisation with the council’s agreed proposal.  He again highlighted the 
strength of the council’s agreed proposal, versus the other submissions including 
that the scale and nature and proposed configuration of the four mainland 
geographies were supported by residents.  A response was also made regarding 
the county council’s submission, with particular focus on the economic 
geographies within this and particularly highlighting concerns of the Winchester 
district becoming part of a north Hampshire authority.  The Leader advised that 
shortly after submission in October, the council was then required to undertake 
work on a detailed and extensive list of comparative activities ahead of the 
expected announcement in March by government.  This had required the 
establishment of joint systems with other councils and additional work for 
officers, and he was grateful for councillors who had volunteered to be part of a 
cross-party group to help oversee the Local Government Reorganisation 
process.         
 
The Chief Executive first drew attention to an upcoming sponsored charity event 
in which officers would be participating, and then proceeded to announce 
apologies for the meeting. 
 

4.    QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 
There were no Questions before Council 
 

5.    TO CONSIDER AND DETERMINE THE FOLLOWING RECOMMENDED 
MINUTES OF THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE HELD 27 
NOVEMBER 2025 - PAY POLICY REPORT AND STATEMENT 2026/27 
(AG170).  
 
Councillor Morris (Chairperson of the Audit and Governance Committee) moved 
that the Recommended Minute of the Audit and Governance Committee be 
approved and adopted (seconded by Councillor Chamberlain).  
 
Council proceeded to ask questions and then debate the matters in the 
recommended minute.  
 
At conclusion of debate and following the seconder (Councillor Chamberlain, 
having reserved his right to speak) addressing the meeting, and then summing 
up by the proposer (Councillor Morris), Council then voted on the Recommended 
Minute before it.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the recommended minute of the Audit and Governance Committee held 27 
November 2025 be approved and adopted:  
 
1. That the Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 2026/27 be adopted. 

Page 11



 

 
 

 
6.    INFORMATION FOR COUNCIL  

 
Councillor Pett provided a verbal report to the Council regarding the South 
Downs National Park Authority (SDNPA), for which he was the Council’s 
representative, and his update included the following matters.  
 

• Since his last update, SDNPA had appointed a new Hampshire County 
Council representative and in December 2024, a new Chief Executive. 
 

• Closer integration between the Park Authority and the South Downs Trust 
had been established with a new directorate for growth and organisational 
development. 
 

• National Parks were seeking power of competence to sell expertise 
(especially in green finance) and it was hoped that a clause within the 
Devolution Bill will include such powers. 
 

• Local Government Reorganisation may reduce elected representation on 
the National Park Authority (NPA) board. The NPAs were working to 
influence the development of the Hampshire Solent MCCA. 
 

• New statutory Partnership Management Plan had been recently approved 
after 18 months of engagement. 
 

• Progress was ongoing on the Regulation 19 draft of the South Downs 
Local Plan.  Strengthened policies within the Local Plan were envisaged 
regarding farm building conversions for tourist accommodation, and for 
the addition of self-build units to rural exception sites. 

 

• Differences remained between national housing targets and the 
constraints of protected landscapes.   
 

• Progress had been made to increase land managed for nature from 25% 
to 33% by 2030, which would require 13,000 additional hectares. 
 

• Initiatives and pressures within the SDNPA were reported on, including 
accessibility via public transport networks to the park interior.  
 

• A new five-year planning application for the Boomtown festival had been 
recently submitted.   
 

Councillor Pett then responded to questions. 
 

7.    NOTICES OF MOTION  
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15, four motions had been submitted 
for Council. 
 
 

Page 12



 

 
 

a) Armed Forces – End to the Unjust Benefits System for Veterans – 
‘Credit Their Service’ 
 
Councillor Godfrey left the chamber during consideration of this item and 
took no part in the discussion or decision. 
 
The first motion submitted was by Councillor Lee and was as set out on 
the agenda and was seconded by Councillor Laming. Following its 
introduction by Councillor Lee, Council then debated the matters in the 
motion. In summary the following points were raised: 
 

• The council should understand additional costs of it supporting the 
motion.  
 

• The council should ensure that outcomes of the motion should 
continue as a legacy to the future unitary council responsible for 
the area.  However, they would need to make their own decisions 
on processes at the appropriate time.  

 

• Repeal of the Legacy Act was regarding lawfulness of acts during 
military service.  The proposals in the motion was compensation 
(for the individual and their family) for significant personal 
consequence in military service.  

 

• The council should use the discretion afforded to it on any 
elements in favour of veterans. 

 

• The council will look within the budget regarding topping up the 
existing discretionary housing payments fund, as this was depleted 
each year. 

 

• It was confirmed that support for the motion would be inclusive of 
disabled facilities grants. 

 
Having reserved their right to speak, the seconder of the motion 
(Councillor Laming) then addressed Council, followed by the proposer of 
the motion (Councillor Lee) who exercised their right to respond to 
debate.  
 
The Council then voted on the motion as set out on the agenda.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the motion proposed by Councillor Lee (seconded by Councillor 
Laming) be supported, and that this Council resolves: 
 
1.   To support the Royal British Legion’s “Credit Their Service” campaign, 
recognising the injustice caused when military compensation is treated as 
income in local means-tested benefits. 
 
2.   To amend all relevant Winchester City Council policies to ensure that 

Page 13



 

 
 

 

• All Armed Forces Compensation Scheme payments and War 
Disablement Pensions are fully disregarded when assessing 
financial liability for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG). 
 

• All Armed Forces compensation and War Pension income is fully 
disregarded when assessing eligibility or award levels for 
Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP). 
 

• The same principle is applied wherever legally permissible in 
Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit calculations within local 
discretionary parameters. 
 

3.   To embed this position explicitly within the Council’s Private Sector 
Housing Policy and DFG Policy Statement, citing the Armed Forces 
Covenant duty to ensure fair treatment. 
 
4.   To publicise the policy clearly to veterans, local voluntary groups, and 
Armed Forces representatives across the district. 
 
5.   To write to the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions urging 
national reform so that military compensation is fully exempt from all 
means-tested Department for Work and Pensions benefits. 
 
6.   To work with the Royal British Legion, the Hampshire Armed Forces 
Covenant Partnership, and neighbouring councils to support consistent 
adoption of “Credit Their Service” principles across Hampshire. 
 
 

b) Protecting Streams and Rivers Across the Winchester District 
 
The motion submitted was by Councillor Learney and was as set out on 
the agenda and was seconded by Councillor White.  
 
Following its introduction by Councillor Learney, Council then debated the 
matters in the motion.  In summary the following points were raised: 
 

• Did ‘cultural history’ (as referenced in resolution 2) include 
industrial and agricultural practices that have formed the 
ecosystems around our rivers? 
 

• Data from Rivers and Seas Watch indicated that the scale of the 
release of untreated sewage and storm water from the combined 
sewage overflows are a threat to public health, notably in 
recreational areas where this regularly occurred.  

 

• The rivers and streams made Winchester and district special, and it 
was the council’s responsibility to preserve these vital resources.   

 

• Foul water discharges into our rivers must be monitored and 
practical steps to reduce the frequency and impact of these 

Page 14



 

 
 

discharges should be supported.  The council should be open and 
transparent about its activity near its own water treatment works. 

 
AMENDMENT – Moved by Councillor Godfrey and seconded by 
Councillor Bolton: 

Add new Resolution 6.  Request that the Council publishes a 

quarterly report on discharges from council-operated water 

treatment works.  

Council proceeded to debate the matters in the Amendment. In summary 
the following points were raised: 
 

• The Environment Agency inspection reports indicated that council 
operated treatment works function well, however other discharges 
such as nitrates or phosphates were not currently monitored or 
reported on.    
 

• The council operate many wastewater treatment plants and so it 
would not be effective use of resources to produce monitoring data 
for each.  It would be better to direct these resources where 
interventions were planned for.  

 

• The council was already working to upgrade its water treatment 
works. 

 

• A quarterly report would take additional resources to achieve and 
may appear as the council ‘marking its own homework’.  

 

• The council would provide a link on its website to the Environment 
Agency, so residents could readily access the most up-to-date 
information. 

 

• The council should be prepared to lead by example and measure 
and publish its own output. 

 
Following the proposer of original motion (Councillor Learney) exercising 
their right to reply to the debate on the Amendment, council then voted on 
the Amendment as set out above.  
 
AMENDMENT LOST 
 
Council then proceeded to continue to debate the original motion before it 
and in summary, the following additional points were raised: 
 

• The motion will protect all water ways in the district and not only 
chalk streams. 
 

• Local voluntary groups must be commended for their work and 
campaigning for cleaner rivers. 

 

Page 15



 

 
 

• Occurrences of failure of some Southern Water wastewater 
networks (alongside agricultural runoff and road pollution) had 
demonstrated the vulnerability of our rivers and chalk streams.  

 

• A ‘Rights of River’ approach within the motion may have provided a 
case for changes to legislation and was an approach adopted by 
some other councils in Hampshire.   

 
Having reserved their right to speak, the seconder of the motion 
(Councillor White) then addressed Council, followed by the proposer of 
the motion (Councillor Learney) who exercised their right to respond to 
debate.  
 
The Council then voted on the motion as set out on the agenda.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the motion proposed by Councillor Learney (seconded by Councillor 
White) be supported, and that this Council resolves to: 
 
1. Restate this Council’s intention to lead by example to protect and 

restore our rivers and streams and their catchments.  
 

2. Continue to advocate to Government and national and regional 
bodies, including the Environment Agency, for the protection of our 
chalk streams and other freshwater ecosystems.  

 
3. Support local initiatives and citizen monitoring efforts that protect and 

restore river health, such as citizen science water testing and river fly 
monitoring, riparian buffer planting, natural flood management, 
creating wildlife corridors and sustainable agriculture partnerships.  

 
4. Support public engagement to raise awareness of the importance of 

chalk streams and rivers to Hampshire’s natural and cultural heritage. 
 
5. Request that the Environment Agency publishes an annual "State of 

the Rivers" report to track progress in protecting the aquatic 
environment, in collaboration with local environmental organisations. 

 
 

c) Hampshire Mayoral Election. 
 
The Leader (Councillor Tod) left the chamber during consideration of this 
item and took no part in the discussion or decision. 
 
The motion submitted was by Councillor Horrill and was as set out on the 
agenda and was seconded by Councillor Godfrey.  
 
Following its introduction by Councillor Horrill, Council then debated the 
matters in the motion. In summary the following points were raised: 
 

Page 16



 

 
 

• Delaying the mayoral elections created a technical issue regarding 
how a new combined authority can operate. 
 

• The decision regarding a combined mayoral authority was made on 
the understanding that it would drive necessary investment to the 
area.  Transition to a new authority should take place in the way 
that was respectful of the residents’ expectations and giving 
Hampshire the stable framework that it deserved.  

 
AMENDMENT – Moved by Councillor Pinniger and seconded by 
Councillor Power: 

 
Add new words showing in bold italics.   
 
This council notes the announcement last month from the Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local Government that the inaugural 
elections to select a Mayor for the new Hampshire Mayoral 
Combined Authority would not take place until May 2028.  
 
This Council believes that the election of a Mayor for the 
Hampshire & the Solent Combined County Authority must happen 
as early as possible, preferably in May 2026, but should not be 
delayed beyond May 2027. This Council further believes that 
the most effective way of securing this change is through 
continuing with a collaborative and coordinated approach with 
other Hampshire and Isle of Wight authorities – and that the 
request should also include a restoration of funding levels to 
£43m a year. 
 
This Council resolves to:  
 
1. Formally oppose the Government’s proposal to delay the 
Hampshire Mayoral election from May 2026 to May 2028.  
 
2. Write to the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and 
Local Government expressing this Council’s concern at the 
proposed delay and calling for the election to proceed in May 2026 
as originally planned and not to be postponed beyond May 2027 as 
part of a coordinated plan with other authorities and if current 
approaches are not successful. 

 
With the leave of the proposer of the original motion before Council 
(Councillor Horrill), Council agreed that the matters in the amendment 
were acceptable and that no debate on the amendment was required. 
 
AMENDMENT CARRIED. 
 
Council then proceeded to further debate the motion (as amended) and 
now the substantive motion before the meeting.  
 
In summary the following points were raised: 

Page 17



 

 
 

 

• The mayoral election should proceed under the Supplementary 
Vote (SV) system as the First-Past-the-Post system risked 
conferring extensive executive powers on candidates elected with 
the support of only a minority of voters, particularly where multiple 
candidates stand.  
 

Having reserved their right to speak, the seconder of the original motion 
(which was now as amended), Councillor Godfrey, then addressed 
Council, followed by the proposer of the original motion (Councillor Horrill) 
who exercised their right to respond to debate.  
 
The Council then voted on the motion as set out on the agenda, as 
amended above.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the motion proposed by Councillor Horrill (seconded by Councillor 
Godfrey), as amended (proposed by Councillor Pinniger, and seconded 
by Councillor Power) be supported, and that this Council resolves to: 
 
1. Formally oppose the Government’s proposal to delay the Hampshire 

Mayoral election from May 2026 to May 2028.  
 
2. Write to the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government expressing this Council’s concern at the proposed delay 
and calling for the election to proceed in May 2026 as originally 
planned and not to be postponed beyond May 2027 as part of a 
coordinated plan with other authorities and if current approaches are 
not successful. 

 
d) Local Elections. 

 
The motion submitted was by Councillor Horrill and was as set out on the 
agenda. The motion was seconded by Councillor Godfrey.  
 
Following its introduction by Councillor Horrill, Council then debated the 
matters in the motion. In summary, the following points were raised: 
 

• Stability, transparency, and public confidence all depend on 
scheduled elections taking place. 
 

• The Supplementary Vote (SV) system would not be available for 
the forthcoming local elections. 

 

• Local elections were one of the most fundamental ways residents 
engaged with local issues and voting in local politics was an 
important right.  

 

Page 18



 

 
 

• There was absolute confidence that officers had the capacity and 
expertise to deliver elections at this time, and there was absolutely 
no reason for them to be delayed.  
 

Having reserved their right to speak, the seconder of the motion 
(Councillor Godfrey) then addressed Council, followed by the proposer of 
the motion (Councillor Horrill) who exercised their right to respond to 
debate.  
 
The Council then voted on the motion as set out on the agenda.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the motion proposed by Councillor Horrill (seconded by Councillor 
Godfrey) be supported, and that this Council resolves to: 
 
Request that the Leader responds to the Minister accordingly – making 
clear that Winchester City Council does not support postponement of its 
elections. 

 
8.    CHANGES TO COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIPS  

 
There were no changes to committee memberships for Council to note. 
 

9.    QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL  
 
Council referred to the 13 questions which had been received, which were all 
heard at the meeting along with associated supplementary questions.  
 
The questions received and their response were subsequently set out on the 
council’s website. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and concluded at 9.40 pm 
 
 
 

The Mayor 

Page 19

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=4839&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



  

CABINET 
 

12 February 2026 
 

Draft Minute Extract 
 
 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUDGET 26/27 (PAGES 43 - 78) 
(CAB3540) 
 
Councillor Reach introduced the report which had been produced following 
consultation with tenants, including the TACT board on 4 February.  The report had 
also been considered at Scrutiny Committee on 10 February, the draft minutes of 
which had been circulated to Cabinet and other members present.  Councillor Reach 
provided further response to a number of the corrections and clarifications sought at 
Scrutiny Committee and it was noted that an amended report would be submitted to 
Council. 
 
Ian Tait spoke in public participation as summarised briefly below. 

Mr Tait referenced the council’s previous acquisition of the Corner House, 
Winchester and subsequent decision to dispose of the asset.  He estimated 
that the pending sale would result in a loss of approximately £500,000 and 
emphasised that this was HRA monies.  Consequently, he queried the report's 
description of the sale as providing a "valuable capital receipt", highlighting 
that he had raised concerns on this matter at several previous meetings.  

 
At the invitation of the Leader, Councillor Horrill addressed Cabinet as summarised 
briefly below. 

Councillor Horrill welcomed the additional budget savings identified since the 
November budget options report, but expressed disappointment that the lack 
of a timely government decision on rent convergence would defer its 
implementation until the following financial year. She raised concerns 
regarding the fairness of cost recovery from leaseholders via the section 20 
process and also the imbalance in fees for sewage treatment works.  She 
queried why the new maintenance and repairs contract was omitted from the 
risk register and queried whether there were sufficient skilled resources to 
complete the energy enhancement works.  Finally she expressed concern that 
the long-standing commitment to building new affordable homes appeared to 
end in 2032. 
 

Councillors Reach, Cutler and Tod, together with the Director (Finance) responded 
to the comments made.  Councillor Reach highlighted that the future of the HRA 
policy including the new homes programme was scheduled for discussion at 
Economy and Housing Policy Committee on 23 February 2026. 
 
 
Councillor Tod also made reference to a question received from Councillor Lee who 
was unable to attend the meeting. 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



  

Councillor Reach proposed that Appendix 7 of the report would be amended to 
reflect feedback from the TACT Board that the £52,000 neighbourhood budgets 
saving be replaced with the £50,000 frequency of external decoration saving.  This 
was agreed and it was noted that an amended Appendix 7 would be prepared for 
submission to Council. 
 
Cabinet agreed to the following for the reasons set out in the report and outlined 
above. 
 

RECOMMENDED (TO COUNCIL): 
 

1. That the HRA Financial Plan operating account, including 
annual working balances be noted, as detailed in Appendix 6 of the 
report. 

 
2. That the 2026/27 Housing Revenue Account budget be 

approved, as detailed in Appendices 1 and 2 to the report.   
 
3. That the proposed capital programme for maintenance, 

improvements and renewals totalling £162.7m be approved. 
 
4. That capital expenditure be approved and authority be 

delegated to the Strategic Director with responsibility for housing to 
enter into necessary contracts for the 2026/27 capital programme of 
£22.8m, as detailed in Appendix 3 of the report in accordance with 
Financial Procedure Rule 7.4. 

 
5. That a change in approach to delivery of retrofit installation 

of solar panels and batteries to achieve best value for money following 
the decision by the Department for Energy Security and Net Zero to 
withhold Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund grant on battery 
installations be approved, as outlined at paragraphs 11.56 to 11.63 of the 
report. 

 
6. That the proposed 10 year capital programme for new 

homes totalling £202.8m, and expenditure of £21.8m in 2026/27 be 
approved, as detailed in Appendix 4 of the report in accordance with 
Financial Procedure Rule 7.4. 

 
7. That the financing of the HRA Capital Programme be 

approved as detailed in Appendix 5 of the report, (noting the planned 
repayment of borrowing following the 1000 homes programme). 

 
8. That the revenue savings target of £1.13m at Appendix 7 of 

the report as amended be approved, which was outlined to Cabinet in 
November 2025 (CAB3523) and includes additional savings as outlined 
at paragraphs 11.32-11.38 of the report. 

 
9. That the Section 151 Officer be authorised, in consultation 

with the Strategic Director with responsibility for Housing to approve 

Page 22



  

buybacks of individual former HRA properties sold under the Right to 
Buy during 2026/27, following positive financial appraisal, utilising the 
unallocated New Homes budget (see paragraph 11.26 of the report). 

 
10. That subject to the acceptance of the expression of interest 

to the Local Authority Housing Fund (LAHF) round 4: 
a. the Strategic Director with responsibility for Housing be 

authorised to enter into a revised Memorandum of Understanding with 
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government to secure 
additional LAHF funding. 

b. Authority be delegated to the Section 151 Officer to approve 
capital expenditure (subject to financial appraisal, in accordance with 
Financial Procedure Rule 7.4) of up to £12m to purchase up to 30 
properties between 2026/27 and 2029/30 using the approved HRA 
unallocated new build budget, to be part-financed by LAHF grant with 
any balance via prudential borrowing.  

c. The Corporate Head – Asset Management and the Strategic 
Director with responsibility for Housing be authorised to purchase up to 
30 properties. (Paragraphs 11.74-11.78 of the report). 

   
11. That the average rent increase for 2026/27 for all affordable, 

Shared Ownership and social housing of 4.8% be approved, based on 
the September 2024 CPI figure of 3.8% +1% (Paragraphs 11.6-11.8 of the 
report). 

  
12. That amendments to HRA tenant service charges in 2026/27 

be approved to reflect cost recovery based on 2024/25 actual costs (see 
paragraphs 11.41 to 11.45 of the report). 

 
13. That it be noted that the draft HRA Business 30-year Plan is 

viable and sustainable and has the capacity to support the delivery of 
1,000 new affordable homes. 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

CAB3540 - REVISED 
CABINET 

 
 
 

REPORT TITLE: HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUDGET 2026/27 
 
12 FEBRUARY 2026 

REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER: CLLR MARK REACH  - CABINET MEMBER FOR 
GOOD HOMES  

Contact Officer:  Liz Keys    Tel No: 01962 848226 Email lkeys@winchester.gov.uk  

WARD(S):  ALL 
 
 

 

 
PURPOSE 

This report requests approval for the proposed HRA revenue and capital budgets for 

2026/27, and the 10 year indicative capital programme to 2035/36, as detailed in 

Appendices 1 to 4 and taking account of the funding shown in Appendix 5. 

Despite the continuing budget challenges outlined in the Budget Options report in 

November 2025, and further pressures arising since the November report, this report 

proposes a budget for 2026/27 and business plan to achieve the Council’s policy 

objectives to go greener faster, to support healthy communities and maintain the 

commitment to deliver 1000 new homes. Funding to go greener faster has been 

maintained and the changed new homes strategy to move towards buying as well as 

building is already seeing increased numbers of new homes for the council. The 

balanced budget has been achieved by identifying approximately £1.1m of savings in 

2026/27 with minimal impact on service delivery. 

Energy costs remain significantly higher than historic levels and continue to impact 

on many of the most vulnerable residents in our homes. To mitigate the additional 

energy costs for residents; to improve energy efficiency ratings; and to promote de-

carbonisation of our council homes, the business plan retains the significant 

investment in retrofitting the stock, and, subject to award of grant funding, proposes 

introducing technology-based measures for properties that cannot achieve EPC-C 

ratings by economic fabric measures.  

The report proposes a 4.8% increase in rents, based on September CPI of 3.8% plus 
1%. No additional increase for rent convergence is currently proposed as, at the time 
of writing the report, no announcement from government had been made and 

Page 21



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

therefore insufficient time to properly consult and implement such a change for 
2026/27 and will therefore be considered for 2027/28. 

The HRA Budget remains sustainable and viable over the 30-year period whilst the 
Council adds to the housing stock through new build or acquisition and continues to 
invest in the existing stock. 

The timetable for local government reorganisation means that the council is 
expected to become part of a unitary council from 1 April 2028. Therefore, forecast 
capital expenditure beyond that date only includes projects to which the council will 
be contractually committed as well as estimated future capital works to the housing 
stock beyond the transition. Also included are the council’s forecast housing new 
build programme, and commitment to achieving EPC-C ratings on all properties by 
2030/31. Similarly, the HRA Business Plan continues to show the expected revenue 
income and expenditure for managing the housing stock beyond the transition date. 
However, decisions relating to the HRA after April 2028, unless contractually 
committed, will be the decisions of the new unitary authority. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That Cabinet recommend that Council:- 

1. Note the HRA Financial Plan operating account, including annual working 

balances, as detailed in Appendix 6. 

2. Approve the 2026/27 Housing Revenue Account budget as detailed in 

Appendices 1 and 2 to this report.   

3. Approve the proposed capital programme for maintenance, improvements 

and renewals totalling £162.7m.  

4. Approve capital expenditure and delegate to the Strategic Director with 

responsibility for housing authority to enter into necessary contracts for the 

2026/27 capital programme of £22.8m, as detailed in Appendix 3 of the report 

in accordance with Financial Procedure Rule 7.4. 

5. Approve a change in approach to delivery of retrofit installation of solar panels 

and batteries to achieve best value for money following the decision by the 

Department for Energy Security and Net Zero to withhold Social Housing 

Decarbonisation Fund grant on battery installations, as outlined at para 11.56 

to 11.63. 

6. Approve the proposed 10 year capital programme for new homes totalling 

£202.8m, and expenditure of £21.8m in 2026/27, as detailed in appendix 4 of 

the report in accordance with Financial Procedure Rule 7.4,   

Page 22



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

7. Approve the financing of the HRA Capital Programme as detailed in Appendix 

5, (noting the planned repayment of borrowing following the 1000 homes 

programme).  

8. Approve the revenue savings target of £1.13m at appendix 7, which was 

outlined to Cabinet in November 2025 (CAB3523) and includes additional 

savings as outlined at para 11.32-11.38. 

9. Authorise the Section 151 Officer, in consultation with the Strategic Director 

with responsibility for Housing to approve buybacks of individual former HRA 

properties sold under the Right to Buy during 2026/27, following positive 

financial appraisal, utilising the unallocated New Homes budget (see para 

11.26). 

10. Subject to the acceptance of the expression of interest to the Local Authority 

Housing Fund (LAHF) round 4: 

a. Authorise the Strategic Director with responsibility for Housing to enter 

into a revised Memorandum of Understanding with Ministry of Housing, 

Communities & Local Government to secure additional LAHF funding. 

b. Delegate authority to the Section 151 Officer to approve capital 

expenditure (subject to financial appraisal, in accordance with Financial 

Procedure Rule 7.4) of up to £12m to purchase up to 30 properties 

between 2026/27 and 2029/30 using the approved HRA unallocated 

new build budget, to be part-financed by LAHF grant with any balance 

via prudential borrowing.  

c. Authorise the Corporate Head – Asset Management and the Strategic 

Director with responsibility for Housing to purchase up to 30 properties. 

(Para 11.74-11.78)   

11. Approve the average rent increase for 2026/27 for all affordable, Shared 

Ownership and social housing of 4.8% based on the September 2024 CPI 

figure of 3.8% +1% (Para 11.6-11.8).  

12. Approve amendments to HRA tenant service charges in 2026/27 to reflect 

cost recovery based on 2024/25 actual costs (see para 11.41 to 11.45).   

13. Note that the draft HRA Business 30-year Plan is viable and sustainable and 

has the capacity to support the delivery of 1,000 new affordable homes. 

 

 

Page 23



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

IMPLICATIONS: 
 
1 COUNCIL PLAN OUTCOME  

1.1 Greener Faster 

Carbon reduction measures are in place through investment of over £40m in 
the existing stock, ensuring that all properties meet EPC-C or above by 2031; 
that energy efficiency measures are incorporated in the design and 
construction of new build properties; and that energy efficiency is a key 
criteria when considering acquisitions of new properties. 

1.2 Thriving Places 

Delivering affordable accommodation allows people to live and work within the 
district and contribute to the local economy.  

1.3 Healthy Communities 

The wellbeing of residents is considered within the design of new properties 
and new homes are designed to be energy efficient and to ensure needs of 
residents are met. Tenant satisfaction measures are in place and regularly 
monitored. 

1.4 Good Homes for All 

The HRA business plan, and its links with the Housing Development Strategy 
aims to increase the stock of affordable homes across the Winchester district, 
meeting the council’s objective to provide a range of tenures to meet demand. 

1.5 Efficient and Effective 

One of the key objectives of the Housing Strategy is to modernise the 
customer service offer through the development of a digital first customer 
journey, improving communication and self-service options for 
tenants/residents, and efficiency of services. 

1.6 Listening and Learning 

Housing tenants are directly involved in decisions regarding services 
provided, through the work of Tenants and Council Together (TACT), the 
councils tenant involvement group and through regular tenant and leaseholder 
digital surveys, capturing wider tenant views. The service continues to review 
options to provide improved customer experience, better engagement and 
increased satisfaction with services provided. 

2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

2.1 Financial implications are fully detailed in section 11 of the report and 
accompanying appendices. 

Page 24



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

3 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS  

3.1 Under Part VI of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, any local 
authority that owns housing stock is obliged to maintain a Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA). The HRA is a record of revenue expenditure and income in 
relation to an authority’s own housing stock. The items to be credited and 
debited to the HRA are prescribed by statute. It is a ring-fenced account within 
the authority’s General Fund, which means that local authorities have no 
general discretion to transfer sums into or out of the HRA. 

3.2 The Council is required to prepare proposals each year relating to the income 
from rents and other charges, expenditure in respect of repair, maintenance, 
supervision and management of HRA property and other prescribed matters. 
The proposals should be made on the best assumptions and estimates 
available and designed to demonstrate that the housing revenue account is 
sustainable. The report sets out information relevant to these considerations. 

3.3 Section 76 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 places a duty on 
local housing authorities: (a) to produce, and make available for public 
inspection, an annual budget for their HRA which avoids a deficit; (b) to 
review and if necessary, revise that budget from time to time and (c) to take 
all reasonably practicable steps to avoid an end-of-year deficit. 

4 WORKFORCE IMPLICATIONS  

4.1 As part of additional savings proposals being brought forward, a vacancy 
management target of 2% is being introduced to the HRA. This will require 
careful management to achieve with minimal impact on services, as it may 
impact on, for example, ability to engage interim resources. Some minor 
changes to the existing establishment are also noted which are intended to 
make better use of resources while providing a small saving to the HRA. 
Other than this, there are no proposed changes to the staffing establishment 
proposed within this report. 

5 PROPERTY AND ASSET IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 To meet one of the key principles of the council plan, the HRA is required to 
provide sufficient financial resources to both maintain existing stock to decent 
homes standard and to enable new affordable housing to be obtained to help 
meet local demands.  

6 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION  

6.1 To date, three meetings have taken place with TACT members to explain the 
challenges the HRA is facing including a meeting held on 4th February which 
is after the dispatch date of this report to Scrutiny Committee. Relevant 
outcomes from this meeting will be provided verbally. TACT members were 
consulted on options to address these pressures which assisted with the 
formulation of the savings plan. The TACT Board meeting in November also 
covered the proposed rent increase of 4.8%. 

Page 25



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

6.2 In addition, a consultation paper was circulated to over 4,000 tenants and 
leaseholders to seek views on how the HRA should prioritise expenditure, and 
the proposed measures to address cost pressures. The survey was 
advertised and drop-in sessions were held in sheltered housing schemes and 
city offices to assist tenants. A total of 291 responses were received, a 
significant improvement on the response rate in 2025/26 (13 responses).  

6.3 The results of the survey demonstrated that tenants were generally in favour 
of most of the savings identified in the Options report. A small number of 
savings, in particular those relating to sewerage charges and cost recovery, 
demonstrated that approximately half of respondents were in favour and 
approximately half disagreed. Tenants were also asked for their ideas on 
potential future savings, to which there were a number of responses which will 
be considered in more detail in 2026/27. 

 
7 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 

7.1 This year’s 30-year business plan maintains significant resources to fund the 
retrofit programme of works. As of December 2025, 71% of the housing stock 
is EPC C and above. A further 125 properties (2.5% of the stock) are 
expected to be upgraded to an EPC C by 31st March 2026. 280 properties in 
2026/27 and 378 in 2027/28 are expected to be upgraded, meaning that at 
least 87% of stock will meet EPC-C or above by March 2028. This forecast is 
based on a review of retrofit delivery and a proposed change in the way in 
which Retrofit will be delivered (paragraph 11.57 to 11.62 refers).   

7.2 The Business Plan also funds the provision of retrofit officers responsible for 
the delivery of the retrofit programme to drive this increased programme. 

7.3 The Housing Service considers environmental factors when preparing and 
developing major projects e.g., working closely with Planning and Landscape 
Officers when considering new build developments to meet the required 
codes for sustainable housing. 

 
8 PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY  

8.1 This document is part of the budget consultation process, and the public 
sector equality duty is considered alongside any relevant budget options. The 
housing service holds data in respect of its tenants’ protected characteristics. 
Whilst there is no evidence to suggest the budget proposals and services 
within it would adversely affect those with protected characteristics, it is 
recognised that some tenant households will be impacted differently by the 
same budget objectives and associated services. 

8.2 The 2026/27 budget’s operational decisions being presented in this paper 
include investment in maintaining decent homes and increasing the supply of 
affordable housing designed to have a positive impact on customers.  Other 
options designed to have a positive impact on customers include investment 

Page 26



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

in energy efficiency that will benefit those tenants with high energy costs, and 
fire safety improvements which will improve the safety of residents in blocks in 
the event of a fire. 

 
9 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

9.1 All proposals set out in this report and the Capital Programme will be subject 
to individual data protection impact assessments where required. 

 
10 RISK MANAGEMENT  

 
 

Risk  Mitigation Opportunities 

Financial Exposure 

 

Risks, mitigation, and 

opportunities are 

managed through regular 

project monitoring 

meetings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Insufficient new build 

sites are identified to 

assign RTB 1-4-1 receipts 

financing to and RTB 

receipts are required to 

be repaid to Central 

Government with a 

compounded interest 

penalty based on current 

rates. 

 

 

  

 

 

New build Schemes are 

financially evaluated and 

must pass financial 

hurdles and demonstrate 

VFM. Total Scheme 

Costs contain provision 

for contingency on build 

costs and on fees for new 

build developments that 

take account of potential 

residual development and 

sales risk.  

 

RTB 1-4-1 are closely 

monitored so in-year 

targets for new builds are 

known. 

 

 

The HRA holds annual 

minimum levels of 

reserves based upon 

operating turnover and 

capital programme spend.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Government introduced 

measures during 2025 to 

improve flexibility in the 

use of RTB receipts, and 

proposed changes to the 

scheme which minimise 

this risk. 

Exposure to challenge 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

The provision of social 

housing is a statutory 

requirement. Changing 

Government priorities 

place a greater emphasis 

on social housing which 

must be monitored and 

considered both for 

existing stock and also 

within planning of future 

new build projects 

Government statutory 

requirements and policy 

changes are being 

monitored to identify any 

new risks or opportunities 

that they may bring. 

To create new housing 

developments within new 

guidelines and drawing on 

innovative thinking. 

 

To take advantage of new 

legislative requirements to 

improve service delivery 

Reputation 

 

Failure to put resources in 

place to meet minimum 

requirements within the 

legislative framework; 

failure to provide resource 

for new legislative 

requirements will 

adversely impact 

reputation  

 

Failure to complete major 

housing projects due to 

lack of resources would 

have a direct impact on 

both customer 

satisfaction and the 

Council’s reputation. 

 

 

Business planning tools 

with regular updates are 

utilised to make sure 

resources are available to 

complete projects. 

Budgeting for the HRA is 

closely linked to service 

planning and all service 

heads are involved in the 

budget setting process. 

Regular monitoring 

against budgets ensures 

new issues are picked up 

early. 

 

Property 

 

That Council owned 

dwellings fail to meet 

decent home standards 

That more robust 

standards are introduced 

but not effectively 

implemented 

 

 

An effective programme 

of future works and sound 

financial planning ensures 

that resources are 

available to ensure 

standards are met and 

then maintained. A full 

stock condition survey is 

being undertaken to 

ensure a full 

understanding of the 

stock and to inform future 

works and business plans 

That repairs staff are 

 

 

Self-Financing provides 

certainty around future 

resource allocations and 

facilitates better supply 

chain management 

Page 28



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

adequately qualified to 

ensure legislation is 

understood and planned 

in. 

 

 

 

Community Support 

 

Lack of consultation will 

affect tenant satisfaction 

and cause objections to 

planning applications for 

new build developments. 

 

 

Regular communication and 

consultation are maintained 

with tenants and 

leaseholders on a variety of 

housing issues. The Council 

consults with local residents 

and stakeholders on 

proposed new build 

schemes. 

 

 

Positive consultation 

brings forward alternative 

options that may 

otherwise not have been 

considered. 

Timescales 

 

Delays to new build  

contracts may result in  

increased costs and lost  

revenue. 

 

 

New build contracts 

contain clauses to allow 

the Council to recover 

damages if the project is 

delayed due to contractor 

actions. 

 

Project capacity 

 

The HRA can borrow 

funds in addition to 

utilising external receipts 

and reserves, but it must 

be able to service the 

loan interest arising 

 

 

Regular monitoring of 

budgets and business 

plans, together with the 

use of financial 

assessment tools enables 

the Council to manage 

resources effectively. 

 

 

The Council inputs and 

monitors government 

consultation on the use of 

RTB receipts and 

potential capital grant 

funding. 

Local Government 

Reorganisation 

 

The impact of local 

government 

reorganisation on the 

HRA specifically is not yet 

known. However, there is 

a risk that decision 

making beyond 

September 2026 may be 

delayed if authorisations 

 

 

 

Capacity exists in the 

Business Plan working 

balance to ensure 

planning for transition of 

the HRA to a new 

authority is resourced, 

and consideration will be 

given to the resource 

 

 

 

Being part of a larger 

unitary authority may 

present new opportunities 

such as additional 

potential sites for new 

build housing projects. 

Page 29



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

are required from 

Secretary of State and/or 

the new organisation. 

 

requirement during 

2025/26. 

Other   

 
 
11 SUPPORTING INFORMATION: 

11.1 The HRA Business Plan and budget options report 2026/27 provides the 
background to the 2026/27 HRA budget. This report was reviewed by Scrutiny 
on 13 November 2025 and subsequently approved by the Cabinet at its 
meeting on 19 November 2025. TACT representatives were briefed and 
invited to comment at both committees. The paragraphs below summarise the 
content of that report, progress and other issues to raise since that date. 

Economic Outlook: 

11.2 At the beginning of 2025, CPI inflation had reduced to 2.8%, and 
subsequently increased over the course of the year, to 3.8% in September 
2025, largely driven by food and energy prices, before easing back to 3.2% in 
November 2025. This is in line with Bank of England expectation that the 
increase in inflation during 2025 was temporary and, in the medium term, will 
fall back to the target rate of 2%. Construction industry BCIS inflation during 
2025 has been relatively stable at 2.3% as at Quarter 2 2025 
 
 

11.3 Bank of England base rate at the beginning of the year was 4.25%, and over 
the course of the year has fallen back to 3.75% as at December 2025.   
Although further base rate reductions are possible, it is unlikely that interest 
rates will be as low as they were prior to 2021. Borrowing costs are not 
determined by the base rate, but by the yield on gilts, which are influenced by 
government policy decisions and other economic factors. Despite the base 
rate reductions, the cost of PWLB borrowing has remained well above 5% 
since the Summer. The preferential rate for HRA borrowing is to be extended 
to 31st March 2027. The Government has committed as part of its spending 
review to making available low interest loans for housebuilding and this will be 
considered when more detail becomes available. 

11.4 The investment required for new homes remained high during 2025/26. 
Ongoing development of business cases for new build, particularly for 
complex sites, demonstrated construction costs, excluding overheads, of up 
to £5,500 per square metre for complex sites, making the cost of construction 
(excluding land) for an average 90sqm 3-bedroom property between 
£450,000 and £500,000. At the same time the cost of borrowing that the 
council can access remains high, whilst new affordable rents have increased 
only in line with inflation plus 1% in recent years. 
 

Page 30



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

11.5 The economic outlook causes the annual HRA Business planning process to 
remain challenging.   
 

Rent Increases 

11.6 The council sets its rents in line with the Rent Standard and the Regulator of 
Social Housing’s rent setting guidelines. The basis of rent setting is 
September CPI+1% for 2026/27, a 4.8% rent increase for all tenants as 
outlined in CAB3523.  
 

11.7 Rent setting policy, specifically for convergence of social rents to address the 
disparity between formula rents and actual social rents was consulted on by 
the government during summer 2025. An announcement was initially due in 
the November budget however this was delayed to January 2026. The 
government have now announced that registered providers will be able to 
increase weekly rents for Social Rent properties below formula by up to an 
additional £1 on weekly rents each year over and above CPI+1% from 1 April 
2027, and by up to an additional £2  on weekly rents each year over and 
above CPI+1% from 1 April 2028, until formula rent is reached. Convergence 
will therefore be addressed as part of the business planning process for 
2027/28.  
 
Table 1- indicative weekly rents in 2026/27 compared to 2025/26 for existing 
tenants. 

 

11.8 The average HRA social rent for new tenancies from April 2026 will reflect the 
fact that new rents will converge to the current formula rent. The current policy 
for new affordable rent tenants will be let provisionally at 80% of market rent 
only if the property meets the required minimum energy efficiency 
requirements.  

Table 2 – Average Weekly rents for new social lets 

 

 

Repairs and maintenance 

Social Rents

Size Bedsit Bedroom 1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom 5 Bedroom 6Total

Avge Wkly Rent 2025-26 91.34 111.16 127.77 144.33 155.23 188.09 176.1 127.14

Avge Wkly Rent 2026-27 95.91 116.73 134.09 151.36 162.82 197.11 184.55 133.43

increase per week @ 4.8% 5.00% 5.01% 4.95% 4.87% 4.89% 4.80% 4.80% 4.95%

Affordable Rents

Size Bedsit Bedroom 1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom 5 Bedroom 6Total

Avge Wkly Rent 2025-26 162.71 199.69 235.94 266.84 259.08 254.6 200

Avge Wkly Rent 2026-27 171.6 210.21 248.57 279.91 271.51 266.82 210.66

increase per week @ 4.8% 5.46% 5.27% 5.35% 4.90% 4.80% 4.80% 5.33%

Size Bedsit Bedroom 1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom 5 Bedroom 6 Total

Avge Wkly Rent 2025-26 98.23 116.24 133.94 151.53 165.11 187.32 182.65 133.39

Avge Wkly Rent 2026-27 102.94 121.82 140.35 158.79 173.04 201.39 191.41 139.756748

increase per week @ 4.8% 4.79% 4.80% 4.79% 4.79% 4.80% 7.51% 4.80% 4.77%

Page 31



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

11.9 The capital programme makes provision for major repairs and refurbishment 
of the existing housing stock to decent homes standard.  Investment is based 
on an asset management plan and the information recorded in the council’s 
property management database.  The database records the expected lifecycle 
replacement costs of key components and expected works to meet energy 
efficiency standards. This informs the detailed Capital Programme for 
2025/26; the likely investment requirements for the following 5 years; and 
ultimately over the thirty-year plan. A full stock condition survey is underway, 
and the outputs of this survey will be available in mid-2026, and will inform the 
2027/28 budget setting process. 
 

11.10 In addition to planned major repairs, reactive repairs and void refurbishment 
costs are budgeted for as a revenue expense. Challenges associated with 
repairs and maintenance were outlined in detail in the budget options report 
CAB3523, but in summary arise from the procurement of the repairs contract 
in 2026 and changes to the regulatory environment.  
 

11.11 To bring the housing stock up to the required energy efficiency standard of 
EPC C identified by 2030-31, investment of £45m was previously built into the 
business plan, of which £41.8m remains within the capital programme.  
 

 
Interest on borrowing 

11.12 Interest rates are a key cost driver in the HRA business plan and, as at 31 
March 2025, the HRA’s Capital Financing Requirement (unfinanced prior 
spend) was £212.6m, of which £154.5m is external debt, fixed at PWLB 
interest rates averaging 3.2%, and the balance of £58.1m is internally 
borrowed (offset against reserve balances and working capital). PWLB rates 
are not directly linked to the Bank of England base rate but are set at a margin 
over government gilt yields, which continue to remain higher than the period 
of historically low rates since 2008. The current cost of financing external debt 
is £5.2m per annum, and internal borrowing estimated at £2.8m in 2025/26.  
 

11.13 This debt came about through self-financing arrangements for the HRA 
introduced in 2012. A proportion of this existing debt, £85m, will need to be 
refinanced between now and 2042, of which £35m falls within the next 5 
years. The HRA, unlike the General Fund, has no requirement to set aside 
funding for debt repayment. However, the HRA contributes to the Capital 
programme each year through the Major Repairs Allowance.  

 
11.14 In addition to existing debt, the proposed plan includes provision to meet the 

Council’s objective of delivering 1000 homes by 2031/32, a significant 
proportion of which will be funded by prudential borrowing. The HRA business 
plan currently assumes contributions will be made to the repayment of debt 
associated with 1000 homes programme following completion in 2031/32, to 
demonstrate that the additional new build is affordable to the HRA in the long 
term. 

Page 32



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

11.15  The cost of long-term government borrowing has softened slightly since the 
compilation of the Options paper in November, with a reduction in the Bank of 
England base rate to 3.75% on 18th December. At the time of writing, PWLB 
rates varied between 4.75% for 5 year borrowing and 6.1% for 50 year 
borrowing. As a result, the long term cost of borrowing assumption has 
reduced from 6% to 5.75%. However, the cost of borrowing remains elevated 
when compared to the previous ten years and remains a key risk to the HRA. 
The table below demonstrates the impact of an increase or decrease in the 
borrowing rates on the working balance. 

 

 

11.16 The current discount of 0.2% on HRA borrowing expires on 31st March 2026, 
and government have confirmed it will be extended to 31st March 2027. The 
current assumption for the average cost of borrowing over the life of the 
business plan at 5.75% is therefore considered prudent.   

Digitisation and Customer Journey 

11.17 One of the key objectives of the Housing Strategy is to modernise the 
customer service offer through the development of a digital first customer 
journey. There is a need to modernise the provision of services to customers 
through the introduction of better digital access. Over the last 2 years a total 
of £1.6m has been made available in the business plan to resource the 
repairs procurement contract, and to ensure resources are available to 
facilitate investment in systems to enable this objective to be achieved.,  
 

11.18 Following feasibility works, the proposal is to invest in the existing MRI 
software to move to a cloud hosted solution, and to implement additional 
modules for reporting (Agora), Customer Central, which is a purpose built 
Customer Relations Management system to better manage customer data, 
Safer Communities for more effective management and reporting of Anti-
Social Behaviour and Domestic Abuse, and Service Charging, to better collate 
cost data and ensure greater accuracy and transparency in setting service 
charges.  The anticipated ongoing additional cost is £0.16m, which has been 
built into the budget and ongoing in the business plan. Although there is an 
ongoing cost, there will be associated savings of £0.11m as the existing 
Keystone system and IMS reporting systems will no longer be required added 
to the business plan. This is reflected in the savings table at appendix 7.   
 

11.19 In addition to the system investment, there will be a corresponding 
requirement for internal resource to assist with data migration, training, project 
management and other related costs. The expected cost of this resource is 
£0.15m, to be funded from the one-off investment budget of £2m agreed in 
the 2023/24 business plan.  

2026.27 2027.28 2028.29 2029.30 2030.31

Deficit / surplus 6% borrowing -3,589,563 -2,069,087 -1,339,234 -1,304,474 -328,048

Deficit / surplus 5.75% borrowing -3,526,694 -1,920,814 -1,116,871 -1,002,922 -219,106

Deficit / surplus 5.5% borrowing -3,469,886 -1,778,793 -900,963 -708,035 197,270

Deficit / surplus 5.25% borrowing -3,410,047 -1,633,646 -681,827 -409,815 617,087

Page 33



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

 
 

11.20 In addition, work on the re-procurement of the repairs and maintenance 
contract is ongoing as the current contract expires in 2026 and is subject to a 
separate report (CAB3473). The business plan allows for associated costs of 
£0.3m for mobilising the contract following expected award in early 2026/27.  
 

11.21 The remaining balance of the £2m one-off investment fund agreed in 2023/24, 
after accounting for the above commitments, is £0.25m.  

Rising Costs of New Build Housing 

11.22 The cost of building new homes remains high and, while the pace of inflation 
has now slowed, this doesn’t mean that costs have gone down; merely that 
the pace of increases has slowed. At the same time, the cost of borrowing 
remains high.  
 

11.23 Under the self-financing regime, prior to the escalation in construction cost 
and when interest rates were low and stable, and construction costs more 
affordable, it was possible to construct or acquire properties financed through 
rents. However, this is no longer possible without heavy subsidy from Right to 
Buy receipts, s106 affordable housing contributions or government grants, 
and ultimately, once these funding streams are exhausted, it will fall to wider 
rent payers to subsidise new build. It is therefore important that proposed new 
build projects are affordable to the HRA.  
 

11.24 The primary financial assessment in the evaluation of new homes is a Net 
Present Value (NPV) calculation of all future income and expenditure over a 
35-year period, discounted to current prices. This calculation uses the current 
cost of capital as the discount factor. In addition, the council’s standard model 
includes the residual social value of the housing at the end of the business 
plan period on the basis that the asset has been well maintained and has a 
future use and value. There are other criteria such as gross income covering 
the cost of borrowing, but the NPV calculation is the key criteria. If it is positive 
then the scheme or development is worth undertaking as it adds value, if 
negative then it requires additional subsidy from within the HRA over and 
above external grant funding or available capital receipts. 
 

11.25 Given the expected long term reduction in Right to Buy sales, the business 
plan forecasts the level of borrowing increasing in the medium term. The 
changes to RTB and retention of more stock, combined with the extension of 
CPI+1% rent policy gives more capacity within the business plan to borrow.  
 

11.26 The following principles are therefore considered for future viability modelling, 
and further work to explore this will take place alongside the existing 
modelling in 2025/26 while more experience of the new regime is gained and 
understood:  
  

1) Application of RTB or other subsidy to the point where viability is 
achieved, and prioritisation of the use of potentially fewer RTB receipts, 

Page 34



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

2) Modelling at Social rent in line with the Housing Development Strategy; 
but where this is detrimental to the HRA, that affordable rent level at the 
greater of LHA rates or 70% market rents or, where relevant energy 
efficiency criteria are met, to a maximum of 80% market rent.   

3) That the output of the appraisals are modelled within an updated 
business plan prior to approval, and that where borrowing is required, the 
project can contribute to the future repayment of debt as well as the 
interest cost 

4) Confirmation that the HRA can support the level of subsidy from the HRA 
required by specific projects after all other available sources of finance 
are applied, and where the repayment of debt cannot be financed from 
additional rent alone.    

11.27 Since 2024/25, the Council has been placing a greater emphasis upon 
acquiring s106 affordable housing. This has proved successful, with a number 
of acquisitions agreed in 2024/25 and reflected in the capital programme 
between 2025/26 and 2027/28. The indicative capital programme includes 
unallocated budget for developments for which business cases are currently 
being developed, and in addition, assumed costs for both potential 
acquisitions and new build properties for which business cases have not yet 
commenced. 
 

11.28 As part of the acquisition strategy, the Council has the option to buy back 
former Council Houses previously disposed of through Right to Buy. An 
internal process has been developed to assess the relative housing need, 
strategic fit and financial viability of potential buybacks. Since 2024/25, two 
buybacks have been completed and specific budget for two further purchases 
remains. Further buybacks, subject to meeting criteria for strategic fit, housing 
need and financial viability, can be funded from the unallocated New Homes 
budget.     
 

11.29 In the 2025/26 HRA budget report, authority was delegated to the S151 
Officer, in consultation with the Strategic Director with responsibility for 
Housing, to ensure the council can make timely decisions where the process 
for acquiring buybacks is time constrained, with decisions required within a 
set timescale. It is proposed to maintain that delegation in 2026/27.   
 

11.30 Although there are sufficient projects in the capital programme between 
2025/26 and 2027/28 to ensure retained Right to Buy 141 receipts are fully 
utilised, there will still be a need to successfully apply the retained RTB 1-4-1 
receipts that will be generated in the future. There are restrictions on how 
RTB 1-4-1 receipts can be applied, however restrictions are now significantly 
less than in previous years and were outlined in detail in the Options report in 
November. 
 

11.31 The HRA business plan has capacity to fund delivery of the 1,000 homes 
programme by 2032/33. Consideration will be given to the future delivery of 
new homes beyond 2032 in the 2026/27 business plan, but the model 

Page 35



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

currently demonstrates that all new borrowing associated with the 1000 
homes programme is affordable, and that debt repayment associated with 
new build and the proposed capital programme can be made over the life of 
the plan.  
 
 
 
 

HRA Savings requirement - cost pressures and savings targets 
 

11.32 The budget options report presented to Cabinet in November 2025 (CAB 
3523) detailed significant cost pressures within the HRA, particularly for 
repairs and maintenance. At that time, a savings requirement of £1m was 
identified. 
 

11.33 In addition to the cost pressures identified in the Options report, additional 
investment requirements in the MRI system, including a specific module for 
Service Charging to improve accuracy and transparency in setting service 
charges, and the Agora reporting module, have been built into the business 
plan and budget. 
 

11.34 No further significant cost pressures have been identified since November.  
 

11.35 One of the key savings proposed in the November options report (CAB3523) 
concerned rent convergence, for which an announcement was expected in 
the November budget. However, this has been postponed to January 2026, 
which means it will be too late to properly consult and implement for 2026/27. 
This has therefore been removed from the proposed business plan savings 
for 2026/27 for consideration for the 2027/28 budget instead. However, this 
has meant that further savings were also required to compensate for this. 
 

11.36 Some of these savings (£0.45m) have been achieved through changes to 
assumptions, particularly reducing the assumed cost of borrowing following 
the base rate reduction in December 2025, and reprofiling of the capital 
programme following review of the retrofit SHF programme (paras 11.57 to 
11.62 refers).  
 

11.37 In addition to assumption changes, a number of additional budget savings 
totalling £0.35m have also been identified, outlined and explained at appendix 
7. The most significant is the introduction of a vacancy management target of 
£0.1m, based on vacancy rates experienced over the preceding years. 
Achievement of this target will require careful monitoring of vacant posts and 
a restriction on the use of agency staff funded from vacant posts. These 
additional savings to be discussed with TACT board in February and expected 
to have minimal impact on services provided.  

 
 

Page 36



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

11.38 The identified savings were consulted on more widely, through a tenant 
survey and TACT board. It is critical that these savings are achieved, as 
failure to do so will reduce borrowing headroom and would result in significant 
cuts to the capital programme. Progress against achieving savings will be 
monitored through the course of 2026/27, and further proposals explored if 
the current proposals are not delivered. 

Asset disposals 
 

11.39 The business plan includes proceeds of disposals to date in 2025/26. These 
disposals relate to the disposal of Barnes House in December 2025, and the 
expected disposal of Cornerhouse expected by March 2026. The disposals of 
these sites have provided valuable capital receipts to support the HRA, with a 
consequent reduction in borrowing cost.  
 

11.40 The business plan assumes that the HRA will identify and dispose of £2.5m of 
surplus social housing assets over the next six years, an average of £0.5m 
per annum.  These assets will be identified by looking at their long-term fit in 
terms of demand/cost to maintain and suitability to retro fit to required 
standards. 
 
Service charges 
 

11.41 The HRA has been moving towards cost recovery since the principle was 
agreed in the 2024/25 budget setting process, and charges were set in 
2025/26 to reflect cost recovery unless this would result in excessive 
increases, for which a 5%/£5 cap was applied.    
 

11.42 Cost recovery take place on an arrears basis, where the charges in the 
current year will be based on the prior year cost, unless there are exceptional 
circumstances. The table below summarises the current costs of providing 
services, compared with the current income recovery through the proposed 
service charges.  
 

Page 37



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

11.43 The table demonstrates that the proposed service charges for 2026/27 
recover the costs incurred in 24/25 (the last full year for which costs are 
available). The average proposed charge across all chargeable properties for 
each charge category is provided in the table above.   
 

11.44 It is recognised that a move to full cost recovery could result in an excessive 
increase between years. However, there are no significant increases at an 
individual property level and some charges will reduce where costs have 
reduced, or where over-recovery would otherwise have resulted.   
 

11.45 The table above also demonstrates the level of income receivable from 
leaseholders where applicable. 
 
 
 
 
 

Cost Catergory Explanation of charge
No. of 

Properties

Proposed 

average 

charges pw

actual cost 

incurred 24/25

Leasehold 

income 

2026/27

Tenants/Shared 

Ownership 

income 2026/27

Total Income 

2026/27

Alarm charge
Service, Maintenance and callouts for telecare 

alarms
810 £0.94 £39,565 £0 £39,593 £39,593

Grounds Maintenance
Contribution to grass cutting and grounds 

maintenance in communal areas
1605 £0.91 £78,941 £3,431 £76,159 £79,591

Water Charges

Water supply charge for general needs communal 

kitchens; water utility costs for sheltered housing 

and temporary accomodation

322 £4.31 £70,533 £0 £72,093 £72,093

Cleaning

Cleaning costs for communal areas across General 

Needs, Temporary accommodation and Sheltered 

Housing

1560 £1.67 £156,699 £19,414 £135,734 £155,148

Utilities
Electricity and gas for communal areas in sheltered 

housing and temporary accommodation
1655 £3.20 £290,270.30 £12,772 £275,005.87 £287,777

Estate Visits Charges for planned inspections of blocks 1554 £1.61 £161,335.32 £20,598 £138,677.39 £159,276

Sheltered Charges Management charges for sheltered and extra care 459 £8.10 £208,498.00 0.00 £208,907.29 £208,907

Furniture, Fittings etc.
For new and replacement furniture in sheltered and 

temporary accommodation
537 £1.19 £34,923 £0 £33,109 £33,109

Contracts

Servicing and repair contracts for communal 

amenities such as appliances, bin chutes, doors, 

lifts, gutters etc

1006 £2.65 £140,000 £27 £138,477 £138,503

Heating
Heating charges for Eastacre, Milford, Whitewing 

and Matilda houses
143 £5.48 £38,615 £0 £40,731 £40,731

Fire safety
For fire risk assessments, fire extinguishers in 

specific blocks
382 £1.38 £28,000 £0 £27,353 £27,353

TA Charges Management charges for temporary accommodation 79 £18.61 £74,061 £0 £76,440 £76,440

Walpole Road service charges Council Tax charges for Walpole Road properties 2 £9.07 £943 £0 £943 £943

WHT for pump
For services provided by Winchester Housing Trust 

at Barron Close
4 £14.18 £3,686 £0 £2,949 £2,949

Affordable service charges
Grounds Maintenance and management charges for 

affordable rented properties
82 £5.70 £24,288 £0 £24,288 £24,288

Affordable pump charges

Contribution to running costs of pumps at Kiln 

Cottage and Symonds close, properties with 

basement water storage where pump is used to 

circulate water within the properties

14 £7.86 £5,727 £0 £5,725 £5,725

Council tax
Charge for Council Tax pn specific Temporary 

Accommodation sites
39 £5.04 £11,128 £0 £10,228 £10,228

Average Insurance
Service charge for average insurance costs on 

shared ownership properties
119 £2.62 £38,092 £30,166 £16,209 £46,375

Management Fee
Charge for management costs associated with 

shared ownership properties
71 £1.72 £73,753 £59,033 £6,342 £65,375

Pump

Contribution to running costs of pumps for social rent 

properties with basement water storage where 

pump is used to circulate water within the properties

69 £1.05 £3,778 £0 £3,778 £3,778

Catering Costs
Servce charge to leaseholders and shared owners 

for catering provision at Chesil Lodge
8 £43.76 £18,204 £0 £18,204 £18,204

Kitchen Equipment
Service charge for maintaining and replacing kitchen 

equipment at Chesil Lodge
8 £0.11 £308 £0 £47 £47

Evinox Heating and hot water provision at Chesil Lodge 8 £1.86 £719 £0 £774 £774

Page 38



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

Housing Revenue Account Budget 2025/26 
 

11.46 Details of the proposed budgets are shown in Appendices 1 and 2 and the 
larger item adjustments highlighted in the subjective summary in Appendix 2 
are shown below: 
 

11.47 Employees – The 2026/27 budget is £6.6m, an increase of £0.43m on the 
2025/26 budget. The employee budget includes the full year effect of the 
2025/26 pay award, and a provision of 3.5% for the 2026/27 pay award. The 
staffing budget takes into account amendments to the staffing structure during 
2025/26, and capitalisation of staff time to retrofit and the Woodman Close 
new build project where relevant. Vacancy management savings of £0.1m has 
been built in as a working assumption as part of additional savings required 
following the government decision to postpone rent convergence decision. 
This will require careful management of vacancies and use of temporary staff 
to ensure target is met. There is also one-off budget in 2026/27 relating to the 
implementation of the new repairs contract, and fixed term resource to 
support upgrades to the Housing Management IT systems.    
 

11.48 Premises – The 2026/27 budget is £10.8m, an increase of £0.88m on the 
2025/26 budget. The main changes relate to repairs and voids of £1m, which 
reflects increasing costs associated with an increase in void turnover, and 
reflecting legislative changes such as Awaab’s Law as outlined in the Options 
report (CAB3523). This is partially offset by savings on utility costs as 
identified in the savings at appendix 7. Inflationary increases on council tax on 
void properties are also factored in. 

 
 
11.49 Supplies & Services and Third Party Payments – The Supplies and Services 

line is £2.85m, an increase of £0.4m over the 2025/26 budget. The increase is 
largely associated with one off consultancy costs for the repairs procurement 
mobilisation, and housing management system upgrades. The 2026/27 
budget also reflects savings on tenant engagement and reductions in 
supported housing advertising and hospitality budgets. The Third Party 
Payment budget is reduced by £0.05m reflecting the anticipated saving to 
hoarding budget, both of which are outlined in appendix 7. 
 

11.50 Support Services – The support services budget has increased by £0.03m to 
£3.43m. General inflationary increases have been accounted for and are 
largely offset by a reduction in the cost of procurement support following the 
completion of procurement input into the repairs contract procurement 
process in early 2026/27.  
 

11.51 Net Interest – The 2025/26 budget reflects the net interest cost of anticipated 
HRA borrowing of £7.9m. It assumes gross interest costs of £8.8m, of which 
£6.4m relates to external borrowing and £2.4m relates to internal borrowing. 
Gross costs are offset by interest on balances of £0.9m. Borrowing costs have 
increased by £0.85m on the 2025/26 budget. Although there is no new 
borrowing anticipated in capital financing for 2026/27, the estimates reflect a 

Page 39



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

reduction in cash balances as capital receipts and major repairs allowance 
are used up to fund the capital programme, and refinancing of loans in 
2026/27 at a higher rate. The estimate also assumes that the unallocated 
budget for new build, for which business cases are still being developed, will 
be utilised. However, if the unallocated budget is not utilised, anticipated 
borrowing costs will reduce. Anticipated interest rates for new borrowing are 
currently assumed at 5.75%. The impact of changes to borrowing rates are 
outlined from paragraph 11.12.    
 

11.52 Depreciation – The depreciation charge estimated on the basis of the prior 
year charge and anticipated increase in the current year. The budget for 
2026/27 is £11.08m, an increase of £0.52m on the budget for 2025/26. The 
actual cost of depreciation will reflect the value of the HRA operational assets, 
the anticipated capital spend and the changes in the number and value of 
HRA dwellings and non-HRA dwellings at year end. 
 

11.53 External Income – The 2026/27 budget is £39.5m, an increase of £1.56m on 
the budget for 2025/26. This largely reflects the proposed rent increase of 
4.8% from April 2026, together with associated changes in service charges 
and other income. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HOUSING SERVICES CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
 Major Repairs 
 
11.54 The 10-year forward financial projection for major repairs is based on data 

held on the replacement cycle of key components, held within the Council’s 
asset management database. It also includes provision for works to meet 
energy efficiency standards. 
 

11.55 HRA properties are maintained to decent homes standards, with the property 
services team managing the upkeep of properties taking into consideration 
current stock condition information. In order to manage the maintenance, 
improvement and renewal programme effectively, the property services team 
need to have the flexibility to substitute projects and re-balance expenditure 
between repair budgets. The 10-year housing services capital programme 
allocates £89.9m towards major repairs to HRA dwellings based on the 
investment requirements of the asset management plan between 2025/26 and 
2035/36. 
 
 
 

Page 40



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

Climate Emergency 
 

11.56 A key element of the council’s Climate Neutrality Action Plan includes 
additional investment in the council’s housing stock to improve energy 
efficiency and help tenants reduce their carbon emissions. The updated 
housing services capital programme includes funding towards climate change 
of £41.874m, including provision for inflation.  
 

11.57 In December 2025 the Department for Energy Security and Net Zero 
(DESNZ) issued an announcement, requesting that no Solar Batteries are 
installed under the Wave 3 funding scheme until further notice due to a review 
of battery certification. Following this announcement the Retrofit team carried 
out a review of the Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHF) Programme 
and associated costs. The review investigated the efficiency of the PAS 2035 
delivery, the costs incurred due to the administration required to abide 
formally to PAS 2035, costs incurred by procurement, design, and 
specification of the improvements. Various delivery options were profiled 
including   

• Removal of batteries as an improvement within Wave 3 and the impact 
this has on the ‘Solar Use and Maintenance’ payment 

• Move towards a Single measure delivery due to the complexities 
associated with multiple improvements within a home at the same time 

• Review of the enabling works associated with Retrofit and their 
escalating costs 

• Review of the additional costs associated with the administration for 
PAS 2035 reports and surveys 

 
11.58 It has been proposed by the Retrofit team that Winchester City Council 

relinquish the funding from DESNZ due to the loss in revenue caused by the 
hold on battery installations. This decision will allow Retrofit and Planned 
Maintenance to collaborate in a more rational manner without the pressure to 
deliver at pace to meet funding milestones, and in particular avoid large costs 
associated with ad hoc enabling works with Retrofit Contractors. This strategy 
provides an opportunity for Planned Maintenance to undertake Retrofit 
enabling works under a dedicated programme and procurement exercise, 
unlocking hard to treat homes. This allows the Retrofit team to focus on the 
easier to treat homes and move to a single measure delivery on the harder to 
treat properties. 
 

11.59  Delivering improvements that can incrementally be installed based on ease of 
installation and points gained to achieve EPC e.g. Solar and Ventilation 
installed first prior to Cavity Wall insulation and Loft Insulation which requires 
a substantial amount of enabling works. This will allow Planned Maintenance 
team more time to prepare harder to treat properties Ready for Retrofit.  
 

11.60 The single measure programme allows the team to procure contractors that 
are experts within their fields avoiding the larger contractors who use non-
local SME’s and increase costs to do this. The larger contractors also tend to 
utilise a lot of time to recruit sub-contractors which causes unnecessary 

Page 41



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

delays. The most significant benefit of this change is that there is an 
estimated saving of £0.95m despite the loss of the SHF funding, this saving 
will allow Retrofit to increase delivery and retain staff to support this increase. 
The amended table below demonstrates the loss of funding and the way in 
which savings are achieved: 
 
 

 
 

11.61 The Retrofit Team will continue to use PAS 2035 as a quality standard but will 
not require the intense admin associated with SHF Funding therefore saving 
time and costs. The targets for the next 3 years will incrementally increase 
which is made possible through the enabling works that will take place under 
Planned Maintenance. Targets are 125 properties in the remainder of 
2025/26, 280 properties in 2026/27 and 378 properties in 2027/28. This 
equates to 15.5% of the stock that is EPC D and below as opposed to the 
original 13% originally associated with SHF. 
 

11.62 Procurement within the Retrofit Team for the capital spend scheduled in 
appendix 3 and in relation with the revised delivery strategy proposed, will be 
in accordance with Financial Procedure Rule 7.4, suitable Frameworks will be 
utilised in accordance with the Public Contract Regulations and the council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules. 
 

11.63 The proposed approach forecasts a further 125 properties (2.5% of the stock) 
to be upgraded to an EPC C by 31st March 2026, 280 properties in 2026/27 
and 378 in 2027/28, meaning that at least 87% of stock will meet EPC-C or 
above by March 2028. 
 
 
Sewage Treatment Works 

 
11.64 Following the delivery of upgrades at Northington and The Goodens sewage 

treatment plants, the Council has secured nutrient credits and is in the 
process of selling credits to developers. At the time of writing this report, a 
total of £0.272m cash receipts had been received from sales to date, with a 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Project total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Funding Received 1,003 1,245 1,211 3,459

Savings on PAC 2035 contractors (700) (872) (847) (2,419)

Reduced measures & defects (64) (258) (258) (580)

CLC Uplifts on PAS2035, measures 

removed and defects (180) (265) (260) (705)

Administration allocated to Dept for 

Energy Security and Net Zero reporting (20) (25) (24) (69)

Renegotiation of contract frameworks (187) (232) (225) (644)

Funding Shortfall / (Savings) (148) (407) (403) (958)

Page 42



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

further £0.63m committed, and these proceeds will be reinvested in the 
sewerage treatment plants, generating further credits. 
 

11.65 Investment in the first wave of sewage treatment plants designed to reduce 
the high running costs of specific plants were built into the 2024/25 budget 
and are currently being progressed, with one site at Itchen View completed, 
and further sites expected to progress in 2026/27.  
 

11.66 Further provision for improvement works, funded through both the generation 
of nutrient credits and funding from Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH), 
was agreed in September 2024. The proposed budget includes additional 
investment of £0.6m for a second wave of proposed sites, in addition to the 
ongoing investment requirements of the HRA sewage treatment works, 
subject to agreement of business cases.    
 

New Build Capital Programme 
 
11.67 The “Good Homes for All” council plan priority emphasises the council’s 

commitment to new homes and the HRA New Build Programme is key to 
delivering this objective. A new Housing development strategy has also been 
adopted during 2025/26, which has informed the HRA business planning 
process. 
 

11.68 The New Homes capital programme includes approved budgets for the 
development of properties at Woodman Close, and ongoing acquisitions of 
new properties at Hazeley Road and Kings Barton.  

 
11.69 The programme also includes the remaining provision for buy backs of former 

Council Houses agreed at Cabinet in September 2024, which agreed to the 
purchase of up to 4 properties, of which two properties have been acquired. A 
delegation is in place for the s151 Officer, in consultation with the Strategic 
Director with responsibility for Housing, to acquire further buy backs subject to 
viability assessment utilising the unallocated new homes budget. 
 

11.70 The budget assumption for unapproved schemes includes provision for 
acquiring new affordable housing within the Central Winchester Regeneration 
site. This represents an opportunity for the HRA to acquire up to 40 units of 
affordable housing and meet a housing need. However, to facilitate this an 
appropriation of the existing car park site at St Peters will be required.  
 

11.71  The HRA Capital programme includes provision for existing and emerging 
opportunities, sufficient to finance the achievement of the council’s target to 
deliver 1000 new council homes by 2032.  
 

11.72 To date, 333 new homes have been delivered, and a further 151 are currently 
in progress at Kings Barton, Woodman Close and Hazeley Road. The 10-year 
forward financial projection has identified a capital expenditure requirement of 
£202.8m, including approved schemes totalling £39.2m and an unapproved 
provision of £163.6m to cover schemes for which business cases are 

Page 43



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

currently being developed, or schemes as yet unidentified. Application for 
additional housing grant will be considered for all future developments where 
appropriate. 
 

11.73 Delivery of new homes is dependent on the identification and acquisition of 
suitable s106 sites, as well as land and appropriate sites to develop. The new 
build programme assumes steady delivery of unallocated schemes and small 
sites to optimise available funding and cashflow within the HRA. There is an 
unallocated budget of £4.3m for 2026/27, but if required additional funding 
may be brought forward from future years subject to robust business case. 
 

11.74 In December 2025, the Council was offered the opportunity to submit an 
expression of interest to secure further funding from the Local Authority 
Housing Fund (LAHF) for additional homes for resettlement and temporary 
accommodation, for delivery between April 2026 and March 2030.  
 

11.75 An expression was submitted, and a response to the expression of interest is 
expected in March 2026. The expression of interest would support the 
acquisition of up to 30 properties over 4 years of which 20 intended for 
temporary accommodation and 10 for Afghanistan resettlement scheme and 
for which the WCC contribution would be budgeted for by utilising the 
unallocated budget line.  
 

11.76 The council are encouraged to deliver 50% of these properties as new homes 
(new build). There is a 10% uplift to the base grant for any new homes 
purchased. The base grant is calculated on 40% of median purchase prices in 
Winchester, which according to O&S Statistics is £494,475. A further £21,000 
is also awarded and is intended for conveyancing, refurbishment but may also 
be contributed to purchase cost. 
 

11.77 Expenditure would be subject to meeting criteria, including financial viability, 
and suitability of the property in terms of location and size, level of 
refurbishment required and suitability for conversion to Temporary 
Accommodation.  
 

11.78 Confirmation of successful application is not expected until March 2026, and 
therefore the exact award is not yet known. It will be confirmed in the finalised 
Memorandum of Understanding. Proposed spend is based on estimates of 
property purchases to a maximum of 30 put forward in the expression of 
interest. 
 
 

11.79 The Business plan supports the delivery of the existing 1,000 Homes 
programme, but beyond the completion of the programme reverts to the 
repayment of borrowing, which demonstrates that there is capacity in the 
business plan to repay the associated borrowing, thereby demonstrating that 
the programme is affordable and sustainable. The principle of future new 
build, in the context of other key HRA priorities, will be debated at the EHP 

Page 44



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

Committee in February 2026, which will inform the business planning process 
for 2026/27.  
 

 
HRA Capital Programme Funding 

 
11.80   Appendix 5 gives full details of how it is proposed to fund the Housing 

Services & New Build Budgets from 2025/26 to 2035/36. This shows a 
prudential net borrowing requirement of £141.4m (or 39% of total programme 
funding), the planned reinvestment of RTB receipts £27.8m (8%), the 
application of Major Repairs Allowance £138.9m (recycled depreciation 
funding of 37%), the investment of shared ownership receipts and other 
asset sales £39m (11%), the application of S106 funding £15m (4%) and 
grants/contributions of £2.4m (1%). 

 
12 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED  

12.1 The council could consider investing less in customers’ homes than is 
required to achieve the regulatory requirement of EPC C by 2030. This is not 
recommended as it would breach the regulatory requirements and in addition 
would not support the council’s policy objective of being greener faster.  

12.2 The council could also seek increased revenue savings than those identified 
in this report so as to provide investment capacity in the HRA. At this time the 
level of revenue savings identified is challenging, and further savings are 
likely to lead to a reduction in the quality of service delivered. Investment in 
improving the digital access to services may generate efficiencies in the future 
that can be realised without detriment to services. Therefore, increased 
revenue savings are not recommended at this time. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:- 

Previous Committee Reports:- 

Previous Committee Reports: - 

CAB3523 – HRA Business Plan and Budget Options – November 2025 

CAB3516 – HRA Outturn 2024/25 – September 2025 

CAB3490 – HRA Budget 2025/26 – February 2025 

CAB3479H – Social Housing regulation – February 2025 

CAB3478 – HRA Business Plan and Budget options – November 2024 

CAB3465 – HRA outturn 2023/24 – September 2024 

CAB3445 – HRA Budget 2024/25 – February 2024 

Page 45



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

 
APPENDICES: 

Appendix 1 – 2026/27 HRA Budget Service Summary 

Appendix 2 – HRA 2026/27 Budget Subjective Summary 

Appendix 3 – Housing Management Capital Programme 2025/26 to 2035/36 

Appendix 4 - New Build Capital Programme 2025/26 to 2035/26 

Appendix 5 Capital Financing 2025/26 to 2035/36 

Appendix 6 – Operating Account summary 

Appendix 7 - Proposed Savings 2026/27 

 

 

 

  

Page 46



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

Appendix 1 – 2026/27 HRA Budget Service Summary (Amended) 

 

 

 25/26 25/26 26/27

Housing Revenue Account:
Original Budget 

per CAB3490

Revised Budget Original Budget

Service Summary £ £ £

Housing Management General

Housing Management (584,691) (584,691) (695,183)

Tenant Welfare (548,277) (548,277) (430,026)

HRA General (3,221,111) (3,221,111) (3,027,772)

HRA Policy (564,373) (564,373) (543,883)

HRA IT Projects (210,000) (210,000) (320,000)

Income Services (457,929) (457,929) (489,361)

Tenants Involvement (243,706) (243,706) (236,821)

Vacant Dwellings (174,400) (174,400) (202,273)

New Build Programme Support (813,235) (813,235) (810,879)

 (6,817,722) (6,817,722) (6,756,199)

Housing Management Special 

Communal Services 147,379 147,379 126,331

Foxglove House 406,340 406,340 433,000

Disabled Adaptations (193,009) (193,009) (194,029)

Estate Maintenance (843,473) (843,473) (909,620)

Community Safety (HRA) (291,415) (291,415) (260,222)

Homelessness (109,213) (109,213) 11,185

Home Ownership 502,040 502,040 520,174

Sewage Works (433,371) (433,371) (414,433)

Sheltered Housing (276,948) (276,948) (628,103)

 (1,091,670) (1,091,670) (1,315,718)

Repairs

Responsive Maintenance (4,322,318) (4,322,318) (4,389,985)

Voids (1,764,950) (1,764,950) (2,497,900)

Cyclic (1,463,867) (1,463,867) (1,743,647)

Retrofit (Revenue) (110,393) (110,393) (705,157)

Assets & Planned Maintenance (1,015,633) (1,015,633) (850,117)

Sub - total Repairs Works (8,677,161) (8,677,161) (10,186,806)

Repairs Administration (2,012,394) (2,012,394) (2,197,157)

 (10,689,555) (10,689,555) (12,383,963)

Debt Management Expenses (12,576) (12,576) (12,576)

Interest Payable (8,322,000) (8,322,000) (8,823,000)

Depreciation of Fixed Assets (10,562,055) (10,562,055) (11,087,199)

 (18,896,631) (18,896,631) (19,922,775)

Page 47



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Rents and Other Income

Dwelling Rents 33,965,769 33,965,769 35,680,067

Garage Rents 56,092 56,092 56,092

Investment Properties 199,656 199,656 199,656

Other Rents and Income 74,047 74,047 84,047

Interest Receivable 1,170,000 1,170,000 830,000

35,465,564 35,465,564 36,849,862

(Surplus)/Deficit for year on HRA Services (2,030,014) (2,030,014) (3,528,794)

(Increase)/ decrease in HRA Balance (2,030,014) (2,030,014) (3,528,794)

 

HRA Working Balance

Opening Balance 15,950,672 15,950,672 13,648,672

Add  Q2 Forecast Projected Deficit/(Surplus) (2,302,000) (2,302,000) (3,528,794)

Projected Balance at Year End 13,648,672 13,648,672 10,119,878

Page 48



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

Appendix 2 – HRA 2026/27 Budget Subjective Summary (Amended) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 25/26 25/26 26/27

Housing Revenue Account: Original 

Budget per 

CAB3490

Revised 

Budget

Original 

Budget

Subjective Summary £ £ £

Employees (6,207,476) (6,207,476) (6,654,980)

Premises (9,940,886) (9,940,886) (10,797,470)

Transport (150,817) (150,817) (160,986)

Supplies & services (2,467,210) (2,467,210) (2,865,397)

Third party payments (142,600) (142,600) (91,500)

Support Services (3,401,277) (3,401,277) (3,431,199)

Net Interest (7,152,000) (7,152,000) (7,993,000)

Depreciation on Fixed Assets (10,562,055) (10,562,055) (11,087,199)

External income 37,994,307 37,994,307 39,552,937

Surplus/(Deficit) for year on HRA Services (2,030,014) (2,030,014) (3,528,794)

Increase / (decrease) in HRA Balance (2,030,014) (2,030,014) (3,528,794)

HRA Working Balance

Opening Balance 15,950,672 15,950,672 13,648,672

Add Q2 forecast Projected (Deficit)/Surplus (2,302,000) (2,302,000) (3,528,794)

Projected Balance at Year End 13,648,672 13,648,672 10,119,878

Page 49



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

Appendix 3 – Housing Management Capital Programme 2025/26 to 2035/36 

 

 

  

2025/26 2025/26 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 2035/36 Total

Housing Services Programme
Original 

Budget.

Sept 

revised 

Budget.

Forecast Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget.

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Scheme Name/Description

Major Repairs (8,570) (7,492) (6,309) (10,653) (8,766) (9,480) (9,582) (9,735) (5,665) (7,416) (6,874) (8,114) (7,371) (89,965)

Major Repairs (8,570) (7,492) (6,309) (10,653) (8,766) (9,480) (9,582) (9,735) (5,665) (7,416) (6,874) (8,114) (7,371) (89,965)

0

Estate Improvements (432) (432) (350) (104) (108) (111) (114) (118) (118) (121) (125) (128) (132) (1,528)

Sheltered Housing (74) (248) 0 (953) (953)

Chesil Lodge Solar Panels (60) (60)

Improvements  & Upgrades (506) (680) (350) (1,117) (108) (111) (114) (118) (118) (121) (125) (128) (132) (2,541)

0

Disabled Adaptations (719) (719) (700) (751) (773) (796) (820) (845) (870) (896) (923) (951) (979) (9,305)

Asbestos and Fire rectif ication (reactive) (300) (300) (300) (150) (150) (600)

Fire remedial w orks (Planned) (1,000) (1,250) (1,000) (500) (547) (554) (570) (588) (605) (623) (642) (661) (681) (6,971)

Fire Safety Compartmentation (2,001) (2,001) (2,001) (2,012) (2,045) 0 (0) 0 (0) (0) 0 (0) (0) (6,059)

Climate Change Emergency (5,936) (5,506) (3,100) (6,055) (7,818) (7,659) (8,765) (8,478) (41,874)

Victoria House Sew erage Connection (516) (516) 0 0 0

Sew age Treatment Works (STW) (479) (479) (250) (810) (725) (796) (125) (129) (133) (137) (141) (145) (150) (3,542)

STW - Nutrient Mitigation (407) (407) 0 (407) (407)

STW - Nutrient Mitigation (PfSH) (700) (700) (136) (350) (350) (836)

Other Capital Spending (12,058) (11,878) (7,487) (11,035) (12,408) (9,804) (10,281) (10,039) (1,608) (1,657) (1,706) (1,758) (1,810) (69,594)

Unapproved Schemes

Sew age Treatment w orks additional schemes (600)

Total Housing Services Capital Programme (21,134) (20,050) (14,146) (22,805) (21,282) (19,995) (19,976) (19,892) (7,391) (9,194) (8,705) (10,000) (9,313) (162,700)

P
age 50



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

 

Appendix 4 New Build Capital Programme 2025/26 to 2035/26 

 

  

  

2025/26 2025/26 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 2035/36 Total

New Build Programme

 & Other Capital

Original 

Budget.

Sep 

Revised.

Latest 

Forecast Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget. Budget.

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Scheme Name/Description

Approved Schemes

LAHF Property Acquisition (531) (531) (531)

Lower Brook St car park (40)

Southbrook Cottages

Woodman Close (978) (200) (1,957) (2,157)

Property Buybacks (980) (1,048) (210) (838) (1,048)

Hazeley Rd Twyford (915) (915) (915) (915) (1,830)

Kings Barton all Phases (3,360) (20,000) (20,000) (8,600) (5,000) (33,600)

Total Approved Schemes (5,255) (23,512) (21,856) (12,310) (5,000) (39,166)

Unapproved Schemes

CornerHouse (900)

Woodman Close (978)

Minden Rd (3,400) (3,400)

Appropriation St Peters Car Park (3,400) (3,400)

Affordable Housing Central Winchester (5,500) (5,500)

Morgans Yard (115) (1,763) (1,878)

Unallocated 1000 homes (6,065) (6,434) (4,292) (18,603) (13,765) (31,817) (44,890) (36,098) (149,465)

Total Unapproved Schemes (7,943) (6,434) (4,292) (18,718) (18,928) (40,717) (44,890) (36,098) (163,643)

Total All Schemes (13,198) (29,946) (21,856) (16,602) (23,718) (18,928) (40,717) (44,890) (36,098) (202,809)

P
age 51



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

Appendix 5 Capital Financing 2025/26 to 2035/36 

 

 

 

  

2025/26 2025/26 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 2035/36 Total

HRA Capital Programme

Funding

Original 

Budget

Sept 

Revised 

Budget

Latest 

Forecast
Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Borrowing 0 3,338 0 0 19,682 15,084 40,103 46,274 20,272 0 0 0 0 141,415

RTB 141 Receipts 3,673 5,500 8,884 1,436 1,479 1,524 1,570 1,618 1,666 1,716 1,768 1,821 1,875 25,358

Other RTB Receipts 549 2,112 2,112 14 21 28 35 43 51 59 68 77 86 2,595

Capital Receipts  - Shared Ownership 4,000 1,659 1,659 351 4,543 4,753 2,914 3,176 7,720 7,416 2,328 0 0 34,860

Capital Receipts Other 623 1,753 1,753 500 500 500 500 500 0 0 0 0 0 4,253

Nutrient Credits 400 400 800

LAHF Grant 934 934 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 934

Homes England Grant 645

PfSH Grant 700 700 135 350 215 700

S106 0 0 1,050 6,000 5,000 3,000 0 0 0 0 15,050

Major Repairs Reserves 24,787 34,000 20,526 34,660 12,160 12,034 12,570 13,171 13,780 2 4,541 8,102 7,352 138,897

Funding Total 34,332 49,996 36,003 39,406 45,000 38,923 60,693 64,782 43,489 9,194 8,705 10,000 9,313 365,507

Housing Services 21,134 20,050 14,146 22,805 21,282 19,995 19,976 19,892 7,391 9,194 8,705 10,000 9,313 162,700

New Build 13,198 29,946 21,856 16,602 23,718 18,928 40,717 44,890 36,098 0 0 0 0 202,809

Capital Programme Total 34,332 49,996 36,002 39,407 45,000 38,923 60,693 64,782 43,489 9,194 8,705 10,000 9,313 365,509

P
age 52



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

Appendix 6 – Operating Account summary 

 

 

  

Winchester City Council

HRA Business Plan

Operating Account 
(expressed in money terms)

Income Expenditure

Year Year

Net rent 

Income

Other 

income

Misc 

Income

Total 

Income Managt. Depreciation

Responsive & 

Cyclical

Other 

Revenue 

spend

Misc 

expenses

Total 

expenses

Capital 

Charges

Net Operating 

(Expenditure)

Repayment of 

loans

Surplus 

(Deficit) for 

the Year

Surplus 

(Deficit) 

b/fwd

Interest 

payable

Surplus 

(Deficit) 

c/fwd

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

1 2025.26 36,087 204 1,406 37,697 (12,905) (10,592) (8,081) (765) (580) (32,924) (8,052) (3,279) (0) (3,279) 15,950 978 13,649  

2 2026.27 38,066 228 1,334 39,628 (13,237) (11,087) (8,754) (1,411) (680) (35,169) (8,822) (4,362) 0 (4,362) 13,649 835 10,122  

3 2027.28 40,848 235 1,394 42,476 (13,559) (11,547) (8,963) (436) (680) (35,186) (9,514) (2,224) 0 (2,224) 10,122 303 8,201  

4 2028.29 43,428 242 1,457 45,126 (13,958) (12,034) (9,191) (176) (691) (36,049) (10,438) (1,361) 0 (1,361) 8,201 244 7,085  

5 2029.30 46,305 249 1,500 48,054 (14,368) (12,570) (9,415) (179) (701) (37,233) (12,035) (1,213) 0 (1,213) 7,085 211 6,082  

6 2030.31 50,837 256 1,545 52,639 (14,791) (13,171) (9,661) (183) (712) (38,517) (14,532) (410) 0 (410) 6,082 191 5,862  

7 2031.32 53,613 264 1,592 55,468 (15,226) (13,780) (10,091) (187) (722) (40,006) (16,706) (1,244) 0 (1,244) 5,862 170 4,789  

8 2032.33 57,720 272 1,639 59,631 (15,674) (14,480) (10,534) (190) (733) (41,611) (17,660) 360 (731) (371) 4,789 385 4,803  

9 2033.34 60,401 280 1,688 62,369 (16,135) (15,203) (10,936) (194) (744) (43,212) (17,599) 1,558 (1,752) (195) 4,803 797 5,405  

10 2034.35 61,668 289 1,739 63,695 (16,610) (15,477) (11,355) (198) (755) (44,394) (17,494) 1,807 (2,442) (635) 5,405 1,102 5,872  

11 2035.36 64,166 297 1,791 66,255 (17,098) (15,755) (11,789) (202) (766) (45,611) (17,662) 2,982 (3,921) (939) 5,872 1,369 6,301  

12 2036.37 64,265 306 1,845 66,417 (17,602) (16,039) (12,240) (206) (778) (46,864) (17,464) 2,088 (3,277) (1,188) 6,301 1,593 6,706  

13 2037.38 65,598 315 1,900 67,813 (18,120) (16,328) (12,709) (210) (790) (48,156) (17,493) 2,165 (3,614) (1,449) 6,706 1,769 7,027  

14 2038.39 66,953 325 1,957 69,235 (18,654) (16,621) (13,195) (214) (802) (49,486) (17,271) 2,478 (4,086) (1,607) 7,027 1,951 7,370  

15 2039.40 68,332 334 2,016 70,682 (19,203) (16,920) (13,699) (219) (814) (50,855) (17,020) 2,808 (4,656) (1,848) 7,370 2,193 7,715  

16 2040.41 69,735 344 2,077 72,156 (19,769) (17,225) (14,223) (223) (826) (52,266) (16,740) 3,151 (5,078) (1,927) 7,715 2,391 8,179  

17 2041.42 72,532 355 2,139 75,026 (20,351) (17,535) (14,767) (227) (838) (53,719) (16,391) 4,916 (7,195) (2,279) 8,179 2,593 8,493  

18 2042.43 72,617 365 2,203 75,186 (20,951) (17,850) (15,332) (232) (851) (55,216) (16,227) 3,742 (6,190) (2,448) 8,493 2,892 8,937  

19 2043.44 74,097 376 2,269 76,742 (21,568) (18,171) (15,919) (237) (863) (56,759) (15,856) 4,128 (6,742) (2,614) 8,937 3,079 9,402  

20 2044.45 75,603 388 2,337 78,328 (22,204) (18,498) (16,528) (241) (876) (58,348) (15,446) 4,534 (7,491) (2,957) 9,402 3,235 9,679  

21 2045.46 77,137 399 2,407 79,944 (22,859) (18,831) (17,160) (246) (890) (59,986) (15,001) 4,958 (8,015) (3,058) 9,679 3,480 10,101  

22 2046.47 78,700 411 2,480 81,591 (23,533) (19,170) (17,817) (251) (903) (61,674) (14,524) 5,393 (8,700) (3,307) 10,101 3,774 10,568  

23 2047.48 81,835 424 2,554 84,812 (24,227) (19,515) (18,499) (256) (916) (63,413) (14,184) 7,215 (10,737) (3,522) 10,568 4,093 11,139  

24 2048.49 81,911 436 2,631 84,978 (24,941) (19,866) (19,207) (261) (930) (65,206) (13,586) 6,186 (10,055) (3,869) 11,139 4,352 11,622  

25 2049.50 83,562 449 2,710 86,721 (25,677) (20,223) (19,943) (267) (944) (67,054) (12,984) 6,683 (10,890) (4,206) 11,622 4,635 12,051  

26 2050.51 85,244 463 2,791 88,498 (26,435) (20,587) (20,706) (272) (958) (68,958) (12,340) 7,200 (11,518) (4,319) 12,051 4,901 12,633  

27 2051.52 86,957 477 2,875 90,309 (27,215) (20,957) (21,499) (277) (973) (70,921) (11,655) 7,733 (12,445) (4,712) 12,633 5,116 13,038  

28 2052.53 90,409 491 2,961 93,861 (28,018) (21,334) (22,322) (283) (987) (72,945) (11,096) 9,821 (14,631) (4,811) 13,038 5,355 13,582  

29 2053.54 90,482 506 3,050 94,037 (28,845) (21,717) (23,177) (288) (1,002) (75,031) (10,668) 8,339 (235) 8,104 13,582 5,780 27,465  

30 2054.55 92,288 521 3,141 95,950 (29,697) (22,108) (24,065) (294) (1,017) (77,181) (10,661) 8,108 0 8,108 27,465 6,426 41,999  

P
age 53



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

Appendix 7 - Proposed Savings 2026/27 (Amended) 

 

 

 
 
 

P
age 54



  CAB3540 (REVISED) 
 

 

 

 

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

CABINET 
 

12 February 2026 
 

Draft Minute Extract 
 
 

GENERAL FUND BUDGET 26/27 (CAB3541) 
 
Councillor Cutler introduced the report and drew attention to the notification earlier 
that week that the Government had made a calculation error regarding business rate 
pooling which had resulted in a reduction in the settlement by just under £1.4 million 
per annum.  The government had agreed one-off Adjustment Support Grants for 
26/27 to cover this loss for the current year, however the annual £1.4 million 
reduction would impact subsequent years.  Appendices A (General Fund Medium 
Term Financial Projections) and C (Reserves) of the report had been updated and 
circulated to Cabinet and other members present.  
 
Councillor Cutler advised that the government error had been reported to Scrutiny 
Committee on 10 February and noted that the draft minutes of that committee had 
been circulated to Cabinet and other members present.  
 
At the invitation of the Leader, Councillors Godfrey and Batho addressed Cabinet as 
summarised briefly below. 

 
Councillor Godfrey 
Councillor Godfrey criticised the budget as unambitious, arguing that it 
prioritised retaining millions in reserves over the immediate interests of 
Winchester taxpayers.  He believed that a maximum council tax increase was 
unnecessary given the generous government settlement and opposed 
allocating funds for local government reorganisation rather than providing 
direct services.  He urged the council to use its reserves for tangible 
community benefits, such as home insulation and support for small 
businesses. Finally, he questioned the high expenditure on the Guildhall, 
noting that the building would remain largely closed to the public despite the 
investment 
 
Councillor Batho 
Councillor Batho, acting as the coordinator of community speed watch in 
Winchester, highlighted the prevalence of motorists exceeding speed limits on 
residential roads and the resulting concerns expressed by local residents. He 
supported the proposed budget for 2026/27 regarding feasibility work on 
speed indicator devices, asserting that these tools effectively remind motorists 
of speed limits and facilitate the council’s active travel objectives. He 
requested that Cabinet prioritise this feasibility study as soon as possible. 
 

Councillors Cutler, Learney and Tod responded to the comments made, including 
emphasising the importance of council reserves in the current national climate of 
high levels of uncertainty. 
 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



  

Councillor Tod also made reference to a question received from Councillor Lee who 
was unable to attend the meeting. 
 
Councillor Cutler proposed an amendment to the report’s first recommendation to 
reflect the amendment to Appendix A of the report due to the late change in the 
Government’s local government financial settlement referred to above.  This was 
agreed and it was noted that an amended report and appendices would be submitted 
to Council. 
 
Cabinet agreed to the following for the reasons set out in the report and outlined 
above. 
 

RECOMMENDED (TO COUNCIL): 
 

1. That the level of General Fund Budget for 2026/27 be agreed 
and the summary be recommended as shown in Appendix A of 
CAB3541, as amended, due to the late change in the Government's local 
government financial settlement announced by MHCLG on 10 February 
2026. 

 
2. That in relation to the Greener Faster Council Plan priority: 
a. a growth of £30,000 be approved to increase the annual 

Town Account tree maintenance budget as a result of risks associated 
with the effects of climate change and associated tree disease. 

 
3. That in relation to the Healthy Communities priority of the 

new Council Plan: 
a. the revised income bands for the Council Tax Reduction 

scheme for working age applicants (set out in Appendix E of the report) 
be approved, that ensure claimants continue to receive the appropriate 
level of support after the DWPs increase in Universal Credit rates with 
effect from 1 April 2026. 

 
4. That in relation to the Efficient and Effective priority: 
a. a growth to the annual expenditure budget of £89,000 be 

approved for improvements to make the way our residents’ contact us is 
easier and faster. 

 
5. That other service expenditure annual budgets be amended 

as follows, in response to revised estimates:  
a. Utility budget increased by £150,000 in order to cover the 

additional forecast utility costs from 2026/27. 
b. An additional budget of £115,000 per annum from 2026/27 

for the Corporate Head of Resources. 
c. A growth of £130,000 to reflect the net budget pressure of 

the migration of the Land Charges service to HM Land Registry. 
d. A net budget saving of £215,000 per annum to reflect 

changes to forecast employers’ pension contributions and rates. 
 

Page 58



  

6. That one-off service expenditure budgets be approved as 
follows: 

a. A £470,000 digital transformation budget, relating to the 
implementation of improvements to make our residents’ digital contact 
with us easier and faster, with £400,000 funded from the digital 
transformation reserve and £70,000 funded from the transitional reserve. 

b. A Town Account budget of £15,000 for feasibility work 
related to speed indicators within the town area, funded by the town 
reserve. 

c. £1.7m for essential structural and repair works to the 
Guildhall to maintain this listed civic building (and required prior to 
further decision making on the future operating model of the Guildhall 
and Abbey House) funded from Property - Asset Management Reserve, 
and delegates authority to: 

i. the Strategic Director to appoint, in accordance with the 
council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs), all necessary 
consultants to prepare design work for the works required 
to the Guildhall through a competitive bid process or 
framework;    

ii. the Strategic Director to undertake a procurement exercise 
to obtain bids or use of a framework to appoint a 
contractor(s) for the works required to the Guildhall, in 
accordance with the council’s CPRs;  

iii. the Strategic Director to appoint the relevant contractors 
and to negotiate and agree contractual heads of terms with 
the contract appointment; and 

iv. the Service Lead: Legal to prepare and enter into all 
relevant agreements, negotiate the contractual agreements 
and see them to completion to enable the Guildhall works. 
 

7. That following a review of earmarked reserves they be 
amended as follows: 

a. £2m of the Major Investment Reserve be re-allocated to the 
Property Reserve to fund maintenance requirements of corporate 
properties. 

b. £1m from the Major Investment Reserve be re-allocated to 
the Car Parks Property Reserve to fund maintenance of and investment 
in parking.   

c. An additional £500,000 per annum be set aside into the 
Property Reserve, for the maintenance of and investment in operational 
assets.  

 
8. That the sum of £1,434,779 be treated as Special Expenses 

under Section 35 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 in respect 
of the Winchester Town area as set out in section 17 and Appendix D of 
the report. 

 
9. That the Council Tax for the Special Expenses in the 

Winchester Town area at Band D for 2026/27 be increased by 5% (£4.50) 
to £94.58. 

Page 59



  

 
10. That the surplus balance on the Council Tax Collection 

Fund for distribution to this Council, calculated in January 2026 of 
£107,910, be approved. 
 

11. That the level of Council Tax at Band D for City Council 
services for 2026/27 be increased to £168.49, an increase of £4.83 
reflecting an average Council tax increase of 2.95% (the maximum 
allowed under the referendum limit of 2.99% when combined with the 
increase to the Special Expenses for the town area). 
 

12. That the carry forward of the balance of the Council Tax 
Exceptional Hardship Fund in 2025/26 to 2026/27 be approved in order to 
extend this vital support for those on low income. 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
13. That authority be delegated to the Director (Finance), in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Transformation, to 
procure, award and enter into any necessary contract(s) required to progress 
the Customer Experience Digital Project, within the approved budget 
envelope. 

 
14. That the proposal to write-off the three individual outstanding 

Non-Domestic Rate debts totalling £228,435.25, listed in Appendix F of the 
report be approved, in accordance with Financial Procedure Rule 12.7(f). 
 

15. That the proposal to write-off the debt of £53,649.94 owed by 
Provident Asset Management in connection with rent arrears of £27,649.94 
and dilapidation liabilities for external repairs of £26,000 be approved. 

 

Page 60



  
 

CAB3541 - REVISED 
CABINET 

 
 

REPORT TITLE: GENERAL FUND BUDGET 2026/27 
 
12 FEBRUARY 2026 

REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER: Cllr Neil Cutler, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Transformation  

Contact Officer:  Liz Keys    Tel No: 01962 848226 Email LKeys@winchester.gov.uk  

WARD(S):  ALL 
 
 

 

 
PURPOSE 

The purpose of this paper is to consider and recommend to Council the 2026/27 
General Fund Revenue Budget. The report details the proposals for additional 
savings, spending and investment for the year ahead in order to support core council 
services and enhance delivery of the priorities in the Council Plan 2025-2030. 
 
The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (report CAB3522 in November 2025) set out 
the forecast position for the medium term.  Projections have now been updated and 
the new Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is shown at Appendix A. This shows 
that, although the council’s financial position to 2028 is stable, there are increasing 
forecast deficits in the longer term. 
 
Forecast deficits from 2029/30 are largely due to the impact of the Government’s 
funding settlement ‘Fair Funding 2.0’ which included their long-promised full baseline 
reset of business rates.  Strong business growth in the district over the last decade 
has mean the district benefitted from retaining a greater proportion of business rates 
locally.  The reset will see much of that growth now shared nationally rather than 
retained locally. 
 
As set out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy report in November (CAB3522) 
this budget for 2026/27 has limited ‘budget options’.  Instead, it focusses on 
continuing to deliver greener faster initiatives and maintaining the council’s existing, 
high quality and resilient services.  At the same time, it includes provision for 
preparing the council for the implementation of the Government’s Local Government 
Reorganisation (LGR) plans.  The council’s ‘unitary ready’ transition plan is being 
formed around three themes: 

Page 61



  CAB3541 
 

 

• Focusing on the delivery of our Council Plan priorities, ensuring service stability 
and delivering continuous improvement through our established transformation 
challenge programme. 

• Preparing our systems, processes and services for a smooth transition and 
continuing our digital transformation. 

• Developing and supporting our workforce to adapt confidently and thrive in 
change. 

 
The implementation cost to Winchester of Local Government Reorganisation cannot 
be known until the Government decides the final configuration in March 2026. The 
LGR submissions highlighted costs to the entire Hampshire & Isle of Wight area of 
between £128m and £132m.  The Transitional Reserve will be the first funding 
source for the council’s contribution towards these implementation costs. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That Cabinet recommend to Council to: 

1. Agree the level of General Fund Budget for 2026/27 and recommend the 
summary as shown in Appendix A. 

2. In relation to the Greener Faster Council Plan priority: 

a. Approve a growth of £30,000 to increase the annual Town Account tree 
maintenance budget as a result of risks associated with the effects of 
climate change and associated tree disease. 

3. In relation to the Healthy Communities priority of the new Council Plan: 

a. Approve the revised income bands for the Council Tax Reduction scheme 
for working age applicants (set out in appendix E) that ensure claimants 
continue to receive the appropriate level of support after the DWPs 
increase in Universal Credit rates with effect from 1 April 2026. 

4. In relation to the Efficient and Effective priority: 

a. Approve a growth to the annual expenditure budget of £89,000 for 
improvements to make the way our residents’ contact us is easier and 
faster. 

5. Approve other service expenditure annual budgets be amended as follows, in 
response to revised estimates:  

a. Utility budget increased by £150,000 in order to cover the additional 
forecast utility costs from 2026/27. 

b. An additional budget of £115,000 per annum from 2026/27 for the 
Corporate Head of Resources. 

c. A growth of £130,000 to reflect the net budget pressure of the migration of 
the Land Charges service to HM Land Registry. 

Page 62



  CAB3541 
 

 

d. A net budget saving of £215,000 per annum to reflect changes to forecast 
employers’ pension contributions and rates. 

6. Approve one-off service expenditure budgets as follows: 

a. A £470,000 digital transformation budget, relating to the implementation of 
improvements to make our residents’ digital contact with us easier and 
faster, with £400,000 funded from the digital transformation reserve and 
£70,000 funded from the transitional reserve. 

b. A Town Account budget of £15,000 for feasibility work related to speed 
indicators within the town area, funded by the town reserve. 

c. £1.7m for essential structural and repair works to the Guildhall to maintain 
this listed civic building (and required prior to further decision making on 
the future operating model of the Guildhall and Abbey House) funded from 
Property - Asset Management Reserve, and delegates authority to: 

i. the Strategic Director to appoint, in accordance with the council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs), all necessary consultants to 
prepare design work for the works required to the Guildhall through 
a competitive bid process or framework;    

ii. the Strategic Director to undertake a procurement exercise to obtain 
bids or use of a framework to appoint a contractor(s) for the works 
required to the Guildhall, in accordance with the council’s CPRs;  

iii. the Strategic Director to appoint the relevant contractors and to 
negotiate and agree contractual heads of terms with the contract 
appointment; and 

iv. the Service Lead: Legal to prepare and enter into all relevant 
agreements, negotiate the contractual agreements and see them to 
completion to enable the Guildhall works. 

7. Following a review of earmarked reserves, that they be amended as follows: 

a. £2m of the Major Investment Reserve be re-allocated to the Property 
Reserve to fund maintenance requirements of corporate properties. 

b. £1m from the Major Investment Reserve be re-allocated to the Car Parks 
Property Reserve to fund maintenance of and investment in parking.   

c. An additional £500,000 per annum be set aside into the Property Reserve, 
for the maintenance of and investment in operational assets.  

8. That the sum of £1,434,779 be treated as Special Expenses under Section 35 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 in respect of the Winchester Town 
area as set out in section 17 and Appendix D. 

9. That the Council Tax for the Special Expenses in the Winchester Town area 
at Band D for 2026/27 be increased by 5% (£4.50) to £94.58. 

10. That the surplus balance on the Council Tax Collection Fund for distribution to 
this Council, calculated in January 2026 of £107,910, be approved. 

11. Recommend the level of Council Tax at Band D for City Council services for 
2026/27 be increased to £168.49, an increase of £4.83 reflecting an average 

Page 63



  CAB3541 
 

 

Council tax increase of 2.95% (the maximum allowed under the referendum 
limit of 2.99% when combined with the increase to the Special Expenses for 
the town area). 

12. Approve the carry forward of the balance of the Council Tax Exceptional 
Hardship Fund in 2025/26 to 2026/27 in order to extend this vital support for 
those on low income. 

That Cabinet approve: 

13. Delegate authority to the Director (Finance), in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Transformation, to procure, award and enter into any 
necessary contract(s) required to progress the Customer Experience Digital 
Project, within the approved budget envelope. 

14. Approve the proposal to write-off the three individual outstanding Non-
Domestic Rate debts totalling £228,435.25, listed in Appendix F, in 
accordance with Financial Procedure Rule 12.7(f). 

15. Approve the proposal to write-off the debt of £53,649.94 owed by Provident 
Asset Management in connection with rent arrears of £27,649.94 and 
dilapidation liabilities for external repairs of £26,000. 

 

 

Page 64



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

IMPLICATIONS: 
 
1 COUNCIL PLAN OUTCOME 

1.1 This budget underpins delivery of all the priorities in the Council Plan and all 
core services provided across the district of Winchester.  Specific proposals to 
invest in services to support the Council Plan outcomes and areas of 
enhanced focus are set out in the report.  

1.2 Whilst the new Council Plan was being developed in late 2024, the 
Government announced a major programme of reform for local government, 
including the creation of new unitary authorities to replace the current two-tier 
structure of a County Council working with District and Borough Councils – 
‘Local Government Reorganisation’ (or ‘LGR’).   

1.3 In September, 11 councils across Hampshire submitted a joint business case 
to Government, proposing the creation of four new unitary authorities for 
mainland Hampshire.  It became clear from drawing up the business case, 
that implementing LGR (including the amalgamation of some and 
disaggregation of other existing services) will require a huge amount of time 
and resources from all existing local authorities in the county. 

1.4 Maintaining the council’s existing high quality and resilient services at the 
same time as delivering LGR will require prioritisation of resources to focus on 
key priorities.  A series of ‘Preparing for Change’ meetings with Cabinet 
members and senior officers has helped to shape both the priority projects list 
and formed the basis of the service plans.  These service plans focus on the 
delivery of key outcomes and now span the remaining two municipal years 
until Winchester City Council hands over to a new unitary authority. 

1.5 It is expected that Government will announce the outcome of the recent LGR 
consultation exercise and the Minister’s decision about the form of the new 
unitary councils in early spring. 

2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

2.1 The proposals set out in this report represent a balanced budget for 2026/27.  

2.2 A significant deficit of £3.6m is forecast for 2029/30, increasing to £7.2m by 
2034/35.  However, it should be noted that not only are forecasts after 
2028/29 subject to a high degree of uncertainty, but they also relate to the 
period beyond LGR, and therefore to the planning window for the new unitary 
council. 

3 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 Under section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, a local authority must 
make proper arrangements for the administration of its financial affairs. Under 
s28 of the Local Government Act 2003 a local authority must review its budget 

Page 65



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

calculations from time to time during the financial year and take appropriate 
action if there is any deterioration of its budget. 

3.2 The council is required under Chapter 3 of the Local Government and Finance 
Act 1992 to set a council tax for the forthcoming year along with its budget 
estimates. The decision must be made by 11 March of the preceding financial 
year. The council’s prospective income from all sources must be equal to its 
proposed expenditure.  

3.3 The council is also required to set a balanced budget, taking into account a 
range of factors, including consultation feedback. Decisions must be taken in 
accordance with the council’s duties in the Equality Act 2010. 

3.4 The approval of the budget and setting of the Council Tax is a decision 
reserved to Full Council under the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local 
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) Regulations 2000 (as amended). 
Under these regulations, the Cabinet makes recommendations as to the 
setting of the council tax and budget to Full Council. 

4 WORKFORCE IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 This report sets out the organisational approach for managing financial 
resources to protect our core council services and enable delivery of both the 
Council Plan priorities, and LGR.  Employees are critical to the delivery of 
these services and priorities as at 31 March 2025 the council had a workforce 
of 415 FTEs. 

4.2 The report sets out the current challenges in local government finances and 
proposals for the council to deal with some of these locally.  It is recognised 
that successful transformation of services will involve significant staff resource 
to implement and may result in changes to team structures.  The union have 
been actively involved in the staff engagement exercises that have been 
undertaken for the TC25 project.  The union are also briefed on LGR 
proposals and will continue to be as more detail become known about the 
formation and shape of the new councils. 

5 PROPERTY AND ASSET IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The council’s General Fund has a property portfolio valued at £176.2m as at 
31 March 2025 of which £69m is classified as investment properties (held 
solely for rental income and/or capital appreciation). A key strand of the 
Council’s financial strategies is to maximise income from its assets, where 
possible, and seek to manage risk by achieving a balanced portfolio of assets.  

5.2 A key area of focus within TC25 is the use of the property portfolio to drive 
additional income sources.  Opportunities to make the best use of vacant 
properties and maximising rents are being actively explored.  The progress of 
this work is being reported to the Property Board quarterly. 

6 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION  

Page 66



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

6.1 Stakeholder engagement is an important part of the council’s budget planning 
process.  Feedback from the regular Residents’ Survey provides opinion on 
local priorities; views on emerging policy; and the relative perceived 
importance of council services.  This insight helps the council to take financial 
decisions; to plan and manage budgets; and to use its financial resources to 
support delivery of priorities.  

Budget consultation 2026/27  

6.2 The Chief Financial Officer attended the January meeting of the Chamber of 
Commerce and Winchester BID’s Winchester and District Business Strategy 
Group to present an overview of the financial position of the council, along 
with details of the budget proposals for 2026 and beyond.   

6.3 The Scrutiny Committee discussed the Budget Options and Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy report (CAB3522) and raised several queries including 
clarification of the £2.28m estimated Local Government Reorganisation costs; 
projected rental income risks; and whether the solar PV programme could be 
accelerated. Concern was raised about the deteriorating condition of the 
former River Park Leisure Centre site and the need for provisions to secure 
and maintain the area; questions about TC25 delivering only half of its £3m 
annual savings target and suggestions to recommit to the programme while 
protecting local benefits ahead of LGR; alongside concerns that a proposed 
long‑term grounds maintenance contract represented a continuation of the 
status quo.  This budget has been prepared considering all these points. 

6.4 Scrutiny Committee is due to consider this report at its meeting on 10 
February 2026, after this report has been dispatched.  Any matters that the 
Scrutiny Committee wishes to raise or asks the Cabinet to note before making 
their decision will be reported and considered fully at the Cabinet meeting. 

7 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 

7.1 The Council Plan recognises one of the main challenges facing the district as 
“the climate emergency and the pressing need to reduce the Winchester 
district’s carbon footprint.” In response, an enhanced focus has been given to 
going greener faster. The main areas of activity are reducing carbon 
emissions; ensuring environmental resilience; reducing energy demand; and 
increasing renewable energy.  

7.2 It is recognised that significant investment will be required to achieve carbon 
neutrality targets and that this must be balanced against the challenging 
budget conditions being faced by all local authorities.   

7.3 The MTFS includes a £200,000 per annum baseline revenue budget to fund 
carbon programme delivery work. 

7.4 As well as these revenue resources, a total budget of £2m over 4 years, 
provisionally funded by prudential borrowing, has been allocated in the capital 
programme for energy management projects that would at least cover their 

Page 67



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

financing costs. These projects may, for example, include further provision of 
solar panels to council properties and local business; further EV charging 
infrastructure; and other interventions to reduce energy usage.  In addition, 
projects within the capital programme that are not primarily for carbon 
reduction must consider the council’s Greener Faster objective where 
possible; for example, the design of a building may include elements to 
ensure a sustainable and energy efficient building such as high-performance 
insulation and solar PV, and several capital grants have been made to 
community groups and small businesses for the installation of solar PV.  

8 PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY    

8.1 The council, in the exercise of all its functions, must have due regard to the 
Public Sector Equality Duty in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. The 
content of this report is part of the budget consultation process, and the 
requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty are considered alongside any 
relevant budget options put forward. 

8.2 The Medium-Term Financial Strategy is an overarching framework relating to 
financial resources and priorities at a very high level. A full Equality Impact 
Assessment will be undertaken for each proposed service change or proposal 
that aligns to the principles included in this MTFS to highlight the potential 
equality impacts.   

9 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

9.1 All projects set out in this report and the Capital Programme will be subject to 
individual data protection impact assessments. 

9.2 The council has continuing ambitions to improve the experience of our 
customers and make services more accessible and efficient using digital 
transformation.  A key strand of the transformation under TC25 is digitalising 
services for the majority of customers, so telephone and face-to-face services 
can be prioritised for those vulnerable customers who really need them.  
Technological innovation and digitalisation change the risks the council faces 
in keeping data secure.   Data security considerations and date protection 
impact assessments will be undertaken for individual projects as they are 
scoped and developed. 

9.3 In accordance with our existing Data Protection Policy, The Council will 
continue to regard the lawful and correct treatment of personal information as 
very important, in order to maintain confidence between us and the people we 
deal with. We ensure that the Council treats personal information lawfully and 
correctly, with due regard to the rights and freedoms of individuals. 

10 RISK MANAGEMENT  

Risk  Mitigation Opportunities 

Property   

Page 68



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

Risk  Mitigation Opportunities 

Commercial tenants 
unable to pay rents or 
subject to business 
failure. 
 
 
 
 
Slowdown in commercial 
property investment, 
meaning that the 
council’s development 
schemes achieve less 
interest or less income 
than expected. 

Close monitoring of rent 
position by property 
team with support to 
tenants through 
effective working 
relationships.   
 
The council’s advisors 
are reviewing the 
property investment 
market and will provide 
advice as to timing of 
any marketing. 
 

Potential to increase 
commercial property 
income when rent 
reviews are carried 
out. 

Legal 
The council is unable to 
balance the revenue 
budget resulting in the 
issuing of a S114 notice. 
 

 
Proposals set out in this 
report, including the 
strategy for 
management of 
reserves mitigate 
against this.   

 
Present a balanced 
budget in difficult 
circumstances. 

Timescales 
An economic 
environment which may 
impact on income 
received by the council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Local Government 
Reorganisation (LGR) – 
failure to budget 
effectively and ensure 
sufficient resources are 
available to support both 
ongoing baseline 
requirements and one-off 
revenue projects. 
 

 
The council has set 
aside an Exceptional 
Inflation reserve of £1m 
to mitigate higher than 
expected inflation and 
an economic 
environment which may 
impact on income. 
Other uncommitted 
revenue reserves are 
available to support 
further increases to the 
projected deficit.  
 
 
Production of forward 
looking 10-year financial 
projections including 
reserve forecasts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Being part of a larger 
unitary authority will 
present new 
opportunities for both 
funding and further 
efficiencies. 

Page 69



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

Risk  Mitigation Opportunities 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial  
The council is unable to 
balance the revenue 
budget. 
 
 
 
 
Risk of lower than 
projected demand for 
income generating 
services. 
 
 
 

 
Proposals set out in this 
report, including the 
strategy for 
management of 
reserves mitigate 
against this.   
 
The council has 
uncommitted revenue 
reserves available 
which can be utilised as 
a last resort as above. 

 
Streamlining of 
services and 
digitalisation provides 
opportunities to 
improve the customer 
experience as well as 
making savings. 

 
 
11 SUPPORTING INFORMATION: 

11.1 As set out in the November Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) report 
(CAB3522), the financial pressures faced by local authorities remain very 
challenging. Projections have now been updated and the new Medium-Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) is set out in appendix B and summarised below. 

Local Government Reorganisation 

11.2 The Government published its English Devolution White Paper on 16 
December 2024 setting out a programme of devolution and Local Government 
reorganisation across England.   
 

11.3 The Government’s programme for devolution and reorganisation of local 
government will have significant implications for the budgets of all existing 
local authorities in the county of Hampshire.   
 

11.4 This budget has been prepared on the basis that the council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) is required as-is for the delivery of services to 
Winchester residents for the foreseeable future.  
 

11.5 The development and implementation of proposals for both Devolution and 
Local Government Reorganisation are expected to have significant one off 

Page 70



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

resourcing implications for the council and will be considered in future budget 
reports, once there is some clarity on plans. 

 
Local Government Finance Settlement and the economic outlook 

11.6 The provisional settlement details were received from the Ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) on 17 December. 
This settlement will result in more redistribution of funding within the sector 
than any other settlement in the last 25 years. Funding distribution was last 
updated in 2013-14 and, since 2020, has been via a series of one-year 
settlements. The potential for redistribution was significant, even if the only 
changes had been to update key datasets and council tax levels.  
 

11.7 For 2026/27, Government have brought in the long-promised full baseline 
reset of business rates (for the first time since the BRRS was introduced in 
2013-14); major changes to all the Relative Needs Formulas (RNFs); and the 
simplification of many grants into either SFA or into one of four Consolidated 
Grants. However, this is a 3-year settlement, which gives certainty in the 
second and third year of the settlement. Each of these latter two years will still 
be subject to an annual settlement process, but any changes will be upwards, 
with the 3-year settlement representing a minimum level of funding. However, 
the lateness of the 2026-27 settlement - and the lack of certainty about its 
outcome - effectively means that authorities have had no certainty in advance 
of budget setting for this coming year.  
 

11.8 The provisional settlement is in line with the November MTFS estimates for 
the three years 2026/27 to 2028/29 but this relies heavily on damping, 
whereas the November MTFS did not include any short-term damping 
funding.  In 2028/29 damping funding of £2.394m is due to be received and 
this reflects the long-term reduction of funding over and above the forecasts 
within the MTFS.  
 

11.9 Forecast deficits from 2029/30 are significantly increased compared to the 
November MTFS. This is due to changes in government plans (districts saw 
significant reductions in the settlement) and the latest forecast assumes no 
food waste new burdens. This results in a 2029/30 forecast deficit of £3.66m 
compared to the £1.85m forecast in the November MTFS.  However, 2028/29 
forecasts are for after the Government’s planned LGR implementation date, 
so will be considered by the new unitary council as part of preparing their 
Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 

11.10 Council chief financial officers (CFOs) must set a balanced budget for the 
financial year ahead and this report focusses on the budget for 2026/27. 
 

11.11 The MTFP is showing a sound and stable position for Winchester for the next 
two financial years through to April 2028.   
 
 
 

Page 71



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Budget surplus / 
(shortfall) 

0.000 (0.153) (1.477) (3.658) (3.560) 

Table 2 Medium Term Financial Forecast 

 
12 Forecast outturn position for 2025/26. 

12.1 The latest forecast for the 2025/26 general fund budget is a surplus of 
£1.881m and is due to be reported in the Quarter 3 Performance Report. Out 
of the forecast surplus, £0.846m is related to the additional Extended 
Producer Responsibility funding confirmed for 2025/26. The forecast surplus 
is the net of a number of forecast favourable and adverse income and 
expenditure variances, relating to services. 
 

12.2 Adverse service variances relate to;  
 

a) Increased Utility costs - £150,000 
b) Reduced Guildhall Income - £60,000 
c) Parking overtime costs - £30,000 
 

12.3 Favourable service variances relate to;  
 

a) Employees - £400,000 – relating to lower than budgeted pay inflation and 
additional vacancy management savings 

b) TC25 - £310,000 – additional in-year savings which are also recognised as 
ongoing baseline savings from 2026/27 

c) Car Parking income higher than forecasted - £200,000 
d) Savings against the planned price of purchasing Hydrotreated Vegetable 

Oil (HVO) for vehicles not yet fully electric - £160,000 
 

12.4 The forecast surplus for 2025/26 is assumed in the MTFP (appendix 1) as 
being transferred to the Major Investment Reserve.  
 

13 Update on Transformation Challenge 2025 (TC25) 

13.1 The organisation-wide TC25 transformation programme has continued to 
successfully deliver savings.  A further net £0.056m of ongoing savings have 
been removed from the revenue budget set out in appendix 1.  This is over-
and-above those reported in the November 2025 General Fund Budget 
Options and Medium Term Financial Strategy report (CAB3522) and they are 
summarised below: 
 

 

Review  
Budget 

Reduction 

Courier Van lease £5,000 

HR savings £3,000 

Public Health Burials £5,000 

Page 72



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

Review  
Budget 

Reduction 

Bar end forecast delisting (tbc) – NNDR saving £100,000 

Less: Reduction in community grants savings -£57,000 

Total.  £56,000 

 

 
 

13.2 To date, TC25 has secured total budget reductions of £1,675,000 (£927,000 
identified prior to this report, of which £857,000 was reported in February 
2025, CAB3494). 
 

14 Changes since the draft budget proposals in the MTFS 

14.1 Taking in mind the feedback from Scrutiny Committee’s review of the MTFS 
paper in November (where comments were predominately focused on the 
medium term forecast deficits and the measures being taken to address 
those) the draft budget options and assumptions were approved by Cabinet 
on 19 November and the budget has been prepared in accordance with those 
as set out in the MTFS report. 

14.2 Since the MTFS was approved in November, the following adjustments have 
been made to the proposals in this paper. 

Council Tax increase: 

a) An inflation-linked increase to council tax of 2.95% equating to an increase 
of £4.83 for the Winchester City Council share of a band D property.  This 
lower increase will allow a slightly higher increase in the “Town” precept, 
required to meet additional funding pressures on the Town account. 

Service expenditure: 

b) A net budget pressure of £130,000 to reflect the net cost of the migration 
of the Land Charges service to HM Land Registry. 

c) A growth of £89,000 from 2026/27 for improvements to our customers’ 
digital experience.  

d) A growth of £30,000 from 2026/27 to increase the Town Account tree 
maintenance budget as a result of risks associated with the effects of 
climate change and associated tree disease. 

One-off budgets: 

14.3 An additional one-off budget of £470,000 has been included for the Digital 
Customer Experience (Digital CX) project.  Following extensive discovery 
work, this project is in a position to procure a CRM and digital telephony 
platform to improve council customers’ experience of interacting with us or 
requesting services digitally.  Existing forms of digital contact with the council 
can be ‘clunky’, slow, and frustrating for users.  This project aims to make 

Page 73



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

quick, easy, 24/7 digital services; bringing us in-line with many of our 
neighbouring authorities (including potential LGR partners) and preparing our 
systems and workforce for a smooth transition to a new Unitary Authority. It 
supports delivery of our Digital Strategy by modernising core customer-facing 
systems and enabling consistent, user-centred digital services across the 
organisation. 

14.4 This project will bring in a modern cloud-based platform that connects 
systems end-to-end, so customers can book, pay, and get updates online 
easily.  It aims to save time, cut costs, reduce carbon, and provide a smooth, 
more efficient experience for those whose prefer digital channels.  A modern 
system will also free up customer service support to help those who need 
face-to-face or telephone support to access services. 

14.5 A revenue budget of £1.7m has been included for essential works to the 
Guildhall. This is part of a package of capital and revenue works totalling £5m 
and identified in a recent condition survey. The forecast revenue costs are: 

• Roof Repairs  £600k 

• Stonework Repairs £300k 

• Window Repairs  £300k 

• Internal Decorations £200k 

• External Decorations £100k 

• Professional Fees £100k 

• Carpets   £100k 

 
TC25 savings: 

14.6 There are adjustments included in the budget in appendix A for the savings 
achieved to date under TC25 and revised operational budget. 

15 Transfers to / from reserves 

15.1 Reserves play a major role in the Council’s overall financial stability. They 
ensure that funding is available over the medium term to support major one-
off expenditure covering areas such as major projects, the repair and 
maintenance of Council assets, risk management, and for the management of 
certain government funding such as Homelessness. 
 

15.2 The estimates shown in Appendix 1 assume there will be no draws from 
reserves in order to meet ongoing expenditure. However, risk reserves are 
available to support the TC25 programme where required and also could act 
as a temporary buffer against the risk of changes in government funding, such 
as a reset of business rates retention. 
 

15.3 The most significant reserve balance, outside of CIL, is the “Transitional 
Reserve” which was established 6 years ago. This reserve has an 

Page 74



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

uncommitted balance of c£8m and has the dual purpose of supporting the 
critical transformation and digitalisation investment required in order to deliver 
the required future baseline budget savings; and also acting as a temporary 
buffer should savings take longer to deliver than had originally been planned.  
Going forward, this reserve will be the first funding source for the council’s 
contribution towards the implementation costs of LGR. 

 
15.4 It should be noted that major projects and regeneration work is usually funded 

from the Major Investment Reserve. With existing commitments, there is only 
just over £4.3m remaining in that reserve and all future business cases for 
regeneration work will need to take this into account (a clearer and stronger 
focus on financial viability). Whilst many costs can be capitalised and funded 
from borrowing if works proceed, upfront investment has been high for 
previous projects, arguably with insufficient focus on cost recovery. 

15.5 The following baseline change in contributions to earmarked reserves is 
included within this paper: 

a) An increase in contribution to the property reserve (assets) from £500,000 
to £900,000 per annum. This takes into account forecast maintenance 
requirements over the next 10 years. 

15.6 The following one-off transfers within earmarked reserves are included within 
this paper: 

a) A transfer of £2,000,000 from the Major Investment Reserve to the 
Property Reserve to support Asset Management expenditure plans. 

b) A transfer of £1,000,000 from the major investment reserve to the Car 
Parks Property Reserve in order to support capital expenditure plans. 

16 Collection Fund 

16.1 Council Tax - Regulations require the Council to approve the collection fund 
balance at 31 March, calculated at 15 January preceding. For council tax a 
surplus of £873,566 is forecast for 2025/26, to be distributed in 2026/27. This 
is shared between the County Council (£624,680), the Police & Crime 
Commissioner (£106,890), the Fire & Rescue Authority (£34,086) and this 
Council (£107,910).  

16.2 The council tax referendum limits on precept increases have been confirmed 
at 2.99% or £5, whichever is higher. Central Government spending power 
projections assume that all authorities will increase their precepts by the 
maximum amount. 

16.3 The council could consider not increasing council tax in 2026 or setting a 
lower increase than the 2.5% baseline assumption in CAB3522 Budget 
Options report in November.  Given the increasing deficits forecast it is 
recommended that council tax be increased by the below-inflation amount of 

Page 75



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

2.95%.  This increase would allow a slightly higher increase in the “Town” 
precept, required to meet additional funding pressures on the Town account.  

16.4 Therefore, to assist in addressing medium term budget requirements, the 
proposed budget set out in Appendix A assumes a 2.95% increase in council 
tax for the district along with a town forum recommended increase of 5% for 
the Winchester town area, in 2026/27. 

16.5 The current level of tax for the district is £163.66 (Band D equivalent). The 
proposed tax for 2026/27 is £168.49, an increase of £4.83. 

16.6 In considering the level of district tax, regard must be had to the tax for the 
town area in order to ensure that the overall increase does not exceed the 
referendum limits. 

16.7 The current level of tax for the town is £90.08 (Band D equiv.). An increase of 
5% would increase this to £94.58. 

16.8 The council is required to present a council tax resolution document to the 
Council meeting for final approval of all precepts and council budgets for 
2026/27. The current precept table is awaiting confirmation from a number of 
parishes who have their budget meetings in late January so a precept table 
will be dispatched for the Council meeting. 

17 Winchester Town Charge – Section 35 

17.1 In accordance with Section 35 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 the 
council has taken the decision in previous years to treat all expenses of the 
council as general expenses other than those identified as special expenses. 
The council endorsed this policy in February 2024. 

17.2 Special expenses are costs incurred for the provision of an amenity or service 
that is primarily for the benefit of one locality. In the Winchester district these 
expenses are levied by the council to cover the costs of local services in the 
Winchester “Town” area which elsewhere would be dealt with by parish 
councils. 

17.3 The services currently covered by special expenses are listed in Appendix D. 

17.4 It is recommended that the policy as previously agreed by the council on 14 
July 1999 (minute 186) and confirmed in the budget and council tax report for 
2025/26 is endorsed again. This is to treat all expenses of the council as 
general expenses other than those specifically identified and itemised in the 
Winchester Town Account. In consequence of which the sum of £1,434,779 
will be treated as Special Expenses under Section 35 of the Local 
Government Finance Act, 1992 in respect of the Winchester “Town” area, 
summarised in Appendix D. 

Page 76



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

17.5 The Winchester Town Forum met on 22 January 2026 and recommended the 
budget which is set out in Appendix D, including a proposal that the town 
precept increases by 5%. 

18 Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) 

18.1 Council approved on 14 January 2026 that ‘All Armed Forces compensation 
and War Pension income is fully disregarded when assessing eligibility or 
award levels for Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP). 

18.2 In the event of the DHP fund being exhausted, consideration will need to be 
given to a top up from reserves. 

19 Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme – revised income bands for 2026/27 

19.1 To reflect the inflationary increases of the economy, the government will 
increase working age benefits (most elements of Universal Credit and 
Housing Benefit (applicable amounts)) by CPI at 3.8% with effect from 1 April 
2026.  Considering this change, and following similar analysis last year, it is 
necessary to review the income bands within the council’s local CTR scheme 
for working age applicants. 

19.2 The income bands are set to ensure that the majority of people on the 
standard rates of Universal Credit receive sufficient assistance with their 
Council Tax liability.  This rate is set at 100%. Claimants in receipt of the 
enhanced rate of Universal Credit due to disability generally receive CTR of 
75% of their Council Tax liability. 

19.3 Income bands have been revised to ensure that CTR for the majority of 
working age applicants continue to receive a similar level of support through 
2026/27. While the scheme aims to protect vulnerable households and limit 
reductions in entitlement, additional safeguards remain in place for those 
experiencing exceptional hardship. Any claimant who experiences hardship 
following the award of CTR may apply for support from the Exceptional 
Hardship Fund. Applications are assessed on an individual basis, taking 
account of household income and essential expenditure.  

19.4 It is recommended that the council’s CTR scheme for working age applicants 
is approved for amendment to take account of the proposed changes 
described above, with effect from 1 April 2026. A copy of the new proposed 
income bands for 2026/27 can be viewed at Appendix E. 

20 Exceptional Hardship Fund for 2026/27 

20.1 As referred to at section 18.3, any CTR claimant suffering with financial 
difficulties can apply for assistance through the council’s Exceptional Hardship 
Fund. This will be met by using the existing balance of funding from 2025/26 
(currently £45k) carried forward to 2026/27. 

Page 77



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

20.2 Eligible applicants will receive a further reduction to their council tax liability. 
This fund exists for the benefit of all Council Tax payers, regardless of 
whether they are in receipt of CTR, or not. This ensures that anyone who has 
dropped out of, or is ineligible for CTR, has support available to them when 
their income sits on the boundaries of the income bands within the CTR 
scheme. 

21 Debt Write-Off 

21.1 The Council adopts a robust but supportive approach to managing debt. 
Formally writing off debt is always only considered a last resort. As a result, 
some older debts remain in the accounts for as long as it is considered a 
possibility to recover them (including the completion of administration 
decisions in the event of business closure). However, there are a small 
number of debts which should now be written off.  

NNDR Debts 
 

21.2 There are three debts included at Appendix F, for uncollected Non-Domestic 
Rates. Cabinet approval for the write-off of these debts is sought in 
accordance with Financial Procedure Rule 12.7(f), as there are no longer 
options available to the council to recover any payment. The debts have all 
gone through an insolvency process, of one variation or another. 

 
21.3 This is a summary of the debts. Further details are contained in Appendix F: 

 

 

Sundry Debts 
 

21.4 Cabinet is asked to approve the write-off debt of £53,649.94 owed by 
Provident Asset Management.  The debts are in connection with rent arrears 
of £27,649.94 and dilapidation liabilities for external repairs of £26,000.  The 
tenant has agreed to pay a further £49,000 of dilapidation liabilities, and 
settling this case will expedite finalising a new lease with a new tenant and 
bringing the building back into use. 

22 Earmarked Reserves 

22.1 The strategy for managing reserves was set out in CAB3522 in November 
2025 and forms part of the overall Medium Term Financial Strategy that was 
approved as part of that report.  

Page 78



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

22.2 Total General Fund earmarked reserves, including proposals in this paper, 
are forecast to reduce from £49.5m at 1 April 2025 to £28.9m at 31 March 
2028 (detailed in appendix C). The forecast closing balances (as at 31 March 
2028) of key earmarked reserves are summarised below; 

(i) Operational reserves (£6.7m), significantly the major investment 
reserve, are revenue reserves which can be used to support revenue or 
capital expenditure, for example major projects. 

(ii) Risk reserves (£10.7m), such as business rates retention, are available 
to mitigate risks faced by the council. The overall levels are reviewed 
each year in line with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

(iii) Asset reserves (£2.4m), such as the asset management reserve, are 
used to maintain existing council assets and are supported by spending 
plans such as the asset management plan. 

(iv) Restricted reserves (£9.2m), such as the Community Infrastructure 
Levy, can only be used for restricted purposes and therefore must be 
considered separately to other reserves which can be used for wider 
purposes. 

22.3 Within the risk reserves subheading is the Transitional Reserve which was 
established by council as part of the 2021/22 budget to initially mitigate the 
risk of future budget shortfalls and then later to also fund the council’s 
transformation programme.  The balance in this reserve is forecast to 
increase through 2025/26 as TC25 savings and forecast surplus year-end 
balance are set aside to re-invest in the delivery of the transformation 
programme.  However, this reserve will be the first funding source for the 
council’s contribution towards the implementation costs of LGR.  Whilst the 
amount of the necessary contribution is yet to be estimated, it is almost 
certain this will be multiple millions of pounds, leaving none for further 
investment by the existing council.  

23 Balances / risk reserves 

23.1 The Council also maintains a general balance which is held to mitigate 
against any potential financial risks. These could be known risks or completely 
unforeseeable risks. The current balance of £3.5m gives additional cushioning 
particularly against the uncertainty of government funding over the medium-
term projections. 

23.2 A minimum balance of £1m is held within the business rates retention reserve 
in order to provide mitigation against the short term risks of a reduction in 
income, for example an unexpected increase in successful appeals. 

24 Adequacy of reserves and robustness of estimates 

24.1 There are specific requirements under Section 25 of the Local Government 
Act, 2003, for the Chief Financial Officer to provide a positive assurance 

Page 79



  CAB3541 
 

 

 

statement about the adequacy of proposed financial reserves and the 
robustness of estimates made for the purposes of the budget calculation. 

24.2 Reserves are detailed in this report and specific comment is made on the 
most significant balances. The general fund working balance is discussed 
above and is considered to be adequate. 

24.3 When considering the robustness of estimates for the budget calculation for 
the current year, savings and increased income proposals included in the 
budget must be considered to be achievable. Considerable savings have 
been achieved to date, and the recent experience has been that 
compensating savings have been found to cover unforeseen growth 
pressures. The purpose of reserves, in particular the general fund working 
balance, is to provide a cushion for these variations. 

24.4 The S151 officer can provide positive assurance on the robustness of the 
estimates, within the context of the overall budget and reserve levels, for the 
purpose of the budget calculations for the next year. 

25 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED  

25.1 Consideration has been given to not increasing Council tax in 2026/27.  
However, it should be noted that the Government settlement and resulting 
forecasts still indicate increasing deficits in future years and therefore this 
cannot be recommended. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:- 

Previous Committee Reports:- 

CAB3522 General Fund Budget Options & Medium-term Financial Strategy dated 19 
November 2025 
CAB3494 General Fund Budget 2025/26 dated 12 February 2025 
CAB3495 Capital Investment Strategy 2025-2035 dated 12 February 2025 
CAB3514 General Fund Outturn 2024/25 dated 10 September 2025 

Other Background Documents:- 

None 

APPENDICES: 

Appendix A:  General Fund Medium Term Financial Projections 

Appendix B: Summary of Budget Proposals 

Appendix C:  Reserves 

Appendix D:  Winchester Town Account 

Appendix E:  Revised 2025/26 CTR Income Bands 

Appendix F: NNDR Write-offs 

Page 80



 CAB3541
Appendix A (Revised)

Council Tax Base 1.2% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8%
Council Tax - Band D £ 2.7% 2.95% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%
Contractual Inflation 4.0% 4.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Pay Inflation 4.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
General Fund Revenue (£m) Budget Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

2025/26 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35
Council Tax (excluding Parish Precepts) 10.347 10.347 10.873 11.353 11.854 12.377 12.923 13.493 14.089 14.711 15.360
Retained Business Rates 7.931 7.931 4.695 5.188 5.698 6.193 6.654 5.443 5.606 5.774 5.947
Hampshire Pooling Forecast 1.250 1.055
Revenue Support Grant 0.212 0.212 7.046 5.234 3.375 3.476 3.581 3.688 3.799 3.913 4.030
Adjustment Support Grant 1.333
New Homes Bonus 1.811 1.811
Employers National Insurance increase Funding 0.200 0.153
3% Guarantee 0.575 0.575
Damping Forecast 1.161 2.394
Introduction of Food Waste
Extended Producer Responsibility Allowance 0.834 1.680 1.680 1.512 1.361 1.225 1.102 0.992 0.893 0.804 0.723
Homelessness Funding 0.878 0.878 0.846 0.905 0.910 0.910 0.910 0.910 0.910 0.910 0.910
New Burdens Funding 0.081 0.199 0.119 0.119 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

24.119 24.841 26.592 25.472 25.592 24.181 25.170 24.526 25.296 26.111 26.971

Investment Activity 2.110 2.510 1.392 1.355 0.951 1.169 1.437 1.404 1.367 1.330 1.364
Resources available 26.229 27.351 27.984 26.827 26.543 25.350 26.607 25.930 26.664 27.441 28.335

Baseline Net Expenditure
Gross Income 17.674 17.524 17.319 17.061 17.111 17.320 17.375 17.380 17.435 17.467 17.500
Gross Expenditure -38.055 -37.247 -41.191 -42.376 -43.495 -44.735 -46.012 -47.326 -48.680 -50.074 -51.461 

Baseline resource requirements -20.381 -19.723 -23.872 -25.315 -26.385 -27.415 -28.637 -29.947 -31.245 -32.607 -33.961 

One-off net expenditure -4.015 -7.668 -6.001 -5.113 -0.451 -0.406 -0.460 -1.795 -1.090 -1.077 -1.045 
Reserve Related Movements -1.832 0.041 1.888 3.449 -1.184 -1.187 -1.071 0.265 -0.440 -0.453 -0.485 
Total net resource requirements -26.229 -27.350 -27.984 -26.980 -28.020 -29.008 -30.167 -31.477 -32.775 -34.137 -35.491 

Budget Surplus / (Shortfall) -0.000 0.000 0.000 -0.153 -1.477 -3.658 -3.560 -5.546 -6.112 -6.697 -7.157 

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CAB3541
Appendix B

Baseline Revenue Proposals

General Fund Revenue (£m) 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29
Budget Growth
Increased Utility costs -0.150 -0.150 -0.150 -0.150 
Democratic Services costs -0.085 -0.085 -0.085 
Corporate Head of Resources -0.115 -0.115 -0.115 
Additional annual contribution to the Asset Management Reserve -0.500 -0.500 -0.500 
Town Council - removal of Democtratic Support and Community Safety -0.085 -0.085 
Migration of Land Charges services -0.130 -0.130 -0.130 
CRM System baseline net cost increases -0.089 -0.089 -0.089 
Winchester Town - Tree Works -0.060 -0.030 -0.030 -0.030 
Reduced Guildhall Income - closure of Bapsy Hall -0.060 
Parking Overtime -0.030 

-0.300 -1.099 -1.184 -1.184 
Budget Options / Savings
Employers Pension Contribution reduced from 18% to 15.9% 0.300 0.300 0.300
Central car parking charges only - increase by inflation 0.085 0.150 0.150
Lower than budgeted HVO costs (Waste & Recycling) 0.160
Employees - Vacancy Management, forecast savings of £0.8m (4%) vs 
£0.4m (2%) budget 0.400

Increase in Garage maintenance budgets, linked to TC25 savings option -0.120 -0.120 -0.120 
*Total TC25 Savings (in addition to those approved Feb 2025) 0.300 0.690 0.740 0.748

0.860 0.955 1.070 1.078
Baseline Budget Proposals 0.560 -0.144 -0.114 -0.106 

One-off Proposals
CGR - funding and implementation costs 0.300
LGR - readiness cost / implementation cost 1.175 1.105
Digital Transformation 0.400
Winchester Town - Speed camera feasibility study 0.015
Guildhall Design Works 0.050

One-off Budget Proposals 0.050 1.890 1.105 0.000

Forecasts

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CAB3541
Appendix C (Revised)

GENERAL FUND EARMARKED RESERVES (£000) 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 2035/36
Outturn

OPERATIONAL RESERVES
Major Investment Reserve (8,401) (8,278) (5,554) (4,279) (4,279) (4,279) (4,279) (4,279) (4,279) (4,279) (4,279) (4,279)
Community Grants & Commissions (289) (198) (198) (198) (198) (198) (198) (198) (198) (198) (198) (198)
Cost of Living / Healthy Communities (166) (151) (151) (151) (151) (151) (151) (151) (151) (151) (151) (151)
Digital Transformation (400) (400)
Greener Faster (214) (214) (214) (214) (214) (214) (214) (214) (214) (214) (214) (214)
Future of Waste (889) (375) (375) (375) (375) (375) (375) (375) (375) (375) (375) (375)
Landscape Mitigation (8) (6) (4)
Local Development Framework (LDF) (980) (723) (593) (254) (254) (254) (254) (254) (254) (254) (254) (254)
New Burdens - Ukraine (1,276)
New Burdens - Homelessness (1,381) (1,093) (949) (949) (949) (949) (949) (949) (949) (949) (949) (949)
Thriving Places (101) (291) (291) (291) (291) (291) (291) (291) (291) (291) (291) (291)
Regeneration (52) () () () () () () () () () () ()

(14,157) (11,729) (8,329) (6,711) (6,711) (6,711) (6,711) (6,711) (6,711) (6,711) (6,711) (6,711)
ASSET RESERVES
Property - Asset Management Reserve (5,548) (5,807) (5,199) (1,290) (1,720) (2,196) (2,571) (1,863) (1,663) (1,463) (1,263) (753)
Car Parks Property (2,647) (1,912) (707) (522) (592) (662) (652) (722) (792) (862) (932) (1,002)
Information Management and Technology (693) (668) (548) (603) (520) (645) (639) (603) (822) (864) (1,078) (1,283)

(8,887) (8,387) (6,454) (2,415) (2,831) (3,502) (3,862) (3,188) (3,277) (3,189) (3,273) (3,038)
RESTRICTED RESERVES
S106 (Interest) (510) (510) (510) (510) (510) (510) (510) (510) (510) (510) (510) (510)
Community Infrastructure Levy - General Fund (13,429) (9,867) (8,642) (7,992) (7,992) (7,992) (7,992) (7,992) (7,992) (7,992) (7,992) (7,992)
Community Infrastructure Levy - Winchester Town (827) (332) (332) (332) (332) (332) (332) (332) (332) (332) (332) (332)
Winchester Town Reserve (310) (200) (195) (313) (435) (605) (605) (605) (605) (605) (605) (605)

(15,075) (10,908) (9,678) (9,146) (9,268) (9,438) (9,438) (9,438) (9,438) (9,438) (9,438) (9,438)
RISK RESERVES
Municipal Mutual Insurance (139) (139) (139) (139) (139) (139) (139) (139) (139) (139) (139) (139)
Transitional Reserve (7,408) (9,636) (8,923) (7,781) (7,781) (7,781) (7,781) (7,781) (7,781) (7,781) (7,781) (7,781)
Exceptional Inflation Pressures (2,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000)
Homelessness Prevention (1,000) (750) (750) (750) (750) (750) (750) (750) (750) (750) (750)
Business Rates Retention (1,838) (2,880) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000)

(11,385) (14,655) (11,812) (10,670) (10,670) (10,670) (10,670) (10,670) (10,670) (10,670) (10,670) (10,670)
Total General Fund Earmarked Reserves (49,504) (45,679) (36,273) (28,942) (29,480) (30,321) (30,681) (30,007) (30,096) (30,008) (30,092) (29,857)

General Fund Balance 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500

Usable Capital Receipts Reserve - General Fund (2,986) (3,869) (1,849) (1,849) (1,849) (1,849) (1,849) (1,849) (1,849) (1,849) (1,849) (1,849)

2
Forecast Closing Balances

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CAB3541

WINCHESTER TOWN ACCOUNT - Medium Term Forecasts

2025/2026 
Forecast

2026/2027 
Forecast

2027/28 
Forecast

2028/29 
Forecast

2029/30 
Forecast

Assumptions:
Contract inflation 4% 4% 3% 3% 3%
Utilities 5% 5% 5% 5% 5%
Percentage increase in tax 5.5% 5% 3% 3% 3%
Tax Base 15,143 15,170 15,443 15,721 16,004 

£ £ £ £ £

Cost of Services

Recurring Budgets:

Allotments (4,000) (4,000) (4,000) (4,000) (4,000)

Bus Shelter Cleaning / Maintenance / New Provision 5,000 

Cemeteries 91,199 97,345 102,222 107,252 112,439 

Christmas Lights 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 

Neighbourhood Service Officers (Contribution) 45,000 45,000 45,000 45,000 45,000 

Footway Lighting 32,607 33,536 34,513 35,538 36,614 

Grants and Vision Delivery 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 

Support Costs for Grant Scheme 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 

Maintenance Work to Council Owned Bridges 5,500 5,500 5,500 5,500 5,500 

Night Bus Contribution 3,500 

Public Conveniences (Contribution) 50,000 82,000 84,460 86,994 89,604 

Recreation Grounds & Open Spaces 908,691 934,153 956,208 978,944 1,002,383 

BUDGET GROWTH - Tree Works 60,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 

Town Forum Support 17,500 18,025 18,566 19,123 19,696 

One-off Budgets:

Additional grant 2025/26 2,500 
Speed Camera Fesibility Study 15,000 

Total Recurring Budgets 1,286,997 1,326,060 1,341,968 1,373,850 1,406,736 

Total Cost of Services 1,286,997 1,326,060 1,341,968 1,373,850 1,406,736 

Taxation and Non-specific grant income

Council Tax Income (1,364,045) (1,434,779) (1,504,308) (1,577,134) (1,653,535)

Interest on Balances (8,951) (5,994) (5,835) (9,380) (13,060)
Total Taxation and Non-specific grant income (1,372,996) (1,440,772) (1,510,143) (1,586,514) (1,666,595)

Transfers to/(from) Earmarked reserves
Reserves (86,000) (114,712) (168,175) (212,665) (259,859)
Capital Expenditure funded by Town Reserve 110,000 120,000 50,000 90,000 90,000 
Reserve

Opening Reserve Balance (at 1st April) (223,785) (199,785) (194,497) (312,673) (435,337)

Closing Reserve Balance (carried forward) (199,785) (194,497) (312,673) (435,337) (605,196)

Closing Reserves forecast as % of net expenditure 16% 15% 23% 32% 43%

1

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



CAB3541 - Appendix E 

2026/27 Council Tax Reduction Income Bands

These tables show the Universal Credit (UC) rates for the current financial year (2025/26) and the new financial year (2026/27), as determined by the Department for Work
& Pensions (DWP)

UC Standard Allowance
% Inflationary 

Increase
Monthly Weekly Monthly Weekly

Single 400.14£     92.34£     424.90£     98.05£     6.2%

Couple 628.10£     144.95£     666.97£     153.92£     6.2%

First child 339.00£     78.23£     351.88£     81.20£     3.8%
Second Child 292.81£     67.57£     303.94£     70.14£     3.8%

Disabled child 495.87£     114.43£     514.71£     118.78£     3.8%

LCFW* - existing claimants 423.27£     97.68£     429.80£     99.18£     1.5%
LCFW* - new claimants 
from 2026/27 423.37£     217.26£     50.14£     -48.7%

*Limited capability for work

This table compares the current income bands (for 2025/26), and proposed new income bands (for 2026/27), with the Universal Credit (UC) rates for 2026/27,
as determind by the Department for Work & Pensions (DWP). It highlights where the "New UC rate" will exceed the current income band due to the government's uprating
of benefits (to reflect inflation), and the proposal by Winchester City Council to address that imbalance in the adjustments to the "Proposed Income Band" for 2026/2027.

CTR 
Award Income Bands

Current 
(2025/26) 

Income Band NEW UC rate Difference
Proposed 

Income Band NEW UC rate Difference
Change to 

band % change

Single 100.00£     98.05£    1.95£     100.00£    98.05£     1.95£     -£    0.0%
Single +1 171.00£     179.26£    8.26-£     179.50£    179.26£     0.24£     8.50£     5.0%
Single +2 238.50£     249.40£    10.90-£     249.50£    249.40£     0.10£     11.00£     4.6%
Couple 145.00£     153.92£    8.92-£     154.00£    153.92£     0.08£     9.00£     6.2%
Couple +1 223.50£     235.12£    11.62-£     235.50£    235.12£     0.38£     12.00£     5.4%
Couple +2 291.00£     305.26£    14.26-£     305.50£    305.26£     0.24£     14.50£     5.0%
Single 190.50£     197.24£    6.74-£     197.50£    197.24£     0.26£     7.00£     3.7%
Single +1 268.50£     278.44£    9.94-£     278.50£    278.44£     0.06£     10.00£     3.7%
Single +2 336.00£     348.58£    12.58-£     349.00£    348.58£     0.42£     13.00£     3.9%
Couple 243.00£     253.10£    10.10-£     253.50£    253.10£     0.40£     10.50£     4.3%
Couple +1 321.00£     334.30£    13.30-£     334.50£    334.30£     0.20£     13.50£     4.2%
Couple +2 388.50£     404.44£    15.94-£     404.50£    404.44£     0.06£     16.00£     4.1%

Add £68 to
75% award 
to calculate 

Band

Add £68 to
75% award 
to calculate 

Band

Single 256.50£     265.24£    8.74-£     265.50£    265.24£     0.26£     9.00£     3.5%
Single +1 334.50£     346.44£    11.94-£     346.50£    346.44£     0.06£     12.00£     3.6%
Single +2 402.00£     416.58£    14.58-£     417.00£    416.58£     0.42£     15.00£     3.7%
Couple 309.00£     321.10£    12.10-£     321.50£    321.10£     0.40£     12.50£     4.0%
Couple +1 387.00£     402.30£    15.30-£     402.50£    402.30£     0.20£     15.50£     4.0%
Couple +2 454.50£     472.44£    17.94-£     472.50£    472.44£     0.06£     18.00£     4.0%

Add £68 to
45% award 
to calculate 

Band

Add £68 to
45% award 
to calculate 

Band

Single 322.50£     333.24£    10.74-£     333.50£    333.24£     0.26£     11.00£     3.4%
Single +1 400.50£     414.44£    13.94-£     414.50£    414.44£     0.06£     14.00£     3.5%
Single +2 468.00£     484.58£    16.58-£     485.00£    484.58£     0.42£     17.00£     3.6%
Couple 375.00£     389.10£    14.10-£     389.50£    389.10£     0.40£     14.50£     3.9%
Couple +1 453.00£     470.30£    17.30-£     470.50£    470.30£     0.20£     17.50£     3.9%
Couple +2 520.50£     540.44£    19.94-£     540.50£    540.44£     0.06£     20.00£     3.8%

2026/2027

Comparison of current Income Band to 
2026/27 UC rate

2025/2026

100%

75%

45%

25%

Comparison of proposed Income Band to 
2026/27 UC rate

Comparison of 2025/26 
Income Band to proposed 

2026/27 Income Band

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Ratepayer Year Debt o/s Costs NEC Screenshot Reason for Write off

River Island Clothing Co Limited 2025 £105,910.00 £0.00 Restructuring (Insolvency)
783785

Debt for write off £105,910.00 £0.00

The company has been under a court-approved restructuring plan since 8 August 2025. As part of this High Court process, the court has determined that 
any debt relating to this property up to 31 March 2026 is deemed uncollectable.

No further action can be taken by the council to recover this debt.

RV 229,000 Total £105,910.00

Heartbreakers (So15) Ltd (Liquidation)
798099 2021 £19,514.92 £0.00 Liquidation (Insolvency)

5 Bridge Street, Winchester, Hampshire, SO23 
0HN 2022 £37,888.00 £0.00

RV 61,000 (74,000 2023)

2023 £3,328.00 £110.00

Attempts were made to recover the outstanding debt, including enforcement agents visiting various properties. Contact was also made with Southampton 
City Council, where the company’s main venue, Heartbreakers, is located. They confirmed that the company also owed them business rates.

In February 2025, the company entered liquidation. The total amount owed to creditors was £972,000, and there was no prospect of a dividend being paid.

No further action is available to council to recover this debt.
Debt for write off £60,730.92 £110.00

Total £60,840.92

Winchester Catering Limited Dissolved (Insolvency)
797062 2023 £11,750.82 £0.00

Loch Fyne Restaurant, 18 Jewry Street, 
Winchester, Hampshire, SO23 8RZ 2024 45864 £0.00

This company became liable when the new restaurant began refurbishment in late 2023. Attempts to recover the outstanding debt were unsuccessful, and 
the company was dissolved in July 2025. A new company took over the property in May 2025.

No further action can be taken by the council to recover this debt.
RV 84,000 2025 3959.51 £110.00

Debt for write off £61,574.33 £110.00

Total £61,684.33

Total £228,435.25

Unit A4, Whiteley Shopping Centre, Whiteley Way, 
Whiteley, Fareham, Hants, PO15 7PD

CAB3541 - APPENDIX F

P
age 91



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Council 26 February 2026 
Item 6b  

1 

COUNCIL TAX RESOLUTION EXPLANATORY NOTES 

1. That any expenses incurred by the Council in 
performing in a part of its area a function 
performed elsewhere in its area by a Parish 
Council/Town Council/Parish Meeting shall not be 
treated as special expenses for the purposes of 
Section 35 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, except in the case of the following special 
items relating to the non-parished area the 
aggregate amount of which is £1,434,779 and 
which is shown within the total of special items at 
paragraph 4(e) below:- 

 
a) Magdalen Hill and West Hill Cemeteries; 

b) Allotments; 

c) Town centre Christmas lighting; 

d) Footway lighting; 

e) Grants and Vision Delivery (“parish” element); 

f) Recreation Grounds & Open Spaces (except 
Abbey Gardens, Riverside Walks, the Weirs and 
St Giles Hill); 

g) Neighbourhood Services; 

h) Public Conveniences 

i) Maintenance work to Council Owned Bridges 

j) Night Bus Contribution 

k) Neighbourhood Plans 

l) Community Infrastructure 

m) Administration of the Town Forum 

1. Expenditure on special items 
carried out in the Winchester Town 
non-parished area.5 

 
 
 
 
 

Details of the Winchester Town 
budget were considered by the 
Winchester Town Forum on 22 
January and Cabinet at a meeting on 
12 February 2026 and recommended 
for approval to Council. 
 

Page 93



Council 26 February 2026 
Item 6b  

2 

COUNCIL TAX RESOLUTION EXPLANATORY NOTES 

2.   That it be noted that the Head of Revenues, in 
consultation with the Corporate Head of Finance 
calculated the Council Tax Base for 2026/27 at 

(a) 56,017.20 

being the amount calculated by the Council for the 
whole Council area, in accordance with Section 
31B(1) (Item T) of the Local Government Act 1992, 
as amended (the “Act”), as its Council Tax base for 
the year. 

 

(b) for dwellings in those parts of its area to which 
a Parish/Town precept relates as in the attached 
Annex 1. 

 

3.   Calculate that the Council Tax requirement for the                   
Council’s own purposes for 2026/27 (excluding 
Parish Precepts) is £10,873,117. 

 

4. That the following amounts be now calculated by 
the Council for the year 2026/27 in accordance 
with Sections 31 to 36 of the Act: 

(a) £142,222,053 

being the aggregate of the amounts which the 
Council estimates for the items set out in Section 
31A(2) of the Act taking into account all precepts 
issued to it by Parish Councils. 

(b) £126,181,417 

being the aggregate of the amounts which the 
Council estimates for the items set out in Section 
31A(3) of the Act. 

(c) £16,040,636 

being the amount by which the aggregate at 4(a) 
above exceeds the aggregate at 4(b) above, 
calculated by the Council in accordance with 
Section 31A(4) of the Act, as its Council Tax 
requirement for the year. (Item R in the formula in 
Section 31B of the Act). 

 

 

 

 

2(a) The tax base (number of 
properties expressed as Band D 
equivalent) for the whole District. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3. The Council Tax Requirement for 
the City Council, including Special 
Expenses (the Winchester Town non 
parished area) but excluding Parish 
Precepts. 

 

4(a) Gross expenditure for the Council 
(including the Housing Revenue 
Account – HRA – the contribution 
from the Major Investment Reserve), 
the parish precepts, and transfers 
from the General Fund to the 
Collection Fund. 
 

4(b) Gross income for the Council 
(including the HRA), plus Non-
ringfenced Government Grants, and 
any collection fund surplus 
 

4(c) The Council Tax requirement 
including the parish precepts ie. 4(a) 
less 4(b). 

 

Page 94



Council 26 February 2026 
Item 6b  

3 

COUNCIL TAX RESOLUTION EXPLANATORY NOTES 

(d) £286.35 

being the amount at 4(c) above (Item R), all 
divided by Item T (2(a) above), calculated by the 
Council, in accordance with Section 31B(1) of the 
Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the 
year (including Parish Precepts). 

(e) £6,602,298 

being the aggregate amount of all special items 
referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act (as per the 
attached Annex 2) 

(f) £168.49 

being the amount at 4(d) above less the result given 
by dividing the amount at 4(e) above by Item T (2(a) 
above), calculated by the Council, in accordance 
with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of 
its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those 
parts of its area to which no special item relates. 

 

5.   That it be noted for the year 2026/27, Hampshire 
County Council and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner - Hampshire have stated, and the 
Hampshire Fire and Rescue Authority has 
recommended the following amounts in precepts 
issued to the Council, in accordance with Section 
40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, for 
each of the categories of dwellings shown below: 

 

Precepting               Precept 
Authority               Amount 

 

Hampshire County  
Council (HCC) £94,675,230 

 

Police and Crime Commissioner  
– Hampshire (PCCH) £16,270,756 

 
Hampshire Fire and                       £5,200,637 
Rescue Authority (HFRA) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4(e) The Total of the Parish Council 
budgets and the Winchester Town 
part of the budget. 

 

4(f) The City Council element of the 
tax at Band D excluding the 
Winchester Town tax. 

 

 

 

 

5. The tax applicable in the different 
bands for the County, Police Authority 
and Fire and Rescue Authority 
elements. 

 

Page 95



Council 26 February 2026 
Item 6b  

4 

COUNCIL TAX RESOLUTION EXPLANATORY NOTES 

 

       Valuation       HCC         PCCH            HFRA 

         Bands 

 

A 1,126.74 193.64 61.89 

B 1,314.53 225.91 72.21 

C 1,502.32 258.19 82.52 

D 1,690.11 290.46 92.84 

E 2,065.69 355.01 113.47 

F 2,441.27 419.55 134.10 

G 2,816.85 484.10 154.73 

H 3,380.22 580.92 185.68 

 

6.   That the Council, in accordance with Sections 30 
and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown in 
columns 2-9 of Annex 2 as the amounts of Council 
Tax for 2026/27 for each part of its area and for 
each of the categories of dwellings shown. 

 

7.   That the Council determines that the Council’s 
basic amount of Council Tax for 2026/27 is not 
excessive in accordance with principles approved 
under Section 52ZB of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992. 

 

 

5. The total tax applicable in the 
different bands (ie. the County tax, the 
Police Authority tax and the Fire and 
Rescue Authority tax). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7. To determine whether the Council’s 
basic amount of Council Tax is 
excessive, so as to require a 
referendum, a comparison is made 
between the relevant basic amount of 
Council Tax for the year under 
consideration, and the preceding year. 
For 2026/27 the ‘trigger point’ for a 
referendum has been set at the higher 
of 2.99% or +£5.  

 
 

Page 96



Council 26 February 2026

Item 6 (b)

Annex  1

Precepts Council Tax Precepts Council Tax

          £        Band D (£)            £        Band D (£)  

 BILLING AUTHORITY    

      WINCHESTER      54,886.50 8,982,725 163.66 56,017.20 9,438,338 168.49 3.0% 

 SPECIAL AREAS        

  (BILLING AUTHORITY) 

     WINCHESTER TOWN 15,142.60 1,364,045 90.08 15,170.00 1,434,779 94.58 5.0% 

 PARISHES/TOWN       

     BADGER FARM     981.10 60,405 61.57 989.10 60,405 61.07 (0.8%)

     BEAUWORTH       59.90 0 0.00 57.80 0 0.00 0.0% 

     BIGHTON   183.70 11,000 59.88 191.50 9,000 47.00 (21.5%)

     BISHOPS SUTTON           213.90 10,000 46.75 211.20 10,500 49.72 6.4% 

     BISHOPS WALTHAM          3,064.20 626,437 204.44 3,115.30 700,351 224.81 10.0% 

     BOARHUNT                 333.90 26,378 79.00 343.50 28,510 83.00 5.1% 

     BRAMDEAN & HINTON AMPNER          224.50 9,042 40.28 229.30 9,223 40.22 (0.1%)

     CHERITON                 326.60 30,700 94.00 322.00 31,603 98.15 4.4% 

     CHILCOMB             64.10 0 0.00 63.00 0 0.00 0.0% 

     COLDEN COMMON            1,693.20 247,736 146.31 1,696.40 247,737 146.04 (0.2%)

     COMPTON & SHAWFORD       900.40 73,253 81.36 920.30 76,000 82.58 1.5% 

     CORHAMPTON & MEONSTOKE 426.30 22,000 51.61 430.90 24,000 55.70 7.9% 

     CRAWLEY                  227.10 21,000 92.47 234.80 21,500 91.57 (1.0%)

     CURDRIDGE                684.90 90,134 131.60 709.70 103,815 146.28 11.2% 

     DENMEAD                  2,795.90 650,026 232.49 2,820.40 594,019 210.62 (9.4%)

     DROXFORD                 353.40 45,000 127.33 360.20 46,500 129.09 1.4% 

     DURLEY                   491.70 42,000 85.42 494.40 47,000 95.06 11.3% 

     EXTON                    141.80 675 4.76 142.40 675 4.74 (0.4%)

     HAMBLEDON                517.80 56,295 108.72 526.00 59,017 112.20 3.2% 

     HEADBOURNE WORTHY        879.20 89,940 102.30 958.50 110,364 115.14 12.6% 

     HURSLEY                  456.80 40,000 87.57 459.70 42,000 91.36 4.3% 

     ITCHEN STOKE & OVINGTON 130.70 6,225 47.63 129.60 6,225 48.03 0.8% 

     ITCHEN VALLEY 753.30 34,044 45.19 763.40 40,160 52.61 16.4% 

     KILMESTON             138.70 6,500 46.86 139.10 7,000 50.32 7.4% 

     KINGS WORTHY          2,002.90 210,503 105.10 2,027.30 214,374 105.74 0.6% 

     LITTLETON & HARESTOCK 1,529.60 133,660 87.38 1,539.30 137,927 89.60 2.5% 

     MICHELDEVER           694.70 64,000 92.13 697.60 70,000 100.34 8.9% 

     NEW ALRESFORD         2,417.50 360,000 148.91 2,433.30 348,000 143.02 (4.0%)

     NEWLANDS 1,178.90 160,000 135.72 1,273.70 168,000 131.90 (2.8%)

     NORTHINGTON           134.10 5,508 41.07 132.20 5,783 43.74 6.5% 

     OLD ALRESFORD         274.20 15,000 54.70 271.70 18,000 66.25 21.1% 

     OLIVERS BATTERY       785.20 45,857 58.40 783.50 48,500 61.90 6.0% 

     OTTERBOURNE           724.70 44,210 61.00 719.60 46,527 64.66 6.0% 

     OWSLEBURY             408.00 48,552 119.00 413.10 50,980 123.41 3.7% 

     SHEDFIELD             1,899.10 232,580 122.47 1,923.30 246,535 128.18 4.7% 

     SOBERTON  852.20 41,314 48.48 879.50 48,316 54.94 13.3% 

     SOUTH WONSTON         1,288.70 113,794 88.30 1,288.20 119,484 92.75 5.0% 

     SOUTHWICK & WIDLEY    276.10 20,000 72.44 279.20 21,000 75.21 3.8% 

     SPARSHOLT             322.70 22,608 70.06 328.40 23,288 70.91 1.2% 

     SWANMORE              1,495.70 260,203 173.97 1,538.60 281,485 182.95 5.2% 

     TICHBORNE             120.20 4,439 36.93 119.90 4,428 36.93 0.0% 

     TWYFORD    759.10 137,334 180.92 759.40 142,094 187.11 3.4% 

     UPHAM                                     381.30 34,000 89.17 381.70 35,500 93.00 4.3% 

     WARNFORD 120.20 2,100 17.47 123.00 2,300 18.70 7.0% 

     WEST MEON  404.80 40,500 100.05 418.80 41,828 99.88 (0.2%)

     WHITELEY 3,040.70 301,659 99.21 3,605.90 372,033 103.17 4.0% 

     WICKHAM & KNOWLE 1,948.90 380,010 194.99 1,956.30 400,533 204.74 5.0% 

     WONSTON    641.30 40,000 62.37 645.20 45,000 69.75 11.8% 

   TOTAL/AVERAGE 54,886.50 6,280,666 114.43 56,017.20 6,602,298 117.86 3.0% 

                    PARISH/TOWN TOTAL 39,743.90 4,916,621             123.71 40,847.20 5,167,519               126.51

                    WINCHESTER TOWN 15,142.60 1,364,045             90.08 15,170.00 1,434,779               94.58

                    TOTAL 54,886.50 6,280,666             114.43 56,017.20 6,602,298               117.86

DISTRICT, TOWN & PARISH COUNCIL PRECEPTS

2025/26 2026/27

Council Tax 
Increase/ 

(decrease)Tax Base Tax Base

1Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Council 26 February 2026
Item 6 (b)

Annex 2

WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL, PARISH COUNCILS AND PRECEPTING AUTHORITIES 

COUNCIL TAXES FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31 MARCH 2027

COUNCIL TAX  SCHEDULE 2026/27 BAND  A BAND  B BAND  C BAND D BAND  E BAND  F BAND  G BAND  H

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9)

        £         £         £         £         £         £         £         £
     WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL    112.33 131.05 149.77 168.49 205.93 243.37 280.82 336.98

     HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 1,126.74 1,314.53 1,502.32 1,690.11 2,065.69 2,441.27 2,816.85 3,380.22

     POLICE & CRIME COMMISIONER FOR HAMPSHIRE 193.64 225.91 258.19 290.46 355.01 419.55 484.10 580.92

     HAMPSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 61.89 72.21 82.52 92.84 113.47 134.10 154.73 185.68

Parish/Town only 75.71 88.32 100.94 113.56 138.80 164.03 189.27 227.12

Parish/Town & District 184.81 215.62 246.42 277.22 338.82 400.43 462.03 554.44

Total 1,570.31 1,832.02 2,093.74 2,355.46 2,878.90 3,402.32 3,925.77 4,710.92

 SPECIAL AREAS        
  (BILLING AUTHORITY) 
     WINCHESTER TOWN 1,557.65 1,817.26 2,076.87 2,336.48 2,855.70 3,374.91 3,894.13 4,672.96
                      
 PARISHES             
      BADGER FARM     1,535.31 1,791.20 2,047.08 2,302.97 2,814.74 3,326.50 3,838.28 4,605.94
      BEAUWORTH       1,494.60 1,743.70 1,992.80 2,241.90 2,740.10 3,238.29 3,736.50 4,483.80
      BIGHTON                  1,525.93 1,780.26 2,034.58 2,288.90 2,797.54 3,306.18 3,814.83 4,577.80
      BISHOPS SUTTON           1,527.75 1,782.37 2,037.00 2,291.62 2,800.87 3,310.11 3,819.37 4,583.24
      BISHOPS WALTHAM          1,644.47 1,918.55 2,192.63 2,466.71 3,014.87 3,563.02 4,111.18 4,933.42
      BOARHUNT                 1,549.93 1,808.26 2,066.58 2,324.90 2,841.54 3,358.18 3,874.83 4,649.80
      BRAMDEAN & HINTON AMPNER           1,521.41 1,774.98 2,028.55 2,282.12 2,789.26 3,296.39 3,803.53 4,564.24
      CHERITON                 1,560.03 1,820.04 2,080.04 2,340.05 2,860.06 3,380.06 3,900.08 4,680.10
      CHILCOMB                 1,494.60 1,743.70 1,992.80 2,241.90 2,740.10 3,238.29 3,736.50 4,483.80
      COLDEN COMMON            1,591.96 1,857.29 2,122.61 2,387.94 2,918.59 3,449.24 3,979.90 4,775.88
      COMPTON & SHAWFORD       1,549.65 1,807.93 2,066.20 2,324.48 2,841.03 3,357.57 3,874.13 4,648.96
      CORHAMPTON & MEONSTOKE   1,531.73 1,787.02 2,042.31 2,297.60 2,808.18 3,318.75 3,829.33 4,595.20
      CRAWLEY                  1,555.65 1,814.92 2,074.20 2,333.47 2,852.02 3,370.56 3,889.12 4,666.94
      CURDRIDGE                1,592.12 1,857.47 2,122.83 2,388.18 2,918.89 3,449.58 3,980.30 4,776.36
      DENMEAD                  1,635.01 1,907.52 2,180.02 2,452.52 2,997.52 3,542.52 4,087.53 4,905.04
      DROXFORD                 1,580.66 1,844.10 2,107.55 2,370.99 2,897.88 3,424.75 3,951.65 4,741.98
      DURLEY                   1,557.97 1,817.64 2,077.30 2,336.96 2,856.28 3,375.60 3,894.93 4,673.92
      EXTON                    1,497.76 1,747.39 1,997.01 2,246.64 2,745.89 3,245.14 3,744.40 4,493.28
      HAMBLEDON                1,569.40 1,830.97 2,092.53 2,354.10 2,877.23 3,400.36 3,923.50 4,708.20
      HEADBOURNE WORTHY        1,571.36 1,833.25 2,095.15 2,357.04 2,880.83 3,404.60 3,928.40 4,714.08
      HURSLEY                  1,555.51 1,814.76 2,074.01 2,333.26 2,851.76 3,370.25 3,888.77 4,666.52
      ITCHEN STOKE & OVINGTON 1,526.62 1,781.06 2,035.49 2,289.93 2,798.80 3,307.67 3,816.55 4,579.86
      ITCHEN VALLEY         1,529.67 1,784.62 2,039.56 2,294.51 2,804.40 3,314.28 3,824.18 4,589.02
      KILMESTON             1,528.15 1,782.84 2,037.53 2,292.22 2,801.60 3,310.97 3,820.37 4,584.44
      KINGS WORTHY          1,565.09 1,825.94 2,086.79 2,347.64 2,869.34 3,391.03 3,912.73 4,695.28
      LITTLETON & HARESTOCK 1,554.33 1,813.39 2,072.44 2,331.50 2,849.61 3,367.71 3,885.83 4,663.00
      MICHELDEVER           1,561.49 1,821.74 2,081.99 2,342.24 2,862.74 3,383.23 3,903.73 4,684.48
      NEW ALRESFORD         1,589.95 1,854.94 2,119.93 2,384.92 2,914.90 3,444.87 3,974.87 4,769.84
     NEWLANDS 1,582.53 1,846.29 2,110.04 2,373.80 2,901.31 3,428.81 3,956.33 4,747.60
      NORTHINGTON           1,523.76 1,777.72 2,031.68 2,285.64 2,793.56 3,301.47 3,809.40 4,571.28
      OLD ALRESFORD         1,538.77 1,795.23 2,051.69 2,308.15 2,821.07 3,333.98 3,846.92 4,616.30
      OLIVERS BATTERY       1,535.87 1,791.84 2,047.82 2,303.80 2,815.76 3,327.70 3,839.67 4,607.60
      OTTERBOURNE            1,537.71 1,793.99 2,050.28 2,306.56 2,819.13 3,331.69 3,844.27 4,613.12
      OWSLEBURY             1,576.87 1,839.69 2,102.50 2,365.31 2,890.93 3,416.55 3,942.18 4,730.62
      SHEDFIELD             1,580.05 1,843.40 2,106.74 2,370.08 2,896.76 3,423.44 3,950.13 4,740.16
      SOBERTON              1,531.23 1,786.43 2,041.64 2,296.84 2,807.25 3,317.65 3,828.07 4,593.68
      SOUTH WONSTON         1,556.43 1,815.84 2,075.24 2,334.65 2,853.46 3,372.26 3,891.08 4,669.30
      SOUTHWICK & WIDLEY 1,544.74 1,802.20 2,059.65 2,317.11 2,832.02 3,346.93 3,861.85 4,634.22
      SPARSHOLT             1,541.87 1,798.85 2,055.83 2,312.81 2,826.77 3,340.72 3,854.68 4,625.62
      SWANMORE              1,616.57 1,885.99 2,155.42 2,424.85 2,963.71 3,502.55 4,041.42 4,849.70
      TICHBORNE             1,519.22 1,772.42 2,025.63 2,278.83 2,785.24 3,291.63 3,798.05 4,557.66
      TWYFORD    1,619.34 1,889.23 2,159.12 2,429.01 2,968.79 3,508.56 4,048.35 4,858.02
      UPHAM      1,556.60 1,816.03 2,075.47 2,334.90 2,853.77 3,372.62 3,891.50 4,669.80
      WARNFORD   1,507.07 1,758.24 2,009.42 2,260.60 2,762.96 3,265.30 3,767.67 4,521.20
      WEST MEON  1,561.19 1,821.38 2,081.58 2,341.78 2,862.18 3,382.56 3,902.97 4,683.56
      WHITELEY 1,563.38 1,823.94 2,084.51 2,345.07 2,866.20 3,387.31 3,908.45 4,690.14
     WICKHAM & KNOWLE 1,631.09 1,902.94 2,174.79 2,446.64 2,990.34 3,534.03 4,077.73 4,893.28
      WONSTON    1,541.10 1,797.95 2,054.80 2,311.65 2,825.35 3,339.04 3,852.75 4,623.30

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



  

CABINET 
 

12 February 2026 
 

Draft Minute Extract 
 
 

CAPITAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 26-36 (CAB3539) 
 
Councillor Cutler introduced the report noting that it had been considered at Scrutiny 
Committee on 10 February, the draft minutes of which had been circulated to 
Cabinet and other members present.   
 
Cabinet agreed to the following for the reasons set out in the report and outlined 
above. 
 

RECOMMENDED (TO COUNCIL): 
 

1. The Capital Investment Strategy be approved including: 
a) the Capital Programme and Capital Programme Financing 

(Appendices A and B to the report); 
b) the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement 

(Appendix E of the report); 
c) the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy (Appendix G 

of the report); and 
d) the prudential indicators detailed in the report and 

Appendix F of the report. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

2. Subject to Council approval of the capital programme, the 
following capital expenditure be approved: 

a) IMT equipment in 2026/27 (£154,000) as detailed in paragraph 
11.8.6 of the report;  

b) Repairs to the Guildhall clocktower in 2026/27 (£250,000); and 
c) Capital improvements to the Guildhall in 2026/27 and 2027/28 

(£3,300,000) 
 

3. That the requirement to ensure Members have the right 
knowledge and skills to undertake their governance role be noted and that the 
ongoing support and training offered to members is continued and enhanced 
as required. 

 
 

Page 101

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

CAB3539 
CABINET 

 
 

REPORT TITLE: CAPITAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2026-2036 
 
12 FEBRUARY 2026 

REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER: Cllr Cutler – Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member 
for Finance and Transformation 

Contact Officer:  Liz Keys   Tel No: 01962 848226    Email: lkeys@winchester.gov.uk  

WARD(S):  ALL 
 
 

 

 
PURPOSE 

The Capital Investment Strategy sets out the council’s capital spending programme 
and the principles which underpin this in order to deliver the desired priorities as set 
out in the Council Plan.  
 
It details the overall programme for the next 10 years, how this will be financed, and 
the impact of the programme on the council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. The 
timetable for local government reorganisation means that the council is expected to 
become part of a unitary council from 1 April 2028. Therefore, forecast capital 
expenditure beyond that date only includes projects to which the council will be 
contractually committed as well as estimated required capital works to, for example, 
maintain existing assets or programmes such as disabled facilities grants (DFG) 
which are expected to continue beyond the transition. Also included are the council’s 
forecast housing new build programme in the HRA based on existing targets; 
however, decisions as to which projects will ultimately proceed beyond that date, 
unless contractually committed, will be the decision of the new unitary authority.   
 
It includes several prudential indicators that are required to be published by the 
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance and the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) Statutory Investment Guidance and, 
in addition to outlining how the council ensures it has access to the right knowledge 
and skills (internal and external), it details how it ensures elected Members have 
sufficient knowledge and skills to undertake their governance role. 

 

 

Page 103



  CAB3539 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That Cabinet recommends to Council: 

1. The Capital Investment Strategy be approved including: 

• the Capital Programme and Capital Programme Financing (Appendices A and 

B to the report); 

• the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement (Appendix E); 

• the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy (Appendix G); and 

• the prudential indicators detailed in the report and Appendix F. 

That Cabinet: 

2. Subject to Council approval of the capital programme, approves the following 
capital expenditure: 

• IMT equipment in 2026/27 (£154,000) as detailed in paragraph 11.8.6;  

• Repairs to the Guildhall clocktower in 2026/27 (£250,000); and 

• Capital improvements to the Guildhall in 2026/27 and 2027/28 

(£3,300,000) 

3. Notes the requirement to ensure Members have the right knowledge and skills 
to undertake their governance role and that the ongoing support and training 
offered to members is continued and enhanced as required. 

 

 

Page 104



  CAB3539 

IMPLICATIONS: 
 
1 COUNCIL PLAN OUTCOME  

1.1 The investment of capital resources will contribute to the achievement of the 
council’s main objectives and priorities in the Council Plan. The Capital 
Strategy is an integral part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy and 
impacts directly on the Treasury Management Strategy. 

1.2 More detail on specific projects supporting the priorities in the Council Plan is 
set out in section 11.2. 
 

2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

2.1 The forecast capital programme over the next 10 years to 2035/36 totals 
£385.6 million of which £56.1 million is General Fund and £329.5 million is 
Housing Revenue Account.  

2.2 The proposed financing is made up of £150.7 million of prudential borrowing, 
£131.0 million from revenue including earmarked reserves, £54.7 million of 
capital receipts, and £49.2 million of capital grants and contributions. 

2.3 Further details are provided in the supporting information section below and in 
the appendices to the strategy. 

2.4 The council will need to increase its external borrowing but the amount and 
timing of this is dependent on the delivery of the capital programme and on 
the council’s overall reserve position. Further information, including borrowing 
limits, is set out in the Treasury Management Strategy (CAB3538). 

2.5 Included in the Prudential Code is the requirement that “the chief finance 
officer should report explicitly on the affordability and risks associated with the 
capital strategy and, where appropriate, have access to specialised advice to 
enable them to reach their conclusions”. The statement below is the 
Winchester City Council Chief Finance Officer’s response: 

2.6 Affordability and risk are primary considerations within the capital strategy and 
are of particular importance given the funding constraints on local authorities 
and the current economic conditions.  The strategy aims to support the 
regeneration and place shaping priorities in the Council Plan as well as 
helping the council achieve its ambitious carbon neutral goals and, in the 
HRA, delivering new homes across the district alongside investing in existing 
homes to improve energy efficiency and reduce costs for tenants. 

2.7 The council’s Risk Policy (extracts of which are below) sets out the corporate 
risk appetite as well as and how the council ensures that the opportunities it is 
willing to take to achieve its strategic priorities and objectives are measured, 
consistent and compatible with the council’s capacity to accept and manage 
risk.  Business cases for new schemes are required to ensure that risks are 
adequately considered.  One of the most significant risks specific to capital 

Page 105



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

investment is capacity to deliver the individual projects contained within the 
strategy.  This is largely mitigated by adequately identifying resources 
required at the planning stage of projects – a core part of the business case 
process.  

2.8 The HRA capital programme is a key element of the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) Business Plan which is refreshed annually.  Individual 
schemes are assessed for affordability within the overall context of this plan, 
which reflects the investment required to deliver 1000 new homes in line with 
the Council Plan.  

2.9 Whilst this is an ambitious programme of works, the council has a long history 
of successfully managing its capital assets to support its objectives while 
minimising the associated risks. The proposed programme is considered 
affordable, sustainable, and prudent. The council utilises its treasury 
management advisors, Arlingclose, to ensure the latest economic context is 
considered when assessing capital investment proposals against the 
requirements of the Prudential Code. 

3 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The council’s Capital Investment Strategy Statement follows the latest codes 
of practice, and the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
(CIPFA) guidance. 

3.2 Individual projects included within the programme will be carefully considered 
in relation to legal and procurement issues and separate approvals sought as 
appropriate. The Programme and Capital Board (PAC) plays a key role in 
ensuring that this process takes place when considering business case and 
gateway decisions. 
 

4 WORKFORCE IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 Project resources for individual projects are identified as part of the business 
case development. 

5 PROPERTY AND ASSET IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Many of the projects and schemes within the Capital Programme are related 
to the council’s properties and assets and therefore aligning the programme 
with the Council’s Asset Management Strategy is an important consideration. 
The Programme and Capital Strategy Board (PAC) plays a key role in 
ensuring that this process takes place and that funds are identified to improve 
the council’s assets in line with its Strategies and Plans.  
 
 
 
 
  

Page 106



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

6 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION  

Budget consultation 2026/27 

6.1 Stakeholder engagement is an important part of the council’s budget planning 
process. Feedback from the Residents’ Survey provided opinion on local 
priorities; views on emerging policy; and the relative perceived importance of 
council services. This insight helps the council to take financial decisions; to 
plan and manage budgets; and to use its financial resources to support 
delivery of priorities.  

6.2 Discussions have also been had with local business representatives through 
the Chamber of Commerce and the BID at their Winchester District Strategy 
Group business briefing in January 2026. No comments were made. 

6.3 As capital investment schemes come forward for appraisal, appropriate 
engagement and consultation is undertaken as part of the business case 
development for all individual projects and schemes. 

6.4 Scrutiny Committee is due to consider this report at its meeting on 10 
February 2026 after this report has been dispatched. Any matters that the 
Scrutiny Committee wishes to raise or asks the Cabinet to note before making 
their decision will be reported and considered fully at the Cabinet meeting. 

 
7 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 

7.1 Tackling the climate emergency and creating a greener district is a key priority 
for the council. A number of the schemes in the programme deal specifically 
with the climate emergency and environmental considerations are part of the 
business case supporting all capital projects. 

 
8 PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 

8.1 The council is committed to ensuring its services are accessible to all its 
residents and that full consideration is given to obligations under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty in addition to any consultation comments. 

8.2 Under the Council's Financial Procedure Rule 7.4, the inclusion of a scheme 
in the capital programme shall not constitute authority to incur expenditure 
until a full project report has been submitted by the appropriate Service Lead 
in consultation with their Corporate Head of Service and the S151 officer and 
approved in line with the limits set out in the constitution. As part of the 
approval to spend for each scheme, an Equality Impact Assessment must be 
completed before the project can proceed.  

 
9 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

Page 107



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

9.1 Data Protection Impact assessments are considered as part of the business 
case/approvals for specific capital projects. 

 
10 RISK MANAGEMENT  

10.1 In setting out this strategy, and when considering the programme and the 
projects within in it, reference is made to the council’s risk appetite as set in 
section 11.11. 

Risk  Mitigation Opportunities 

Property 
Council assets not fully 
utilised 

 
An effective capital 
strategy and its delivery 
helps to ensure council 
assets are used to 
achieve the council’s 
priorities 

 
Investment in the 
council’s assets can 
increase income 
generation. 
 
Identification of assets 
suitable for sale can 
generate capital receipts 
which can be reinvested 
in assets or used to 
reduce the council’s 
overall borrowing need, 
reducing the ongoing 
revenue cost. 

Community Support 
Projects are unsupported 
by the community or the 
community’s needs are 
not met 

 
Engagement is 
undertaken for key 
projects to ascertain 
community and 
stakeholder views 

 
Engagement with the 
community ensures the 
council’s capital 
programme meets the 
needs of the district’s 
citizens and businesses 

Timescales 
Projects not delivered on 
time resulting in a delay in 
benefits to the council 

 
The 10-year strategy and 
its associated governance 
structures including 
regular review by the 
Programme and Capital 
Strategy (PAC) Board and 
quarterly by 
Scrutiny/Cabinet 

 

Project capacity 
Failure to 
deliver major capital 
schemes due to 
insufficient staff resources 

 
Ensure robust business 
cases are taken forward, 
and sufficient resources 
are available to deliver 
the projects. 

 
Consideration of a wide 
base of potential capital / 
investment schemes to 
enable a balanced risk 
portfolio and other 

Page 108



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

schemes to be chosen 
should any schemes not 
progress 

Local Government 
Reorganisation 
Failure to budget 
effectively, and ensure 
sufficient resources are 
available for capital 
requirements in the 
district both prior to LGR 
and post LGR 

 
 
Production of a forward 
looking 10-year capital 
strategy taking account of 
forecast need. 

 
 
In the shorter-term 
delivering projects that 
benefit the citizens of the 
district up to LGR and 
beyond. 
 
Being part of a larger 
unitary authority may 
present new opportunities 
such as additional 
potential sites for new 
build housing projects. 
 

Financial / VfM Detailed elsewhere within 
the report 

In some cases, projects 
may generate savings or 
new income in addition to 
achieving the council’s 
objectives 

Legal Considered as part of the 
approval process for 
individual capital schemes 

None 

Innovation Considered as part of the 
approval process for 
individual capital schemes 

Strategy includes new 
schemes to innovate 

Reputation Considered as part of the 
approval process for 
individual capital schemes 

Delivering council 
objectives via the capital 
programme can enhance 
the council’s reputation 

 
 
 
11 SUPPORTING INFORMATION: 

11.1. Purpose 

11.1.1. The council is in a privileged position to be able to invest in local projects 
that directly improve the quality of life for local people, support the 
economy, or protect the environment. Therefore, the primary purpose of 
this strategy is to identify and progress schemes to help deliver the Council 
Plan and to help make the council self-sufficient in order to be able to 
deliver the required level of services. It outlines how the council ensures 
that individual schemes and the programme as a whole are deliverable and 
financially affordable. 

Page 109



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

11.1.2. However, financial pressures across the sector mean that the principles 
which underpin the strategy are carefully considered when prioritising 
schemes in the Capital Strategy.  The Strategy sets out the council’s capital 
spending programme and the principles which underpin this to deliver the 
Council Plan: 

 

11.1.3. The council’s capital programme incorporates both the General Fund (GF) 
and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) capital requirements to support 
service provision and links with the Council Plan, Housing Business Plan, 
the Asset Management Strategy, IMT strategy and Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy. This capital investment strategy provides a framework for the 
development and implementation of the capital programme. 

11.1.4. As detailed in the council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), the 
council is forecasting a significant reduction in its anticipated financial 
resources over the medium term. It is vital therefore that the council 
maximises the use of its capital investment in the district. As available 
resources reduce, the council needs to utilise its capital programme to 
drive the most effective and efficient use of those resources for the benefit 
of the district’s residents. 

11.1.5. The Council Plan details how the council will deliver its strategic priorities: 
Greener Faster, Good Homes for All, Thriving Places, Healthy 
Communities, Listening Better, and Effective and Efficient. Several of 
these priorities will be delivered through capital spend and associated 
projects including for example: additional investment in the council’s 
housing stock to improve energy efficiency and help tenants reduce their 

Capital 
Strategy 

Principles 

Supports 
Greener 
Faster 

Objectives

New spend 
supported by 

a business 
case

Financially 
viable within 

the MTFS

Delivers 
Invest-to-

save 
proposals 

and revenue 
savings

Enables
funding for  
the Asset 

Mngt. 
Strategy

Page 110



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

carbon emissions and energy costs; the provision of new housing and 
maintenance of existing housing stock; major regeneration schemes; the 
refurbishment of the council’s existing assets; and provision of leisure 
facilities. 

11.1.6. The following charts illustrate the percentage of total capital expenditure 
forecast for each of the council’s priorities (NB the charts are based on the 
main priority for each project or scheme; however, many meet more than 
one priority. For example, while a project may have a primary purpose of 
improving the local economy it may contain elements such as the 
installation of solar panels in order to tackle the climate emergency): 

 

11.2. The Capital Programme 

11.2.1. The council has made further progress in 2025/26 in delivering its capital 
programme. In the General Fund, projects completed or substantially 
complete this year include: 

• River Park pavilion. Work on the new pavilion is expected to be 
completed in early 2026. By providing high quality facilities, 
increased community sport outcomes can be achieved across a 
wider demographic, and the pavilion can be used to support users of 
River Park, not just cricket, by providing changing and club house 
facilities to support their events or sports. 

• The purchase of vehicles and caddies in order to roll out the new 
food waste service. The collection of food waste commenced in 
October. Food waste recycling has the potential to reduce the 
district’s carbon footprint by an estimated 1,900 tonnes of CO2e per 
year by recycling this waste to generate clean green energy and 
nutrient dense soil improver. In addition, the vehicles purchased run 
on HVO fuel reducing emissions by more than 90%. 

• The award of capital grants totalling £0.6m (as at 31 December 
2025) via the UK shared prosperity and Rural prosperity fund 
programmes, and CIL funded community projects. Grants to 
community groups, parish councils, and small businesses include: 
the playground and public convenience refurbishments; an air 
source heat pump; an electric van for bee cultivation and honey 
production; and solar panel installations. 

Page 111



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

• Other projects include clubhouse improvements at Winchester City 
FC, replacement of the 3G pitch at Meadowside Leisure Centre, the 
replacement of diesel animal welfare vans with electric vehicles, and 
a grant toward the life size Jane Austen sculpture in the Cathedral’s 
grounds.  

11.2.2. In addition to the required investment in major works to the existing stock 
including an ambitious retrofit programme to increase energy efficiency and 
help tenants reduce energy costs and to maintain the current decent homes 
standard, significant additional funding towards a challenging new build and 
acquisitions programme is included to facilitate the delivery of the council’s 
objective of 1000 new homes for local people. Major approved projects 
included are: 

• Acquisition of 10 units (6 for affordable rent, 4 for shared ownership) 
at Hazeley Road Twyford, construction between 2024/25 and 
2026/27 

• Acquisition of 146 units (95 for affordable rent, 51 for shared 
ownership) at Kings Barton (three phases to be constructed between 
2024/25 and 2027/28). As at December 2025, a total of 10 units had 
been completed and handed over, of which four units shared 
ownership and six units general needs 

• Construction of 5 social rented units at Woodman Close, between 
January 2026 and February 2027 

11.2.3. Over the period 2026 to 2036, the council’s total estimated capital 
expenditure is £381.1m of which £51.6m is General Fund and £329.5m is 
Housing Revenue Account. The following table summarises the capital 
programme by year for the period. Further detail by project is included in 
Appendix A: 

Table 1: Summary of capital expenditure 

 

11.2.4. The programme includes the following key projects (quoted budget figures 
are for the period 2026-2036 and do not include prior years):  

 
Priority: Greener Faster (£40.8m) 

TOTAL

Est.

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

General Fund 18.0 12.6 10.9 2.4 2.2 1.9 1.9 2.1 1.9 2.2 56.1

HRA 39.4 45.0 38.9 60.7 64.8 43.5 9.2 8.7 10.0 9.3 329.5

Total Expenditure 57.4 57.6 49.8 63.1 67.0 45.4 11.1 10.8 11.9 11.6 385.6

2035/36Capital Expenditure 

2026 - 2036
2026/27 2027/28 2033/34 2034/352028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33

Page 112



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

Making the district Greener Faster is a theme that is integral to all that the council 
does.  

• £38.8 m has been allocated to invest in the council’s housing stock to 
improve energy efficiency and reduce emissions.  

• £2m budget has been allocated for energy management projects over 4 
years from 2026/27 provisionally funded by prudential borrowing. 
Expenditure will be subject to a business case as projects are identified 
and the council will seek to identify external grant funding where possible. 
As well as reducing carbon emissions it is anticipated that projects will 
provide potential for additional income and/or savings to the council over 
and above the cost of borrowing.  

• In addition to the projects outlined above, measures to tackle the climate 
emergency are included in other projects. For example, the design of a 
new building may include elements to ensure a sustainable and energy 
efficient building such as high-performance insulation and solar PV, and 
several capital grants have been made to community groups and small 
businesses for the installation of solar PV. 

 

Priority: Good Homes for All (£306.2m) 

• Over the next 10 years, £181.0 has been budgeted for the council’s New 
Build programme to enable the delivery of its ambitious programme. 

• An estimated £96.2m £96.2m will be spent on major repairs and 
maintenance of our existing housing stock including £10.3m to improve fire 
safety; £6.8m on roof replacements for dwellings; £13.3m on windows & 
doors for dwellings; £2.2m for estate improvements; £18.6m for major 
works to blocks;   £11.5m on electrical, heating and hot water systems to 
all properties; and £13.5m on new kitchens to all properties. In addition, 
allowance of £20m is made for unplanned major works over the period. A 
full stock condition survey is currently underway, which will provide more 
accurate data to inform the major repairs programme assumptions in the 
2026/27 business plan cycle. 

• An estimated £4.4m will be spent on sewage treatment works plants 
over the ten-year period between 2026/27 and 2025/36, of which £1.3m 
relates to routine major works. To achieve a longer-term ambition of 
running the sewage treatment plants at cost recovery, investment of £2m 
is planned to upgrade the four highest cost sites to reduce associated 
running costs to ensure charges to tenants and leaseholders are not 
excessive. In addition to the cost reduction works, investment of £1.1m (of 
which £0.7m on behalf of Partnership for South Hampshire) is planned to 
reduce nitrate & phosphate pollution and generate nutrient credits, which 

Page 113



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

can be sold to developers, and the proceeds utilised to fund further 
upgrades to sewage treatment plants.   

• An estimated £15.3m of Disabled Facilities Grant to enable people to 
stay in their own homes where possible by providing necessary adaptions 
to private homes in addition to £8.6m for adaptions to the council’s own 
stock. 

 

Priority: Thriving Places (£30.9m) 

• A provisional budget of £2.6m, funded by prudential borrowing, has been 
set aside for the potential purchase of properties in the Central 
Winchester Regeneration (CWR) area. The properties will be held by the 
council and passed on to the developer at the relevant phase of the 
delivery plan which is currently being developed in line with the 
development agreement. Whilst the council holds the assets, it will incur 
costs including lost interest in the region of £80,000 to £100,000 per 
annum depending on the interest rates available to the council at the time. 
It is anticipated that some of the additional costs such as business rates 
and security will be offset by identifying meanwhile uses for the properties. 
A capital grant of £4.5m, to be funded by CIL receipts, has also been 
included and is required to support the successful delivery of the CWR 
development by enabling the provision of essential infrastructure work. 
The grant, subject to a successful CIL application, would assist in 
addressing a range of baseline constraints on the site, including 
environmental, structural, and preparatory works necessary to bring 
forward high quality public realm and create a development ready 
environment. In addition, a £0.25m provisional budget is included for bus 
and accessibility improvements as a consequence of the scheme. CWR is 
a once in a lifetime opportunity aiming to transform the centre of our 
historic city: bringing homes for local families; providing jobs for local 
people; and making a visit to this heritage city one which will be 
remembered. Working with a development partner to bring the scheme 
forward, the council will be investing in the redevelopment, including 
transferring its own assets into it. 
 

• The council is actively applying for LEP Legacy Reserves grant funding, 
working with partners to promote and develop our unique cultural, heritage 
and natural environment assets across the district, and to support new 
business needs and opportunities, including agriculture and other rural 
businesses. The specific projects are still being determined and the 
outcomes, including whether bids are successful, are expected in the 
spring. A provisional budget of £10m, funded by LEP grant should the bids 
be successful, has been included over the next 3 years. 
 

• The Strategic Asset Purchase Scheme (SAPS) seeks to identify assets 
for the council to acquire which will assist it in meeting its strategic 

Page 114



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

objectives such as regeneration whilst also generating ongoing revenue 
streams in order to ensure a scheme is financially viable overall or to be 
recycled in other similar schemes. Following changes to the PWLB lending 
terms and the Prudential Code, the council can no longer purchase assets 
primarily for yield and must do so for service reasons only, including 
regeneration. Any surplus income must be incidental to the scheme or 
recycled in similar schemes elsewhere and cannot be used to fund wider 
services. The SAPS board (see section 11.10) can approve purchases up 
to £4m if the minimum score criteria is met. Any other purchases must 
follow the usual governance process as defined by the constitution. A 
budget of £4m has been allocated in 2026/27.  

• A recent condition survey has indicated that works of up to £5m are 
required to the Guildhall of which an estimated £3.3m are capital. These 
important works will ensure that this important and historic listed civic 
building is maintained to a good standard for many years to come. It will 
also address the quality of some utilities so that letting potential is 
improved. 

• Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) – Community projects. A total of 
£1.3m has been set aside to award CIL funded capital grants. The scheme 
allows community groups to apply for a share of between £10,000 and 
£200,000 for essential infrastructure projects. The allocation of CIL funding 
helps to provide the infrastructure required to support development whilst 
ensuring that the corporate priorities and outcomes within the Council Plan 
are at the forefront of the decisions made regarding the infrastructure to be 
delivered. 

• In addition, a total of £4.1m has been identified for various car park 
improvements throughout the district including a new lift at Chesil car 
park, replacement of the Air Handling unit at the Brooks, and provision of 
a new car park at the Dean in Alresford. 

Priority: Healthy Communities (£4.1m) 

• A capital grant of £1.2m (including £0.1m in 2025/26), funded by S106 
developer contributions, has been included for the construction of a sport 
pavilion at North Whiteley as well as a £160,000 capital grant toward 
Wickham Recreation Ground. 

• Over the next 3 years, £0.26m has been included for the replacement or 
refurbishment of several play areas that are the responsibility of 
Winchester Town Forum as well as £0.15m for the perimeter footpath at 
River Park. 

• £0.45m is included in the 10-year programme for: replacement equipment, 
including gym and group exercise equipment; replacement lift and 
windows; and roofing works at Meadowside Leisure Centre. 

Page 115



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

• Marketing of the former River Park Leisure Centre site commenced in 
November 2025 with a request for Expressions of Interest (EoI). Several 
EoIs were received, and the council held a public event on the 27 January 
to inform the community about the types of uses showing interest. It is 
intended to request formal bids from the market in February with a bid 
deadline set for early April 2026. In February 2020, a provisional budget of 
£2m for the leisure centre’s demolition was added to the capital 
programme. If this expenditure is required, it will be funded from the capital 
receipts reserve and offset by the capital receipt from the sale of the site. 

Priority: Effective and Efficient (£3.6m) 

• A number of budgets are for long term capital maintenance works to the 
council’s operational assets. This includes, for example, the replacement 
of the lifts within City Offices and the West Wing, as well as an annual 
budget for reactive capital maintenance works. 

• A budget of £250,000 has been included in order to undertake essential 
refurbishment works to the clock tower of the Guildhall. The works will 
improve the fire safety of the building whilst also improving thermal 
comfort.  The building will remain opening during the works. 

• The council continues to invest in keeping its IMT up to date including the 
provision of appropriate equipment to reduce cost and the consumption of 
paper and investing in remote working solutions to reduce the need for 
staff to travel and therefore the council’s carbon footprint.  

11.2.5. Future capital ambitions and key considerations for future years: 

• The council needs to ensure that sufficient reserves are in place to 
maintain and refurbish its existing estate up to and beyond Local 
Government Reorganisation.  

• Ongoing work continues on Greener Faster energy schemes such as 
installing solar PV on the council’s assets. In some cases, such as with the 
installation of solar panels, the projects may pay for themselves and 
deliver a small surplus to the council. However, some projects may not 
provide sufficient income or savings to cover the associated cost of 
borrowing and will therefore increase the overall revenue costs to the 
council; there are a number of possible sources of grant funding for these 
projects and the council will explore these opportunities where appropriate 
in order to reduce the financial impact. 

• A number of potential schemes will be required in respect of the 
Winchester Movement Strategy. Where possible, external funding 
sources will be explored such as Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
contributions and external grant funding. 
 

Page 116



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

• Community Infrastructure Levy will be applied to relevant and 
appropriate projects to ensure a legacy of new and improved infrastructure 
ahead of LGR. This might be our major projects for place making and 
regeneration), the Winchester Movement Strategy (referred to above), and 
other projects which improve active travel and public transport around our 
district, or projects aligned with Council Plan priorities.  Projects coming 
forward under these CIL funds will all be authorised through the council’s 
usual governance route. 

 

• The cost of borrowing has increased considerably in the last few years 
(rates available to the council at the end of 2021 were circa 2% and at the 
end of 2025 were between 5% and 6%). This, coupled with significant 
construction inflation, challenges the viability of potential build projects.  

• As stated in the Asset Management Strategy (CAB3777 refers), the 
council’s non-housing property assets play a significant role in generating 
rental income and creating opportunity for social, economic, 
environmental, cultural and regeneration interventions. As part of this it is 
essential that sufficient funds are set aside in the Property Reserve and 
the council is establishing the total needs of the estate over the next 
several years with a key tenet being the decarbonisation of the council’s 
estate. It is essential to regularly review the performance of the council’s 
property portfolio and make active decisions on retention, disposal or 
rental/leasing options to best support council objectives.  Part of the remit 
of the council’s Property Board, a member/officer group, is “Asset 
Challenge” which commenced in 2018/19 and involves reviewing the 
council’s assets on a rolling basis to ensure the best use is made of them 
and, where appropriate, recommend investment in or disposal of assets. 

 

11.3. Financing the Capital Programme 

11.3.1. The council can invest in a capital programme so long as its capital 
spending plans are “affordable, prudent, and sustainable” as well as 
“proportionate”.   

11.3.2. The main sources of finance for capital projects are as follows: 

• Capital receipts (from asset sales); 

• Capital grants (e.g. Disabled Facilities Grant); 

• External contributions (e.g. Section 106 developers’ contributions and 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)); 

• Earmarked Reserves (e.g. the Major Investment Reserve, the 
Property Reserve, the Car Parks Property Reserve, and the IMT 
Reserve); 

• Revenue contributions; and 

Page 117



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

• Borrowing, including internally (also known as the “Capital Financing 
Requirement”). 

11.3.3. Full details of the proposed financing for the 2026-2036 capital programme 
are provided in Appendix B and is summarised in the following graph: 

 

11.3.4. Borrowing (or Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)) makes up a 
significant element of the council’s proposed financing over the next 10 
years. The council has had sufficient cash and investment balances to be 
able to internally borrow a significant element of its CFR but will, need to 
increase its external borrowing in addition to the £159.4m (as at 31 
December 2025) of borrowing the council has currently externalised on 
behalf of the HRA. The impact of this borrowing is incorporated into the 
Medium-Term Financial Strategy and the Housing Revenue Account 
business plan. The council works closely with its external treasury advisors 
(Arlingclose) to identify the optimum borrowing strategy to provide a 
balance between achieving certainty of future costs (i.e. locking-in long-
term fixed rates) and the overall cost of borrowing. 

11.3.5. Before committing the council to borrowing, consideration is given to the 
forecast savings and/or income a new project may generate and how this 
will contribute to the financing costs as part of its respective business 
case. The capital financing requirement is reduced over the life of 
individual assets in the General Fund by a statutory annual contribution 
from revenue referred to as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). In 
addition, the council can elect to reduce its borrowing need by making 
additional contributions from revenue or from the sale of assets (capital 
receipts). Planned MRP is as follows: 

Table 2: Replacement of debt finance in £ millions 

 2024/25 

actual 

2025/26 

forecast 

2026/27 

budget 

2027/28 

budget 

2028/29 

budget 

Minimum Revenue Provision (GF) 1.7 1.8 1.9 1.9 1.7 

Reserves (HRA) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total 1.7 1.8 1.9 1.9 1.7 

Page 118



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

 

The council’s full MRP statement is available at Appendix E. 

11.3.6. The council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance (borrowing 
need) is measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). This 
increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and reduces with 
MRP and voluntary contributions from revenue or capital receipts. CFR is 
estimated to increase by up to £3.1m during 2026/27 subject to full 
delivery of the Capital Programme. 

Table 3: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) in £ millions 

 31.3.2025 

actual 

31.3.2026 

forecast 

31.3.2027 

budget 

31.3.2028 

budget 

31.3.2029 

budget 

General Fund 70.4 69.4 72.5 71.4 69.2 

Housing Revenue Account 212.5 212.5 212.5 232.2 247.3 

TOTAL CFR 282.9 281.9 285.0 303.6 316.5 

 

11.3.7. Further information including borrowing forecasts and borrowing limits are 
set out in the Treasury Management Strategy (CAB3538). 

11.4. Revenue Consequences of the Capital Programme on the General Fund 

11.4.1. Appendix C details the impact of the Capital Programme on the council’s 
General Fund. 

11.4.2. Part of the council’s programme is financed by borrowing and this exposes 
the council to the risk of changing interest rates. The council can mitigate 
against this by borrowing early where it is advantageous to do so and by 
taking out a basket of loans of mixed duration including longer-term fixed 
rate loans. The graph below illustrates the impact on the General Fund at 
prevailing long-term rates available to the council as well as the impact of 
a change in those rates by +/-1.0%:  

Page 119



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

 

 

11.4.3. Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, 
interest payable on loans, MRP, and any revenue funded reductions in the 
borrowing need are charged to the General Fund (GF) or Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) income and expenditure statements as 
appropriate. The net annual charge is known as financing costs - this is 
compared to the net revenue stream: Council Tax, Business rates, and 
general government grants in the case of the GF; and rents and other 
charges in the case of the HRA.  

 

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 

 
2024/25 

actual 

2025/26 

forecast 

2026/27 

budget 

2027/28 

budget 

2028/29 

budget 

GF financing costs 

(£m) 
1.8 1.9 2.0 2.0 1.9 

GF proportion of net 

revenue stream 
8.1% 7.7% 7.7% 7.6% 7.1% 

HRA financing costs 

(£m) 
5.2 5.1 5.3 6.7 7.7 

HRA proportion of net 

revenue stream 
13.9% 13.5% 13.3% 15.8% 17.0% 

 

11.4.4. Sustainability – due to the long-term nature of capital expenditure and 
financing, the revenue implications of the expenditure in the next few years 
will extend up to 50 years in the future. It is imperative therefore that the 
council ensures that the proposed programme is prudent, affordable, and 
sustainable. This is achieved by ensuring that the governance and 
procedures outlined in this strategy are followed; by incorporating and 

Page 120



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

considering the revenue impact in the context of the medium-term financial 
strategy (MTFS); by undertaking financial appraisals of individual projects 
as part of their business cases on a whole life basis; and, for HRA 
expenditure, incorporating the impact in the 30 year business plan. 

11.5. Capital Receipts 

11.5.1. When a capital asset is sold the proceeds, known as capital receipts, can 
be spent on new assets or to reduce debt from prior year capital 
expenditure. Repayments of capital grants, loans, and investments also 
generate capital receipts. Forecast capital receipts and their use in funding 
capital expenditure is detailed in Appendix D. 

11.5.2. Ordinarily capital resources, such as capital receipts, can only be used to 
finance capital expenditure (i.e. the creation or enhancement of a capital 
asset). However, in 2018 the MHCLG Secretary of State issued a direction 
to local authorities in order to give them the freedom to use capital receipts 
from the sale of their own assets (excluding Right to Buy receipts) to help 
fund the revenue costs of transformation projects and release savings, 
including through redundancy. By using capital receipts, the council can 
avoid the negative impact on its annual revenue budget of significant one-
off costs. The council used £194,000 in qualifying receipts for severance 
costs in 2020/21 which will continue to provide significant ongoing savings 
of over £700,000 per annum. The direction has been extended and expires 
on 31 March 2030. While the council has no specific plans to do so, it may 
use qualifying capital receipts, when appropriate, to help fund the revenue 
costs of any transformation projects identified. Further detail is provided in 
the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy at Appendix G. 

11.5.3. In order to effectively manage its estate, the council commenced an asset 
challenge programme in 2018/19. This process involves reviewing all the 
council’s assets on a rolling basis to establish why the council holds 
assets; what options the council has, for example, to increase income, 
dispose, hold or develop; and when these can be realised. 

11.6. The approval process and Project and Programme management 

11.6.1. For effective delivery of the Capital Programme, it is important that the 
programme is realistic in terms of projects which can be delivered on time, 
within budget, and whilst achieving the desired outcomes. The council has 
a number of programme and project management procedures in place to 
help to ensure successful delivery of the capital programme, from the 
initiation and approval of projects to effective performance monitoring and 
post-implementation review. 

11.6.2. The resource requirements for each corporate project are assessed as 
part of the development of the outline business case and associated 
project plan and initially identified in the Business Justification Case which 
is considered by the Programme and Capital Board (PAC). This is then 
considered in relation to the whole programme of projects to determine the 

Page 121



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

cumulative impact of delivery on staff resources.   This can have an impact 
on resourcing in key service areas such as the legal, finance, procurement 
and estates teams depending upon the nature of the projects. Where 
required, external support is commissioned to provide resources which 
cannot be met internally. 

11.6.3. The PAC Board, the role of which is to monitor the programme and project 
delivery together with identifying and addressing resource issues, meets 
on a regular basis to consider such issues.  

11.6.4. Cabinet and Scrutiny Committee receive quarterly updates on financial 
performance as well as key projects many of which are in the capital 
programme. 

11.7. Asset Management Strategy (AMS) 

11.7.1. The AMS seeks to address both the spending priorities for the 
maintenance of operational property and the development of the non-
operational estate to assist economic development and provide both 
capital receipts and revenue income streams. The most recent AMS 
covering the period to 2027 was approved in January 2023 (CAB3377 
refers). 

11.7.2. The council owns a well-located portfolio of property which has the 
potential to provide an increasing level of income for the council, whilst 
other sources of income may be restricted in growth. The value of the 
council’s portfolio can be unlocked by undertaking prudent development or 
refurbishment schemes on existing property to be let as well as identifying 
potential asset sales as detailed in 11.5 above.  

11.7.3. The Capital Programme (Appendix A) includes specific projects in line with 
the underlying asset management plan held by the council’s Estates team. 
In addition, an annual budget, funded by the Property Reserve, has been 
allocated to support reactive capital maintenance and smaller scale 
refurbishments as they arise. 

11.8. IMT Asset Management Plan 

11.8.1. The council formed an IT delivery partnership with Test Valley Borough 
Council in 2009 that shares an infrastructure platform that continues to 
produce both capital avoidance and revenue financial savings.  Assets in 
the shared platform are jointly procured and owned.  Other capital assets 
which are required solely for the use of either party will continue to be 
funded independently.  This will be reflected in setting out investment 
requirements. 

11.8.2. The purpose of the IMT Service is to deliver highly reliable, secure and 
easy to use technology solutions, maintaining operational excellence.  The 
IMT Service uses good practice methodologies (ITIL3) to ensure the 

Page 122



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

quality control of supportable, sustainable, and secure services to deliver. 
high quality IT Services.  

11.8.3. The Asset Management Plan for IT infrastructure recognises this 
requirement for fit-for-purpose equipment through a programme of 
continuous investment. Generally, equipment will require refreshment after 
4-5 years, at intermittent intervals due to the practical constraint of delivery 
and implementation.  The plan previously assumed the need to refresh 
infrastructure items on a like-for-like basis. However, as the council moves 
towards cloud-based solutions, the requirement for hardware replacement 
is reduced and this is reflected in the capital strategy with lower future 
investment required replaced with ongoing costs in the IMT revenue 
budget. 

11.8.4. The council has introduced hybrid working and staff may work up to 50% 
of the time remotely.  A key element of this is the IT investment to enable 
flexible working from a range of locations (specifically the roll-out of 
laptops and hybrid meeting room solutions).   

11.8.5. Digitalisation is a key tenet of the council’s TC25 Programme and we must 
continue to align our IT delivery to ensure that we provide technical 
solutions that enable a shift from traditional IT support and focus more on 
transformation services to complement our digital and workforce strategy. 

11.8.6. The following table sets out the proposed IMT capital expenditure for 
2026/27 to be financed from the IMT reserve: 

 

11.9. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

11.9.1. The HRA capital programme takes full account of priorities detailed in the 
council’s Housing Strategy, its 30-year HRA Business Plan and the 
Housing Asset Management Strategy.   

11.9.2. Appendix A provides summary detail on the HRA capital programme for 
2026/27 and forecasts to 2035/36. Further detailed information can be 
found in the Housing budget paper (CAB3540). 

11.10. Commercial and non-Treasury Investment Activities 

11.10.1. The council invests for three broad purposes: 

IMT Capital 2026/27

£'000

Corporate network 125

Multi-functional device (MFD) replacement 29

Total 154

Page 123



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

• because it has surplus cash as a result of the reserves it holds and its 
day-to-day activities such as when income is received in advance of 
expenditure (known as treasury management investments); 

• to support local public services by undertaking regeneration projects, 
by lending to, and by buying shares in other organisations (service 
investments); and 

• to earn investment income (commercial investments). 

11.10.2. The council’s Treasury Management Strategy, and associated limits and 
indicators, is reported in CAB3538. Further detail on service and 
commercial investments including total investment indicators is provided in 
Appendix F. 

11.10.3. As noted elsewhere in this report, the council’s Asset Management 
Strategy seeks to develop the estate to assist economic development and 
provide both capital receipts and revenue income streams.  

11.10.4. Individual projects are supported by appropriate business cases, and the 
programme as a whole is monitored to ensure that sufficient resources are 
available, both financial and in respect of staff. Where appropriate, the 
council will procure additional external resource when either there is 
insufficient officer availability or when specialist advice and support is 
required. 

11.10.5. In addition to this, Council approved a Strategic Asset Purchase Scheme 
(SAPS) in January 2017 (CAB2872 refers). As part of this, a SAPS Board 
was created which includes members and officers; the board receives 
recommendations of potential purchases and the s151 officer has 
delegated authority to make acquisitions up to £4m following discussions 
with the board, subject to due diligence, or recommend to Cabinet and 
Council to approve acquisitions above £4m. 

11.10.6. The following flowchart details the process: 

Property identified as a potential Strategic Acquisition by the Corporate Head of Asset 
Management and/or external advisor. 



 

Estates to advise SAPS Board members of a prospective asset purchase. 



 

Pre-offer stage: circulate Business Case (to the s151 officer’s requirements) of information 
on full details and cash flow of the potential acquisition to the SAPS Board and Legal 
Services including full financial implications of purchase are fully understood, before 

proceeding 



Page 124



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

 

Request approval from SAPS & s151 Officer to enter into the bidding process. 



 

To update SAPS Board as necessary and thereafter agree Heads of Terms where bid is 
successful and commission independent surveys, purchase report and valuation. 



 

Subject to any final observations from SAPS Board request their authority to accept the offer 
subject to contract. 



 

Once the bid is confirmed by SAPS Board, Asset Management to instruct solicitors and 
when contracts are agreed, seek final approval from SAPS to exchange. 

 
 

11.11. Risk Appetite 

11.11.1. The council’s Risk Appetite Statement is an integral part of the council’s 
Risk Management Policy.  It ensures that the opportunities the council is 
willing to take to achieve its strategic priorities and objectives are 
measured, consistent and compatible with the council’s capacity to accept 
and manage risk; and that they do not expose the council to unknown, 
unmanaged or unacceptable risks. The Policy was most recently updated 
and approved in March 2025 (CAB3500). The Policy is subject to review 
annually and the risk appetite detailed below may therefore change. 

11.11.2. During the course of the year the council will take fair, measured and 
targeted levels of risk to achieve the priority objectives included in the 
Council Plan. There will be opportunities for the council to be innovative or 
work differently, and any identified risks will need to be considered against 
the anticipated cost or efficiency benefits. 

11.11.3. The Risk Appetite Statement supports members and officers in decision 
making by setting out where the cabinet is comfortable taking different 
levels of risk, and which levels of risk are unacceptable. The council’s risk 
appetite is considered in conjunction with the risk section of all committee 
reports when decisions are made. 

11.11.4. The council’s current overall risk appetite is defined as MODERATE (see 
table below for definitions). This means the council remains open to 
innovative ways of working and to pursue options that offer potentially 
substantial rewards, despite also having greater level of risks. However, 
the council’s preference is for safe delivery options which have a lower 
degree of risk, especially for those services required by statute. 

 

Page 125



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

Risk Appetite Definitions 

Avoid No appetite. Not prepared to take risk. 

Averse Prepared to accept only the very lowest levels of risk, with the 
preference being for ultra-safe delivery options, while recognising 
that these will have little or no potential for reward/return. 

Cautious Willing to accept some low risks, while maintaining an overall 
preference for safe delivery options despite the probability of these 
having mostly restricted potential for reward/return. 

Moderate Tending always towards exposure to only modest levels of risk in 
order to achieve acceptable outcomes. 

Open Prepared to consider all delivery options and select those with the 
highest probability of productive outcomes, even when there are 
elevated levels of associated risk. 

Hungry Eager to seek original/creative/pioneering delivery options and to 
accept the associated substantial risk levels in order to secure 
successful outcomes and meaningful reward/return. 

 

11.11.5. Risk appetite is not a single, fixed concept and there will be a range of 
appetites for different risks which may vary over time.  The council’s risk 
appetite by corporate priority (as at March 2025) and guiding principles are 
set out below. 

Council Plan Priority Risk Appetite 

Greener Faster Open Reflecting the urgency of the climate 
crisis we will consider options with 
elevated levels of risk if they deliver 
required outcomes faster. 

Good homes for all Open We will choose innovative solutions 
which may bring elevated levels of risk in 
order to provide homes that are: 

• Affordable 

• safe 

• sustainable 

• with low energy usage and low 
bills 

• built in the right areas for our 
changing communities. 

Healthy Communities Moderate We will continue to facilitate and deliver 
solutions, often working with partners, 
that produce positive outcomes for all our 
residents. We will usually take moderate 
to low-risk options. 

Thriving Places Moderate We will tend towards exposure to modest 
levels of risk in order to deliver positive 
outcomes for our local economy and 
communities in these challenging times. 

Page 126



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

Efficient and Effective Moderate We will, in order to ensure resilience, 
enhance our services and make the best 
use of our resources and explore 
alternative delivery models and digital 
solutions. We will tend towards moderate 
risk exposure to deliver good levels of 
service. 

Listening and Learning Moderate We will tend towards exposure to modest 
levels of risk in order to improve 
engagement and satisfaction with our 
services.   

 

11.12. Knowledge, capacity, and skills 

11.12.1. In order to deliver the Capital Programme, it is essential that the council 
has access to the right knowledge and skills. 

11.12.2. Internally the council employs fully qualified and experienced staff such as 
accountants, solicitors, and surveyors. It is fully supportive in providing 
access to training, both internal and external, to enable those staff to 
complete their Continuing Professional Development (CPD) requirements. 

11.12.3. Where the council does not have the knowledge, capacity, or skills 
required, use is made of external advisors and specialists in their field. The 
council currently employs Arlingclose Ltd as their Treasury advisers, 
PSTax to advise on tax matters, Wilks Head & Eve to undertake its year 
end valuations, and other specialists as required to support, for example, 
its major projects. 

11.12.4. In addition, the council ensures that its members are suitably experienced 
to undertake the governance responsibilities commensurate to their roles 
by providing training opportunities (internally and externally provided) and 
access to workshops either within the council or with its local government 
partners. There are a number of mandatory training sessions for members 
throughout the year including, for example, Code of Conduct training and 
training for the Audit & Governance Committee. Several members 
attended briefing sessions in October 2025: “Understanding your council’s 
financial statements” provided by CIPFA and a session on Treasury 
Management delivered provided by the council’s treasury advisors 
Arlingclose. 

11.12.5. The council also procures, when required, expert advice and assistance 
externally such as financial and legal advice. 

 
12 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED  

Page 127



  CAB3539 
 

 

 

12.1 The council could elect to have no capital programme at all or to plan for an 
alternative programme. Both these options have been rejected as the 
council would no longer be able to meet its objectives.  

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:- 

Previous Committee Reports:- 

The Capital Strategy and Programme are approved annually.  

Other Background Documents:- 

None 

APPENDICES: 

Appendix A – Capital Programme 2026-2036 

Appendix B – Capital Programme Financing 2026-2036 

Appendix C – Revenue Consequences of General Fund Capital Programme 2026 to 
2036 

Appendix D – Capital Receipts Reserve Forecast 

Appendix E – Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2026/27 

Appendix F – Investment activities 

Appendix G – Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 

 

Page 128



Capital Programme 2026-2036

CAB3539
Appendix A

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 2035/36 TOTAL

Priority
Revised 
forecast

Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast
2026-2036 
Forecast

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

General Fund

Approved*
Disabled Facility Grants Good Homes for All 1,528       1,528        1,528        1,528        1,528        1,528        1,528        1,528        1,528        1,528        1,528        15,280
Car Parks - various Thriving Places 467          916           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                916
IMT Assets Effective and Efficient 132          154           65             226           16             51             79             21             196           21             21             850
Chesil Multi Storey car park - replacement lifts Thriving Places -               500           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                500
SAPS - Car Park at the Dean, Alresford Thriving Places -               425           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                425
CIL funded HCC projects Thriving Places 664          282           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                282
Wickham Recreation Ground - grant of S106 monies to parish Healthy Communities 30            160           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                160
Public conveniences improvements Thriving Places 137          140           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                140
Meadowside Leisure centre - new equipment Healthy Communities -               -                -                101           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                101
Open Spaces & Recreational Facilities - various sites Healthy Communities 110          70             -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                70
River Park Pavilion Healthy Communities 2,261       -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Food waste collection - capital investments incl. vehicles & caddies Greener Faster 1,804       -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
CIL funded community projects Thriving Places 1,234       -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Special maintenance vehicle replacements Effective and Efficient 278          -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Rural Prosperity Fund - approved projects Thriving Places 203          -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Car parks - public convenience improvements Healthy Communities 170          -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
UK Shared Prosperity Fund - approved projects Thriving Places 131          -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Winchester Football Club clubhouse improvements Healthy Communities 100          -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Meadowside Leisure centre - 3G pitch refurbishment Healthy Communities 82            -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Guildhall fire safety improvement works Effective and Efficient 71            -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Meadowside Leisure centre - solar PV Greener Faster 60            -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
59 Colebrook Street - shared accommodation Good Homes for All 51            -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Electric animal welfare vans Effective and Efficient 51            -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Partial demolition at site of former leisure centre at River Park Healthy Communities 50            -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Winchester Sport & Leisure Park Healthy Communities 32            -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Jane Austen Statue - capital grant Thriving Places 10            -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Total Approved* 9,656       4,175        1,593        1,855        1,544        1,579        1,607        1,549        1,724        1,549        1,549        18,724      

Projects highlighted in bold are either complete or substantially complete

P
age 129



Capital Programme 2026-2036

CAB3539
Appendix A

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 2035/36 TOTAL

Priority
Revised 
forecast

Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast
2026-2036 
Forecast

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Subject to Appraisal*

LEP grant fund applications - TBD Thriving Places -               2,000        4,000        4,000        -                -                -                -                -                -                -                10,000
CWR - CIL funded infrastructure works Thriving Places -               1,000        1,750        1,750        -                -                -                -                -                -                -                4,500
Guildhall capital improvements Thriving Places -               825           2,475        -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                3,300
CWR - potential asset purchases for regeneration Thriving Places -               30             255           2,325        -                -                -                -                -                -                -                2,610
Demolition of former leisure centre at River Park Healthy Communities -               2,000        -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                2,000
Energy Management Projects Greener Faster -               500           500           500           500           -                -                -                -                -                -                2,000
Car Parks Thriving Places -               -                180           180           180           180           180           180           180           180           180           1,620
Asset Management Plan Effective and Efficient 50            150           150           150           150           150           150           150           165           200           200           1,615
CIL funded community projects - unallocated Thriving Places -               650           650           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                1,300
North Whiteley Sports Pavilion - grant of S106 monies to parish Healthy Communities 100          500           600           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                1,100
Brooks car park - air handling unit & replacement lighting Thriving Places -               1,000        -                -                -                80             -                -                -                -                -                1,080
City Offices - refurbishments inc. new lifts and lighting Effective and Efficient -               -                170           -                -                250           -                -                -                -                -                420
Meadowside Leisure centre - replacement lift and windows, roofing works Healthy Communities -               45             -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                310           355
CWR - Bus & Accessibility Improvements Thriving Places -               250           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                250
Guildhall capital repairs to clock tower Effective and Efficient -               250           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                250
Open Spaces & Recreational Facilities - various sites Healthy Communities -               50             50             90             -                -                -                -                -                -                -                190
Cipher House roof replacement Effective and Efficient -               160           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                160
Perimeter footpath at River Park Recreation Ground Healthy Communities -               153           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                153
Stable Yard Conversion rear of 59 Colebrook St Good Homes for All -               150           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                150
West Wing refurbishment - replacement lift Effective and Efficient -               -                140           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                140
Special maintenance vehicle replacements Effective and Efficient -               100           -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                100
Replacement printers Effective and Efficient -               -                93             -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                93
City Offices annexe - replacement windows Effective and Efficient -               20             -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                20
North Walls - cricket nets (Town) Healthy Communities 50            -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Rural England Prosperity Fund - unallocated Thriving Places 20            -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                0
Subject to Appraisal* 220          9,833        11,013      8,995        830           660           330           330           345           380           690           33,406      

Total General Fund 9,876       14,008      12,606      10,850      2,374        2,239        1,937        1,879        2,069        1,929        2,239        52,130      

The Strategic Asset Purchase Scheme (SAPS) is subject to separate governance procedures as outlined in the Capital Investment Strategy

SAPS - unallocated Thriving Places -               4,000        -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                4,000
Total SAPS - unallocated -               4,000        -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                4,000        

Housing Revenue Account

New build Good Homes for All 21,856     16,602      23,718      18,928      40,717      44,890      36,098      -                -                -                -                180,953
Major repairs Good Homes for All 6,309       10,653      8,766        9,479        9,582        9,735        5,665        7,416        6,874        8,114        7,371        83,655
Improvements & conversions Good Homes for All 350          1,117        108           111           114           118           118           121           125           128           132           2,191
Disabled adaptations Good Homes for All 700          751           773           796           820           845           870           896           923           951           979           8,605
Fire Safety provision Good Homes for All 3,301       2,662        2,742        554           570           588           605           623           642           661           681           10,329
Climate Change Emergency Greener Faster 3,100       6,055        7,818        7,659        8,765        8,478        -                -                -                -                -                38,774
Other capital spend Good Homes for All 386          1,567        1,075        1,396        125           129           133           137           141           145           150           4,999
Total Housing Revenue Account 36,002     39,407      45,000      38,923      60,693      64,782      43,489      9,194        8,705        10,000      9,313        329,506    

Grand Total 45,878     57,415      57,606      49,773      63,067      67,021      45,426      11,073      10,774      11,929      11,552      385,636    

* Under the Council's Financial Procedure Rule 7.4, the inclusion of a scheme in the capital programme does not constitute authority to incur the expenditure. Such authority is obtained subject to the various conditions and limits as set out in the Constitution.

P
age 130



Capital Programme Financing 2026 to 2036

CAB3539
Appendix B

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 2035/36 Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

General Fund
Externally Funded
Government Grants 1,924 3,528 5,528 5,528 1,528 1,528 1,528 1,528 1,528 1,528 1,528 25,280
External Contributions

Non governmental grants 1,512 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Open Space Fund 229 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Developer's Contributions 130 690 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,290

Total Externally Funded 3,795 4,218 6,128 5,528 1,528 1,528 1,528 1,528 1,528 1,528 1,528 26,570

Earmarked Reserves
Car Parks Property 562 2,166 180 180 180 260 180 180 180 180 180 3,866
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 3,562 2,225 2,400 1,750 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,375
Town CIL 495 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Information, Management, and Technology 67 134 65 226 16 51 79 21 196 21 21 830
Homelessness Risk Prevention reserve 0 150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 150
Major Investment Reserve 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Property - Asset Management Reserve 263 1,950 2,935 150 150 400 150 150 165 200 510 6,760
Winchester Town 110 120 50 90 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 260
Pride in Place 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Earmarked Reserves 5,119 6,745 5,630 2,396 346 711 409 351 541 401 711 18,241

Capital Receipts 
General fund 172 2,020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,020
Right to buy allowable 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Capital Receipts 172 2,020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,020

Revenue Contribution to Capital 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Financing Requirement 790 5,025 848 2,926 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,299

Total General Fund 9,876 18,008 12,606 10,850 2,374 2,239 1,937 1,879 2,069 1,929 2,239 56,130

Housing
Capital Grants and Contributions 1,069 2,045 6,215 5,000 3,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 16,260
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Major Repairs Reserve 20,525 34,661 12,160 12,034 12,570 13,171 13,780 2 4,541 8,102 7,352 118,373
Capital Receipts 14,408 2,301 6,543 6,805 5,020 5,337 9,437 9,192 4,164 1,898 1,961 52,658
Nutrient Reserve 0 400 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 800

Capital Financing Requirement 0 0 19,682 15,084 40,103 46,274 20,272 0 0 0 0 141,415

Total Housing Revenue Account 36,002 39,407 45,000 38,923 60,693 64,782 43,489 9,194 8,705 10,000 9,313 329,506

Total Financing of Capital Programme 45,878 57,415 57,606 49,773 63,067 67,021 45,426 11,073 10,774 11,929 11,552 385,636

P
age 131



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Revenue Consequences of General Fund Capital Programme 2026 to 2036

CAB3539
Appendix C

Notes:

Revenue consequences are estimates and are subject to change. More detailed analysis is carried out prior to actual expenditure being approved.

GENERAL FUND 2025/26

£000

2026/27

£000

2027/28

£000

2028/29

£000

2029/30

£000

2030/31

£000

2031/32

£000

2032/33

£000

2033/34

£000

2034/35

£000

2035/36

£000

TOTAL SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) -                 (103)           (117)           (190)           (86)             (89)             (93)             (97)             (100)           (31)             (35)             

Forecast interest payable and Minimum Revenue Provision are affected by borrowing rates available to the Council. 
The figures above are based on prevailing rates. An increase or decrease of 1.0% (100 basis points) to long-term borrowing rates would have the following impact:

Difference to TOTAL SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (+1.0%) -                 (3)               (7)               (7)               (8)               (8)               (8)               (8)               (8)               (5)               (5)               

Difference to TOTAL SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (-1.0%) -                 3                7                7                8                8                8                8                8                5                5                

* Under the Council's Financial Procedure Rule 7.4, the inclusion of a scheme in the capital programme does not constitute authority to incur the expenditure. Such authority is obtained subject to the 
various conditions and limits as set out in the Constitution.

P
age 133



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Capital Receipts Reserve Forecast

CAB3539
Appendix D

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 2035/36
CAPITAL RECEIPTS RESERVE Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Consolidated Opening Balance (9,405)        (4,778)        (2,758)        (2,757)        (2,757)        (2,756)        (2,755)        (2,755)        (2,755)        (2,755)        (2,765)        

GENERAL FUND
Opening Balance (2,986)        (3,869)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        
Forecast receipts (1,055)        -             -             -             -             -             -             -             -             -             -             
Forecast utilisation 172             2,020          -             -             -             -             -             -             -             -             -             
Closing Balance (3,869)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        (1,849)        

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
Opening Balance (6,419)        (909)           (909)           (908)           (908)           (907)           (906)           (906)           (906)           (906)           (916)           
Forecast receipts (8,898)        (2,301)        (6,542)        (6,804)        (5,020)        (5,336)        (9,437)        (9,192)        (4,164)        (1,907)        (2,075)        
Forecast utilisation 14,408        2,301          6,543          6,805          5,020          5,337          9,437          9,192          4,164          1,898          1,961          
Closing Balance (909)           (909)           (908)           (908)           (907)           (906)           (906)           (906)           (906)           (916)           (1,029)        

Consolidated Closing Balance (4,778)        (2,758)        (2,757)        (2,757)        (2,756)        (2,755)        (2,755)        (2,755)        (2,755)        (2,765)        (2,878)        

P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CAB3539 
Appendix E 

   

Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2026/27 

Where the council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside resources 
to repay that debt in later years.  The amount charged to the revenue budget for the 
repayment of debt is known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), although there 
has been no statutory minimum since 2008. The Local Government Act 2003 
requires the council to have regard to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision (the MHCLG 
Guidance) most recently issued in April 2024. 

The broad aim of the MHCLG Guidance is to ensure that debt is repaid over a period 
that is aligned with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits. 

The MHCLG Guidance requires the council to approve an Annual MRP Statement 
each year and provides a number of options for calculating a prudent amount of 
MRP but does not preclude the use of other appropriate methods.  The following 
statement incorporates options recommended in the Guidance. 

MRP is calculated by reference to the capital financing requirement (CFR) which is 
the total amount of past capital expenditure that has yet to be permanently financed, 
noting that debt must be repaid and therefore can only be a temporary form of 
funding. The CFR is calculated from the Authority’s balance sheet in accordance 
with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Prudential Code for 
Capital Expenditure in Local Authorities, 2021 edition.  

For unsupported capital expenditure incurred after 31st March 2008, MRP will be 
determined by charging the expenditure over the expected useful life of the relevant 
asset as the principal repayment on an annuity with an annual interest rate equal to 
the relevant PWLB rate at the end of the financial year when the asset is complete, 
starting in the year after the asset becomes operational. MRP on purchases of 
freehold land will be charged over 50 years. MRP on expenditure not related to fixed 
assets but which has been capitalised by regulation or direction will be charged over 
20 years.  

For assets acquired by leases or the Private Finance, MRP will be determined as 
being equal to the element of the rent or charge that goes to write down the balance 
sheet liability.  

Where former operating leases have been brought onto the balance sheet due to the 
adoption of the IFRS 16 Leases accounting standard, and the asset values have 
been adjusted for accruals, prepayments, premiums and/or incentives, then the MRP 
charges will be adjusted so that the overall charge for MRP over the life of the lease 
reflects the value of the right-of-use asset recognised on transition rather than the 
liability. 

For capital expenditure on loans to third parties which were made primarily for 
financial return rather than direct service purposes, MRP will be charged in 
accordance with the policy for the assets funded by the loan, including where 
appropriate, delaying MRP until the year after the assets become operational. This 

Page 137



CAB3539 
Appendix E 

MRP charge will be reduced by the value any repayments of loan principal received 
during in the year, with the capital receipts so arising applied to finance the 
expenditure instead.  

For capital expenditure on loans to third parties which were made primarily for 
service purposes, the Authority will make nil MRP except as detailed below for 
expected credit losses. Instead, the Authority will apply the capital receipts arising 
from the repayments of the loan principal to finance the expenditure in the year they 
are received. 

For capital loans made on or after 7th May 2024 where an expected credit loss is 
recognised during the year, the MRP charge in respect of the loan will be no lower 
than the loss recognised. Where expected credit losses are reversed, for example on 
the eventual repayment of the loan, this will be treated as an overpayment. 

For capital loans made before 7th May 2024 and for loans where expected credit 
losses are not applicable, where a shortfall in capital receipts is anticipated, MRP will 
be charged to cover that shortfall over the remaining life of the assets funded by the 
loan. 

Housing Revenue Account 

No MRP will be charged in respect of assets held within the Housing Revenue 
Account but depreciation on those assets will be charged instead in line with 
regulations. 

Capital expenditure incurred during 2026/27 will not be subject to a MRP charge until 
2027/28 or later. 

Based on the Authority’s latest estimate of its CFR on 31st March 2026, the budget 
for MRP has been set as follows: 

 

 

31.03.2026 
Estimated 

CFR 
£m 

2026/27 
Estimated 

MRP 
£ 

Unsupported capital expenditure after 31.03.2008 66.7 1,271,000 

Finance leases incl. Right of Use assets 2.7 641,000 

Total General Fund 69.4 1,912,000 

Assets in the Housing Revenue Account 212.5 Nil 

Total Housing Revenue Account 212.5 Nil 

Total 281.9 1,652,000 

 

 
 

Page 138



CAB3539 
Appendix E 

Capital receipts  
 
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets are classed as capital receipts and are 
typically used to finance new capital expenditure. Where the council decides instead 
to use capital receipts to repay debt and hence reduce the CFR, the calculation of 
MRP will be adjusted as follows: 
 

• Capital receipts arising on the repayment of principal on capital loans to 
third parties will be used to lower the MRP charge in respect of the same 
loans in the year of receipt, if any. 
 

• Capital receipts arising on the repayment of principal on finance lease 
receivables will be used to lower the MRP charge in respect of the 
acquisition of the asset subject to the lease in the year of receipt, if any. 

 
• Capital receipts arising from other assets which form an identified part of 

the council’s MRP calculations will be used to reduce the MRP charge in 
respect of the same assets over their remaining useful lives, starting in the 
year after the receipt is applied. 
 

• Any other capital receipts applied to repay debt will be used to reduce 
outstanding CFR in respect of other assets which form part of the council’s 
MRP calculations. This will have the effect of reducing the MRP charge of 
those assets over their remaining useful lives, starting in the year after the 
receipt is applied.  

 
Appropriations to/from the Housing Revenue Account 
 
Where assets are transferred from the Housing Revenue Account to the Geneal 
Fund, for the purposes of the MRP calculation, this will be treated as new General 
Fund capital expenditure. 
    
Where assets are transferred from the General Fund to the Housing Revenue 
Account, for the purposes of the MRP calculation, this will be treated as a capital 
receipt applied to repay debt. 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



CAB3539 
Appendix F 

 

Investment Activities   

The council invests for three broad purposes: 

• because it has surplus cash as a result of the reserves it holds and its day-to-
day activities such as when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as 
treasury management investments – further detail including associated limits and 
indicators is reported in CAB3538); 

• to support local public services by undertaking regeneration projects, by 
lending to, and by buying shares in other organisations (service investments); and 

• to earn investment income (commercial investments). 

 

Service Investments: Loans 

Contribution: The council considers lending money to its subsidiaries, housing 

associations, and other entities to support local public services and stimulate local 

economic growth. The council currently has outstanding loans with Housing 

Associations which help to meets its objective of providing affordable housing and 

preventing homelessness. It has no subsidiaries currently but is setting up a wholly 

owned Housing Company. 

Security: The main risk when making service loans is that the borrower will be 

unable to repay the principal lent and/or the interest due. In order to limit this risk, 

and ensure that total exposure to service loans remains proportionate to the size of 

the council, upper limits on the outstanding loans to each category of borrower have 

been set as follows:   

Table 1: Loans for service purposes in £ millions 

Category of borrower 31.3.2025 actual 2026/27 

Balance 

owing 

Loss 

allowance 

Net figure 

in accounts 

Approved 

Limit 

Subsidiaries - - - 1m 

Housing associations 0.09m 0.05m 0.04m 1m 

Other entities* - - - 1m 

TOTAL 0.09m 0.05m 0.04m 3m 

*loans to other entities will be considered on a case-by-case basis by the Treasury Investment 

Group (TIG). Further information on TIG is provided in CAB3538 

 

Page 141



CAB3539 
Appendix F 

Accounting standards require the council to set aside a loss allowance for loans, 

reflecting the likelihood of non-payment. The figures for loans in the council’s 

statement of accounts are shown net of this loss allowance. However, the council 

makes every reasonable effort to collect the full sum lent and has appropriate credit 

control arrangements in place to recover overdue repayments. Included in loans to 

housing associations are £35,000 of loans which have an allowance of the full 

amount; these loans are in respect of asset purchases for the provision of temporary 

accommodation to prevent homelessness and are only repayable in the event the 

asset is sold or its use changes.  

Risk assessment: The council assesses the risk of loss before entering into and 

whilst holding service loans by considering any loans on a case-by-case basis. This 

includes, where appropriate, completion of a business case, assessing the purpose 

of the loan, the entity to which the loan is made, the use of credit ratings, and the 

procurement of external advice. 

 

Service Investments: Shares 

The council does not actively consider the purchase of direct shares for Treasury 
Management purposes. It has, however, set up Venta Living, a wholly owned 
subsidiary in which the council holds £150,000 in shares.  

 

Commercial Investments: Property 

Contribution: The council owns an investment property portfolio (assets held solely 

for rental income or capital appreciation) which was valued at £68.7m as at 31 March 

2025 and generated gross income of £4.2m and net income after costs of £2.7m in 

2024/25. This income helps contribute to the Council Strategy priorities.  

In 2025/26 the council has disposed of 3 investment properties (as at 31 December 

2025) for a total of £0.9m. Two properties were part of the partnered home purchase 

scheme (PHP), in which homebuyers could purchase shares of properties in the 

private market, when homeowners decided to purchase the remaining shares owned 

by the council. The third property was 27 Eastgate Street. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 142



CAB3539 
Appendix F 

 

Table 2: Property held for investment purposes in £ millions 

1 April 2024 69.7 

Acquisitions 0.0 

Enhancements 0.0 

Disposals (0.2) 

Gains/(losses) in fair value (0.6) 

Transfers (to)/from PPE (operational assets)* (0.2) 

31 March 2025 68.7 

Budgeted  

Acquisitions 0.0 

Enhancements 0.0 

Disposals (0.9) 

Gains/(losses) in fair value** - 

Transfers (to)/from PPE (operational assets)* 0.0 

31 March 2026 67.8 

*an investment property is held for rental income and/or capital appreciation; when the continued 

purpose of holding the asset changes to meeting a service objective it is transferred to Property 

Plant & Equipment or vice versa 

**valuations are carried out at the balance sheet date and so it is not possible to forecast future 

changes in fair value 

The Council has a mixed investment property portfolio with the largest single 

element being in the retail sector. This is primarily due to historic holdings on 

Winchester’s High Street with some assets being held by the Council and its 

predecessor organisations for over a hundred years.  

Table 3: Investment properties by type 

As at 31 March 

2025 

Retail Offices Industrial Residential 

/ Garages 

Other Total 

Value £000s 26,631 9,805 7,136 24,177 986 68,735 

 

Security: Investment property values are subject to fluctuation and so, in some 

years, the Council may make a loss in fair value. However, the Council is not reliant 

on capital receipts from the sale of its investment property assets and so any short- 

or medium-term loss is unrealised. 

Risk assessment: The Council generates significant income from its portfolio and, 

in order to ensure continued revenue streams, the portfolio is kept under rolling 

review as part of the Asset Challenge programme and, where appropriate, assets 

Page 143



CAB3539 
Appendix F 

are identified for sale. The Council does not plan to purchase new investment 

properties. It has, however, used prudential borrowing (also known as Capital 

Financing Requirement (CFR)) to undertake the refurbishment of property in its 

existing portfolio to enable it to continue to generate rental income. When any such 

refurbishment is planned, it is subject to a business case and approval in accordance 

with the governance arrangements outlined in the Capital Strategy. As at 31 March 

2025, the Council had £10.2m of CFR in relation to investment properties. 

Liquidity: Compared with other investment types, property is relatively difficult to sell 

and convert to cash at short notice and can take a considerable period to sell in 

certain market conditions.  The Council is not reliant on the sale of investment 

property for short-term liquidity purposes. 

 

Proportionality  

The income the Council generates from its investment activities helps it deliver its 

objectives. The table below details the proportion of investment income as a 

proportion of gross service expenditure (which includes one-offs). In order to set the 

budget and include realistic forecasts in the Medium-Term Financial Plan, prudent 

estimates of Treasury Management income are included which reflect forecast 

capital expenditure and reserve balances, and the Council’s investment property 

portfolio is actively managed as detailed elsewhere in the Capital Strategy. 

Table 4: Proportionality of Investments 

 2024/25 

Actual 

£000 

2025/26 

Forecast 

£000 

2026/27 

Budget 

£000 

2027/28 

Budget 

£000 

2028/29 

Budget 

£000 

Gross service expenditure 38,997 44,915 47,108 47,406 43,862 

Investment income* 5,077 3,709 3,498 3,449 3,149 

Proportion 13.0% 8.3% 7.4% 7.3% 7.2% 

*Investment income includes income from treasury investments and investment properties.  

 

Investment Indicators  

The Authority has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members 

and the public to assess the Authority’s total risk exposure as a result of its 

investment decisions. 

Total risk exposure: The first indicator shows the Authority’s total investments and 

therefore its exposure to potential investment losses. The Council seeks to minimise 

Page 144



CAB3539 
Appendix F 

its risk of loss and how it achieves this is detailed in the Capital Investment Strategy 

and the Treasury Management Strategy (CAB3538).  

 

Table 5: Total investment exposure in £millions 

Total investment exposure 
31.03.2025 

Actual 

31.03.2026 

Forecast 

31.03.2027 

Forecast 

Treasury management investments 16.2m 10.0m 10.0m 

Service investments: Loans 0.1m 0.1m 0.1m 

Service investments: Shares 0.2m 0.2m 0.2m 

Commercial investments: Property 68.7m 67.8m 68.0m 

TOTAL EXPOSURE 85.2m 78.1m 78.3m 

 

 

How investments are funded: The following table details which investments are 

funded by external borrowing. The Council’s borrowing need (known as its Capital 

Financing Requirement or CFR) reflects capital expenditure that hasn’t been 

financed from other sources – CFR increases with additional unfinanced capital 

expenditure and reduces with annual provisions from revenue (known as Minimum 

Revenue Provision or MRP) over the life of each asset. The Council is able to 

internally borrow a proportion of its borrowing need due, for example, to the usable 

reserves it holds, and income received in advance, but will borrow externally when 

its need exceeds cash balances available. External borrowing in the forecast period 

is expected to be HRA related and not in respect of the investment types below. 

 

Table 6: Investments funded by external borrowing in £millions  

Investments funded by external 

borrowing 

31.03.2025 

Actual 

31.03.2026 

Forecast 

31.03.2027 

Forecast 

 Treasury management investments 0.0m 0.0m 0.0m 

Service investments: Loans 0.0m 0.0m 0.0m 

Service investments: Shares 0.0m 0.0m 0.0m 

Commercial investments: Property 0.0m 0.0m 0.0m 

TOTAL FUNDED BY EXTERNAL 

BORROWING 

0.0m 0.0m 0.0m 

 

 

Rate of return received (%): This indicator shows the investment income received 

less the associated costs, including the cost of borrowing where appropriate, as a 

Page 145



CAB3539 
Appendix F 

proportion of the sum invested. Note that due to the complex local government 

accounting framework, not all recorded gains and losses affect the revenue account 

in the year they are incurred.  

 

Table 7: Investment rate of return (net of costs) % 

Investments net rate of return 
2024/25 

Actual 

2025/26 

Forecast 

2026/27 

Forecast 

Treasury management investments 4.7% 4.0% 3.5% 

Service investments: Loans 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Service investments: Shares 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Commercial investments: Property 3.9% 3.3% 3.4% 

ALL INVESTMENTS* 4.0% 3.4% 3.4% 

*weighted average return 

 

Capital financing requirement (CFR) to total fixed assets value: Capital 

Financing requirement represents the total borrowing need of the Council. This 

indicator shows the CFR as a percentage of total fixed assets and forecasts assume 

the full delivery of the capital programme. The Council is able to internally borrow an 

element of its need and actual external borrowing stood at £154.5m at 31 March 

2025. Further detail on borrowing is included in the Treasury Management Strategy 

(CAB3538)  

Table 8: Capital Financing Requirement to total fixed assets value 

Capital Financing Requirement to 

total fixed assets value 

2024/25 

Actual 

2025/26 

Forecast* 

2026/27 

Forecast* 

General Fund - total fixed assets (£m) 205.4 210.3 218.2 

Outstanding CFR (%) 34.3% 33.0% 33.2% 

Housing Revenue Account - total fixed 

assets (£m) 

592.3 605.6 621.5 

Outstanding CFR (%) 35.9% 35.1% 34.2% 

*excludes future changes in valuation 

 

 

 

Page 146



CAB3539 
Appendix G 

Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 

 

1. Introduction 

Ordinarily, capital resources such as capital receipts can only be used on capital 

expenditure (i.e. the creation or enhancement of a capital asset). However, the 

MHCLG Secretary of State issued a direction to local authorities in order to give 

them the freedom to use capital receipts from the sale of their own assets (excluding 

Right to Buy receipts) to help fund the revenue costs of transformation projects and 

release savings, including through redundancy, for the financial years 2016/17 to 

2021/22. A further direction was issued in 2022 covering the financial years 2022/23 

to 2024/25 and this has since been further extended to 31 March 2030. By using 

capital receipts, the council can avoid the negative impact of one-off costs on its 

annual revenue budget, but this will reduce the available resources for future capital 

projects. 

 

2. The Direction 

The direction issued by the Secretary of State specifies that local authorities can 

treat as capital expenditure, expenditure which: 

• “is incurred by the Authorities that is designed to generate ongoing revenue 

savings in the delivery of public services and/or transform service delivery to 

reduce costs and/or transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs or 

demand for services in future years for any of the public sector delivery 

partners; and 

 

• is properly incurred by the Authorities for the financial years that begin on 1 

April 2025, 1 April 2026, 1 April 2027, 1 April 2028 and 1 April 2029”. 

 

 

3. Available capital receipts 

It is a condition of the direction that it only applies to capital receipts received in the 

years to which the direction applies. 

 

4. Proposed use 

2025/26 – the council does not plan to apply capital receipts to transformation 

projects. 

2026/27 onwards - the council may use qualifying capital receipts, when appropriate 

and if available, to help fund the revenue costs of any transformation projects 

Page 147



CAB3539 
Appendix G 

identified, though none specifically has been identified to date. In accordance with 

the direction, any such projects must deliver ongoing savings to the council. 

 

5. Prudential indicators 

As the capital receipts available under the direction are not allocated to existing 

proposed projects, there is no impact on the council’s prudential indicators as it has 

not been necessary to identify alternative funding sources. 

It should be noted that any receipts used will not be available for future projects and 

alternatives such as borrowing may need to be identified in the future which would 

increase the council’s capital financing requirement (borrowing need). However, the 

council is allowed to borrow for capital projects whereas it is not for revenue 

purposes.   

 

Page 148



  

CABINET 
 

12 February 2026 
 

Draft Minute Extract 
 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 26/27 (CAB3538) 
 
Councillor Cutler introduced the report noting that it had been considered at Scrutiny 
Committee on 10 February, the draft minutes of which had been circulated to 
Cabinet and other members present.  Councillor Cutler advised that a replacement 
Appendix D of the report had been circulated to members present and would be 
included in the updated report to Council.  The amendment did not impact on the 
report’s recommendations. 

 
Councillor Tod made reference to a question received from Councillor Lee who was 
unable to attend the meeting. 
 
Cabinet agreed to the following for the reasons set out in the report and outlined 
above. 
 

RECOMMENDED (TO COUNCIL): 
 

1. That the Treasury Management Strategy Statement which 
includes the Annual Treasury Investment Strategy for 2026/27 (and the 
remainder of 2025/26) is approved.  

 
2. That authority be delegated to the Section 151 Officer to 

manage the council’s pooled property investment and long-term 
borrowing according to the Treasury Management Strategy Statement as 
appropriate; and 

 
3. That authority be delegated to the Section 151 Officer, who 

in turn discharges this function to Hampshire County Council’s Director 
of Corporate Operations, as agreed in the Service Level Agreement, to 
manage all council investments (other than the high yield portfolio) and 
short-term borrowing according to the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement as appropriate. 
 

 

Page 149

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

CAB3538 REVISED 
CABINET 

 
 

REPORT TITLE: TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2026/27 
 
12 FEBRUARY 2026 

REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER: Cllr Neil Cutler, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Transformation 

Contact Officer:  Liz Keys   Tel No: 01962 848226   Email: lkeys@winchester.gov.uk  

WARD(S):  ALL WARDS 
 
 

 

 
PURPOSE 

This report sets out the proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement, 
including the Annual Investment Strategy for the council for 2026/27. 

Following the council’s declaration of a Climate Emergency in June 2019 the 
Investment Strategy (Section 16) includes a commitment not to make equity 
investments either directly or indirectly (via pooled funds) in companies directly 
involved in the fossil fuel industry.  

In addition, following changes to the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) lending 
criteria which precludes a local authority from borrowing from PWLB for any purpose 
if it plans to purchase assets primarily for yield, the Borrowing Strategy (section 15) 
confirms the council has no such plans. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That Cabinet recommends to council: 

1. That the Treasury Management Strategy Statement which includes the 

Annual Treasury Investment Strategy for 2026/27 (and the remainder of 

2025/26) is approved;  

 

2. That authority is delegated to the Section 151 Officer to manage the council’s 

pooled property investment and long-term borrowing according to the 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement as appropriate; and 

 

Page 151



  CAB3538 
 

 

3. That authority is delegated to the Section 151 Officer, who in turn discharges 

this function to Hampshire County Council’s Director of Corporate Operations, 

as agreed in the Service Level Agreement, to manage all council investments 

(other than the high yield portfolio) and short-term borrowing according to the 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement as appropriate. 

Page 152



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

IMPLICATIONS: 
 
1 COUNCIL PLAN OUTCOME  

1.1 Treasury management is an integral part of helping to deliver the council Plan 
and all of its outcomes.  

2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

2.1 Effective treasury management ensures both the financial security and 
liquidity of the council. The council forecasts a return of 3.4% on an average 
balance of £18m in 2026/27. This would represent income of £0.6m. The 
actual return depends on several variable factors including the interest rates 
available throughout the period and the level of cash and investment 
balances.  
 

3 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS  

3.1 The council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement follows the latest 
codes of practice and the MHCLG and CIPFA guidance.  

3.2 With effect from September 2014 Hampshire County Council (HCC) and 
Winchester City Council (WCC) established arrangements for the joint 
discharge of functions under Section (101)(1) and (5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and Section 9EA and 9EB Local Government Act 2000.  
Under this arrangement, HCC’s Investments and Borrowing Team provide a 
Treasury Service which includes the management of WCC’s cash balances 
and investment of surplus cash or sourcing of short-term borrowing in 
accordance with the agreed Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 

4 WORKFORCE IMPLICATIONS  

4.1 Hampshire County Council’s Investments and Borrowing Team carry out the 
day-to-day management of the council’s cash balances and investments. The 
council’s in-house finance team undertake the accounting and retain 
responsibility for long-term borrowing decisions. 

5 PROPERTY AND ASSET IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 None.  

6 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION  

6.1 This report has been produced in consultation with Hampshire County 
council’s Investments & Borrowing team. 

6.2 In November 2025 several members attended the annual treasury 
management briefing session provided by the council’s treasury advisors 
Arlingclose. 

Page 153



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

6.3 The Scrutiny Committee discussed the report at its meeting held on 10 
February 2026. Due to the dispatch date any particular matters that the 
Committee wishes to raise with Cabinet will be reported at the meeting. 

7 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 

7.1 Following the council’s declaration of a Climate Emergency in June 2019, and 
in line with its ethical stances in its investment policy (see Section 16 below), 
the council has no direct or indirect equity investments in companies directly 
involved in the fossil fuel industry. 

8 PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY  

8.1 None. 

9 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

9.1 None required. 

10 RISK MANAGEMENT  

Risk  Mitigation Opportunities 

Returns from investments 
are too low  
  

A diversified strategy that 
attempts to manage the 
balance between liquidity 
risk, credit risk and yield 
within the council’s risk 
appetite. 

Returns above budgeted 
levels  

A counterparty fails A diversified strategy that 
has relatively low levels of 
counter-party risk 

 

Cash is not available A balanced portfolio of 
liquid and long-term funds 
are held to ensure cash is 
available to utilise. The 
council also mitigates this 
risk through cashflow 
forecasting 

More accurate and 
immediate cashflow 
forecasting can help 
improve the return on 
investments through more 
active treasury 
management activity 

Access to Money Market 
Funds (MMFs) may be 
restricted when the UK 
exits the EU 

Invest in suitable 
alternatives 

 

Insufficient capacity to 
deliver day to day treasury 
management 

Since 2014, Hampshire 
County Council’s 
Investments and 
Borrowing Team has 
carried out the day-to-day 
management of the 
council’s cash balances 
and investments 

The economies of scale in 
HCC carrying out the day-
to-day management gives 
the council access to a 
much wider range of 
skills, and resilience, at a 
far lower cost than 
managing in-house 

Page 154



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

 
 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION: 

11 Summary 

11.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the CIPFA Code) 
requires authorities to determine the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement (TMSS) before the start of each financial year.   

11.2 As per the requirements of the Prudential Code, the council adopts the CIPFA 
Treasury Management Code.  This report fulfils the council’s legal obligation 
under the Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code. 

12 Introduction 

12.1 Treasury management is the management of the council’s cash flows, 
borrowing and investments, and the associated risks. The council has 
borrowed and invested sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial 
risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing 
interest rates. The successful identification, monitoring and control of financial 
risk are therefore central to the council’s prudent financial management.  

12.2 Treasury risk management at the council is conducted within the framework of 
the CIPFA Code which requires the council to approve a Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) before the start of each financial 
year. This report fulfils the council’s legal obligation under the Local 
Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code. 

12.3 Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered 
in a different report, the Capital Investment Strategy. 

12.4 Hampshire County Council’s Investments & Borrowing Team has been 
contracted to manage the council’s treasury management balances since 
September 2014 but overall responsibility for treasury management remains 
with the council. No treasury management activity is without risk; the effective 
identification and management of risk are integral to the council’s treasury 
management objectives.   

13 External Context 

13.1 The following paragraphs explain the economic and financial background 
against which the TMSS is being set. 

Economic background 

13.2 The impact on the UK from the government’s Autumn Budget will influence 
the council’s treasury management strategy for 2026/27. Other influences will 

Page 155



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

include lower short-term interest rates alongside higher medium- and longer-
term rates, slower economic growth, together with ongoing uncertainties 
around the global economy, stock market sentiment, and ongoing geopolitical 
issues. 

13.3 The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted to cut Bank 
Rate by 25 basis points, from 4.00% to 3.75%, in December 2025. 

Credit outlook 

13.4 Credit Default Swap (CDS) prices, which are used as an indicator of credit 
risk, where higher premiums indicate higher perceived risks, spiked in April 
2025 following President Trump’s ‘Liberation Day’ tariff announcements, and 
have since trended lower, returning to levels broadly consistent with their 
2024 averages. Although CDS prices rose modestly in October 2025, the 
overall credit outlook remains stable, and credit conditions are expected to 
remain close to the range seen over the past two years. 

13.5 While lower interest rates may weigh on banks’ profitability, strong capital 
positions, easing inflation, steady economic growth, low unemployment, and 
reduced borrowing costs for households and businesses all support a 
favourable outlook for the creditworthiness of institutions on Arlingclose’s (the 
council’s treasury management advisor) counterparty list. Arlingclose’s advice 
on approved counterparties and recommended investment durations is kept 
under continuous review and will continue to reflect prevailing economic and 
credit conditions. 

Interest rate forecast (December 2025) 

13.6 Arlingclose forecasts that the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee 
will continue to reduce Bank Rate through 2025 and 2026, reaching around 
3.25%. This forecast reflects amendments made following the Autumn Budget 
and an assessment of the fiscal measures and their market implications. 

13.7 Long-term gilt yields, and therefore interest rates payable on long-term 
borrowing, are expected to remain broadly stable on average, though with 
continued volatility, and to end the forecast period marginally lower than 
current levels. Yields are likely to stay higher than in the pre-quantitative 
tightening era, reflecting ongoing balance sheet reduction and elevated bond 
issuance. Short-term fluctuations are expected to persist in response to 
economic data releases and geopolitical developments. 

13.8 A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is 
attached at Appendix A. 

14 Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast 

14.1 On 31 December 2025, the council held £159.4m of borrowing and £35.9m of 
investments. This is set out in further detail at Appendix B. Forecast changes 
in these sums, subject to delivery of the capital programme, are shown in the 
balance sheet analysis in Table 1.  

Page 156



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

14.2 The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), while reserves and working capital are 
the underlying resources available for investment. The council’s current 
strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their underlying 
levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing.  

14.3 The council has a forecast increasing CFR due to the planned capital 
programme over the coming years, and the council’s reserves will gradually 
reduce over the same period. This will reduce the council’s capacity to 
internally borrow and will ultimately result in the council needing to take out 
additional external borrowing. 

14.4 CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends 
that the council’s total debt should be lower than its highest forecast CFR over 
the next three years. Table 1 shows that the council expects to comply with 
this recommendation during 2026/27.  

*  finance leases that form part of the council’s total debt 

** existing external borrowing 

Liability benchmark  

14.5 To compare the council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a 
liability benchmark has been calculated showing the lowest risk level of 
borrowing. This assumes the same forecasts as Table 1, but that cash and 
investment balances are kept to a minimum level of £10m at each year-end to 
maintain sufficient liquidity but minimise credit risk. 

Table 1: Balance sheet summary and forecast  

 
31/03/25 
Actual 

£m 

31/03/26 
Estimate 

£m 

31/03/27 
Forecast 

£m 

31/03/28 
Forecast 

£m 

31/03/29 
Forecast 

£m 

General Fund CFR 70.4 69.4 72.5 71.4 69.2 

HRA CFR 212.5 212.5 212.5 232.2 247.3 

Total CFR 282.9 281.9 285.0 303.6 316.5 

Less other debt liabilities * (3.3) (2.7) (2.1) (1.4) (1.0) 

Borrowing CFR 279.6 279.2 282.9 302.2 315.5 

Less: External borrowing ** (154.5) (154.3) (143.5) (132.8) (132.1) 

Internal borrowing 125.1 124.9 139.4 169.4 183.4 

      

Less: Balance sheet resources (141.4) (129.5) (133.8) (115.2) (104.5) 

      

New borrowing or (investments) (16.3) (4.6) 5.6 54.2 78.9 

Page 157



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

14.6 The liability benchmark is an important tool to help establish whether the 
council is likely to be a long-term borrower or long-term investor in the future 
and so shape its strategic focus and decision making. The liability benchmark 
itself represents an estimate of the cumulative amount of external borrowing 
the council must hold to fund its current capital and revenue plans while 
keeping treasury investments at the minimum level required to manage day-
to-day cash flow. 

 

14.7 At the start of the period, 31 March 2025, the council had a Loans CFR of 
£279.6m, fixed term loans of £154.5m and a liability benchmark of 
£148.2m. The difference of £125.1m between the CFR and fixed term loans is 
internal borrowing and is where the council has used its own cash and 
investment balances to fund its borrowing need. 

    

Table 2: Liability benchmark 

 
31/03/25 

Actual 
£m 

31/03/26 
Estimate 

£m 

31/03/27 
Forecast 

£m 

31/03/28 
Forecast 

£m 

31/03/29 
Forecast 

£m 

Loans CFR 279.6 279.2 282.9 302.2 315.5 

Less: Balance sheet resources (141.4) (129.5) (133.8) (115.2) (104.5) 

Net loans requirement 138.2 149.7 149.1 187.0 211.0 

Plus: Liquidity allowance 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 

Liability benchmark 148.2 159.7 159.1 197.0 221.0 

Page 158



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

Graph 1: Liability benchmark 

 

14.8 The liability benchmark is the lowest level of debt the council could hold if it 
used all of its balances, reserves and cash flow surpluses. 

14.9 The forward projection using the council’s capital programme forecasts 
indicate that capital expenditure funded by borrowing of around £36.0m will 
occur from the position at the 31 March 2025 to 31 March 2029 as evidenced 
by the rising CFR, and where the liability benchmark increases above the debt 
portfolio is where the council will need to take on additional external borrowing 
to fund this expenditure. It is anticipated that to keep debt at a minimum level, 
a maximum of £66.5m of additional debt would need to be taken out. The 
actual CFR and external borrowing required will depend on several factors 
including delivery of the capital programme and the actual level of balance 
sheet resources available. 

14.10 The full liability benchmark is available at Appendix D to this report. 

15 Borrowing Strategy 

15.1 The council currently holds £159.4m of loans as part of its strategy for funding 
previous years’ capital programmes. The balance sheet forecast in Table 1 
shows that the council is forecast to maintain a net borrowing position and so 
may need to borrow to fund capital expenditure to maintain its long-term and 
minimum level of investments. The council may also borrow additional sums 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035

£m Liability Benchmark - Winchester City

Fixed rate loans

Loans CFR Liability benchmark Net loans requirement

Page 159



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

to pre-fund future years’ requirements, providing total external borrowing does 
not exceed the authorised limit for borrowing of £306.5m. 

Objectives 

15.2 The council’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an 
appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest costs and 
achieving certainty of those costs over the period for which funds are 
required. The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the council’s long-term 
plans change is a secondary objective. 

Strategy 

15.3 Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to local 
government funding, the council’s borrowing strategy continues to address the 
key issue of affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of the 
debt portfolio. Short-term interest rates are currently higher than in the recent 
past but are expected to fall in the coming year and it is possible therefore to 
be more cost effective over the medium-term to either use internal resources, 
or to borrow short-term loans instead. 

15.4 The benefits of internal and short-term borrowing will be monitored regularly 
against the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into 
future years when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to rise modestly.  
Arlingclose will assist the council with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven 
analysis, and this will be used to help determine whether the council borrows 
additional sums at long-term fixed rates in 2026/27 with a view to keeping 
future interest costs low, even if this causes additional cost in the short-term. 

15.5 The council has previously raised all of its long-term borrowing from the Public 
Works Loan Board (PWLB) but will consider long-term loans from other 
sources including banks, pension funds and local authorities, and will 
investigate the possibility of issuing bonds and similar instruments (including 
Community Municipal Investments (crowdfunding bonds) with the lenders 
being residents and the general public), in order to lower interest costs and 
reduce over-reliance on one source of funding in line with the CIPFA Code.  
New PWLB loans are no longer available to local authorities planning to buy 
investment assets primarily for yield (including where individual purchases are 
not funded by borrowing); the council has no plans to undertake this activity 
and will therefore retain its access to PWLB loans. If the council were to elect 
to purchase assets primarily for yield it would have no access to the PWLB for 
loans for any purpose. This would expose the council to significant liquidity 
risk as it would need to obtain loans elsewhere in the market to finance its 
borrowing need. 

15.6 The council may also arrange forward-starting loans during 2026/27, where 
the interest rate is fixed in advance, but the cash is received in later years.  
This would enable certainty of cost to be achieved without suffering a cost of 
carry in the intervening period. The council may, from time to time, borrow in 

Page 160



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

advance of need, where this is expected to provide the best long-term value 
for money. 

15.7 In addition, the council may borrow further short-term loans (normally for up to 
one month) to cover unplanned cash flow shortages. 

Sources of borrowing 

15.8 The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are: 

• HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility (formerly the Public Works Loan 
Board) 

• National Wealth Fund Ltd (formerly UK Infrastructure Bank Ltd) 

• Any institution approved for investments 

• Any other bank, building society or insurance company authorised to 
operate in the UK 
 

• Any other UK public sector body 

• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Hampshire Pension 
Fund) 

• Capital market bond investors 

• Retail investors via a regulated peer-to-peer platform 

• Special purpose companies created to enable local council bond issues 

Other sources of debt finance 

15.9 In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are 
not borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities: 

• Leasing 

• Hire purchase 

• Private Finance Initiative 

• Sale and leaseback 

• Similar asset-based finance  

Short-term and variable rate loans 

15.10 These loans leave the council exposed to the risk of short-term interest rate 
rises and are therefore subject to the limit on the net exposure to the interest 

Page 161



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

rate exposure limits in the treasury management indicators at Section 17 of 
this TMSS. 

Debt rescheduling 

15.11 The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a 
premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based on current 
interest rates. The council may take advantage of this and replace some loans 
with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is expected to 
lead to an overall cost saving or a reduction in risk. The recent rise in interest 
rates means that more favourable debt rescheduling opportunities could arise 
and the opportunity to reschedule is kept under review. 

16 Treasury Investment Strategy  

16.1 The council holds invested funds representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  In the past 12 months, the 
council’s treasury investment balance has ranged between £15.6m and 
£55.5m. 

Objectives 

16.2 The CIPFA Code requires the council to invest its treasury funds prudently, 
and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before 
seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. The council’s objective when 
investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, 
minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving 
unsuitably low investment income. The council aims to be a responsible 
investor and will consider environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues 
when investing. 

Strategy 

16.3 As demonstrated by the liability benchmark above, the council expects to be a 
long-term borrower and new treasury investments will therefore be made 
primarily to manage day-to-day cash flows using short-term low risk 
instruments. 

Environmental, social and governance factors 

16.4 Environmental, social and governance (ESG) considerations are increasingly 
a factor in global investors’ decision making, but the framework for evaluating 
investment opportunities is still developing and therefore the council does not 
currently include ESG scoring or other real-time ESG criteria at an individual 
investment level. When investing in pooled funds, the council will prioritise 
funds operated by managers that are signatories to the UN Principles for 
Responsible Investment, the Net Zero Asset Managers Alliance and/or the UK 
Stewardship Code. 

Page 162



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

16.5 The council declared a Climate Emergency in June 2019 and as a 
consequence will not make equity investments either directly or indirectly (via 
pooled funds) in companies directly involved in the fossil fuel industry. 

Business models 

16.6 Under the new IFRS 9 standard, the accounting for certain investments 
depends on the ‘business model’ for managing them. The council aims to 
achieve value from its internally managed treasury investments through a 
business model of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore, where 
other criteria are also met, these investments will continue to be accounted for 
at amortised cost.  

Investments in pooled funds 

16.7 The council continues to invest in a pooled property fund which enables it to 
achieve a greater degree of diversification than could effectively be achieved 
by directly owning individual assets. Pooled funds are managed by specialist 
external fund managers who are best placed to select and manage 
investments, for example with property investments in selecting appropriate 
buildings and then managing the relationship with tenants and the 
maintenance of those buildings. 

16.8 Diversification in itself does not guarantee positive outcomes. The selection of 
a pooled fund is carefully managed to target funds with a strong performance 
track record and objectives that are well aligned to the council’s income 
returns aims without putting its initial investment at undue risk over the longer 
term. The council is therefore currently invested in a pooled fund that 
specialises in providing income returns to support the revenue budget. As a 
result of their income focus this fund may not achieve the same capital growth 
and therefore total return, as other more general investment funds, however it 
is likely to deliver good income returns for the longer term. 

16.9 The investible universe for pooled funds is vast, and part of the service 
provided by Arlingclose as treasury advisers is to conduct research and 
suitable due diligence on pooled funds prior to making recommendations to 
their clients.  

16.10 Past performance does not guarantee that funds can replicate successful 
outcomes in future and knowing which funds will perform well is not an exact 
science. The council will therefore continue to conduct its own ongoing review 
and scrutiny of the performance of its pooled fund investments on a regular 
basis, including the active decisions of continuing to invest or redeem these 
investments, particularly with the requirement to take on additional borrowing 
approaching. The council will also discuss these investments regularly with 
Arlingclose, who provide advice based on regular meetings with 
representatives from the pooled funds and their own ongoing due diligence on 
areas such as performance and investment style, strategy and process. 

16.11 As at the 31 December 2025, the council’s pooled fund investment is valued 
with an unrealised capital gain of £0.2777m. To date, the statutory override in 
place on IFRS 9 for local authorities exempts the council from taking this 

Page 163



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

unrealised gain to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
(CIES). This override has been extended to 31 March 2028 for investments 
made before 1 April 2024, at which time the council will be expected to reflect 
any gains and losses in the CIES. 

Investment limits 

16.12 The maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK 
Government) will be £7m. Over the longer term it is expected that the 
council’s cash balances will reduce, and new external borrowing will need to 
be taken. This limit allows the flexibility to ensure that all of the council’s cash 
can be invested in accordance with this TMSS.  

16.13 A group of entities under the same ownership will be treated as a single 
organisation for limit purposes. Limits are placed on fund managers as shown 
in Table 3. 

Table 3: Investment limits 
 

 Cash limit 

Any single organisation, except the UK Central Government £7m each 

UK Central Government Unlimited 

Any group of pooled funds under the same management £17.5m per manager 

  

Approved counterparties 

16.14 The council may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in 
Table 4, subject to the limits shown.  

Page 164



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

Table 4: Sector and counterparty limits 

Sector Time limit Counterparty 
limit 

Sector limit 

The UK Government 3 years Unlimited n/a 

Local authorities & other 
government entities 

3 years £7m Unlimited 

 3 years £7m Unlimited 

Secured investments * 3 years £7m Unlimited 

Banks (unsecured) * 13 months £3.5m Unlimited 

Building societies (unsecured) * 13 months £3.5m £7m 

Registered providers (unsecured) * 3 years £3.5m £17.5m 

Money market funds * n/a £7m Unlimited 

Strategic pooled funds n/a £7m £35m 

Real estate investment trusts n/a £7m £17.5m 

Other investments * 3 years £3.5m £7m 

This table must be read in conjunction with the notes below. 

Time limit 

16.15 Borrowing to invest primarily for financial return is in contravention of the 
CIPFA Treasury Management Code. To reflect the expectation that long-term 
borrowing will be a requirement for the council, time limits for investment are 
set to a maximum of 3 years.  

* Minimum credit rating 

16.16 Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an asterisk will only be made 
with entities whose lowest published long-term credit rating is no lower than 
A-/A3. Where available, the credit rating relevant to the specific investment or 
class of investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used. 
However, investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, 
and all other relevant known factors including external advice will be taken 
into account. 

16.17 For entities without published credit ratings, investments may be made where 
external advice indicates the entity to be of similar credit quality. 

UK Government 

16.18 Sterling-denominated investments with or explicitly guaranteed by the UK 
Government, including the Debt Management Account Deposit Facility, 
treasury bills and gilts. These are deemed to be zero credit risk due to the 
government’s ability to create additional currency and therefore may be made 
in unlimited amounts for up to 3 years. 

Page 165



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

Local authorities and other government entities 

16.19 Loans to, and bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by, other national 
governments, regional and local authorities, supranational banks and 
multilateral development banks.  These investments are not subject to bail-in, 
and there is generally a lower risk of insolvency, although they are not zero 
risk.  

16.20 The counterparty limit for loans to local authorities will be increased to an 
unlimited amount where (a) the government has announced that the council 
will merge with the borrowing authority and (b) the loan is scheduled to be 
repaid after the expected date of the merger. 

Secured investments 

16.21 Investments secured on the borrower’s assets, which limits the potential 
losses in the event of insolvency. The amount and quality of the security will 
be a key factor in the investment decision. Covered bonds, secured deposits 
and reverse repurchase agreements with banks and building societies are 
exempt from bail-in. Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but 
the collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the 
higher of the collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will be 
used. The combined secured and unsecured investments with any one 
counterparty will not exceed the cash limit for secured investments. A higher 
limit applies for investments fully secured on UK or other government 
collateral. 

Banks and building societies (unsecured) 

16.22 Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with 
banks and building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  
These investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the 
regulator determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail. See below for 
arrangements relating to operational bank accounts. 

Registered providers (unsecured) 

16.23 Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by, or secured on the assets of 
registered providers of social housing and registered social landlords, formerly 
known as housing associations. These bodies are regulated by the Regulator 
of Social Housing (in England), the Scottish Housing Regulator, the Welsh 
Government and the Department for Communities (in Northern Ireland). As 
providers of public services, they retain the likelihood of receiving government 
support if needed.   

Money market funds 

16.24 Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity and very low or no 
price volatility by investing in short-term money markets. They have the 
advantage over bank accounts of providing wide diversification of investment 

Page 166



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

risks, coupled with the services of a professional fund manager in return for a 
small fee. Although no sector limit applies to money market funds, the council 
will take care to diversify its liquid investments over a variety of providers to 
ensure access to cash at all times.  

Strategic pooled funds 

16.25 Bond, equity and property funds, including exchange traded funds, that offer 
enhanced returns over the longer term but are more volatile in the short term.  
These allow the council to diversify into asset classes other than cash without 
the need to own and manage the underlying investments. Because these 
funds have no defined maturity date but can be either withdrawn after a notice 
period or sold on an exchange, their performance and continued suitability in 
meeting the council’s investment objectives will be monitored regularly. 

Other investments 

16.26 This category covers treasury investments not listed above, for example 
certificates of deposit (CDs), unsecured corporate bonds and unsecured loans 
to companies. Non-bank companies cannot be bailed-in but can become 
insolvent placing the council’s investment at risk. 

16.1 Where a counterparty does not have a credit rating and to ensure there is a 
clear process for external scrutiny specifically around these alternative 
investments, the governance structure detailed below was approved in the 
Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2017/18 in order for the council to 
consider such investment opportunities in a timely manner and ensure that 
there has been effective scrutiny over the proposed decisions. The S151 
officer will consult with this group on these types of investment prior to making 
the final decision. 
 

Page 167



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

 
* The Treasury Investment Group (TIG) includes the following officer 
and member roles: 

• Service Lead - Finance 

• Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance 

• One other Cabinet member 

• Chair of the Audit & Governance Committee 

• Shadow Cabinet Member for Finance 

• S151 officer 

Operational bank accounts 

16.2 The council may incur operational exposures, for example through current 
accounts, to any UK bank with credit ratings no lower than BBB- and with 
assets greater than £25 billion. These are not classed as investments but are 
still subject to the risk of a bank bail-in, and balances will therefore be kept 
low. The council’s operational bank account is with National Westminster and 
aims to keep the overnight balances held in current accounts as positive, and 
as close to zero as possible. The Bank of England has stated that in the event 
of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 billion are more likely to be 
bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the council 
maintaining operational continuity.  

Option

• Alternative Investment identified by the Service Lead - Finance

• Considered with the s151 officer

Due 
Dilligence

• Officers commission due diligence report from external advisor / 
organisation

• Information to also include identification of option against other 
current or potential investment opportunities

TIG*

• Treasury Investment Group (TIG) considers the option

• Recommend / reject option to s151 officer

• s151 officer to make final decision

Page 168



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

Risk assessment and credit ratings 

16.3 Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the council’s treasury advisers, 
who will notify changes in ratings as they occur. Where an entity has its credit 
rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment criteria 
then: 

• no new investments will be made, 

• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and 

• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 
investments with the affected counterparty. 

16.4 Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for 
possible downgrade (also known as “negative watch”) so that it may fall below 
the approved rating criteria, then only investments that can be withdrawn on 
the next working day will be made with that organisation until the outcome of 
the review is announced. This policy will not apply to negative outlooks, which 
indicate a long-term direction of travel rather than an imminent change of 
rating. 

Other information on the security of investments 

16.5 The council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, 
predictors of investment default. Full regard will therefore be given to other 
available information on the credit quality of the organisations in which it 
invests, including credit default swap prices, financial statements, information 
on potential government support and reports in the quality financial press and 
analysis and advice from the council’s treasury management adviser. No 
investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts 
about its credit quality, even though it may otherwise meet the above criteria. 

16.6 When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of 
all organisations, as happened in 2008, 2020 and 2022, this is not generally 
reflected in credit ratings but can be seen in other market measures.  In these 
circumstances, the council will restrict its investments to those organisations 
of higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to 
maintain the required level of security. The extent of these restrictions will be 
in line with prevailing financial market conditions. If these restrictions mean 
that insufficient commercial organisations of high credit quality are available to 
invest the council’s cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the 
UK Government, via the Debt Management Office or invested in government 
treasury bills for example, or with other local authorities. This will likely lead to 
investment returns falling but will protect the principal sum invested. 

Liquidity management 

16.7 The council has due regard for its future cash flows when determining the 
maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed. Historic cash 

Page 169



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

flows are analysed in addition to significant future cash movements, such as 
payroll, grant income and council tax precept. Limits on long-term investments 
are set by reference to the council’s medium term financial position 
(summarised in Table 1) and forecast short-term balances. 

16.8 The council will spread its liquid cash over at least four providers (e.g. bank 
accounts and money market funds), of which at least two will be UK 
domiciled, to ensure that access to cash is maintained in the event of 
operational difficulties at any one provider, except in cases of extreme market 
stress whereby the council will be able to invest all of its liquid cash in one 
provider only, being the Debt Management Office. 

17 Treasury Management Prudential Indicators 

17.1 The council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management 
risks using the following indicators. 

Interest rate exposures 

17.2 The following indicator shows the sensitivity of the council’s current 
investments and borrowing to a change in interest rates. Fixed rate 
investments maturing during the year are assumed to be variable for the 
remainder of the year. 

Table 5: Interest rate risk indicator   

 
31 December 

2025 
Impact of +/-1% 

interest rate change 

 £m £m 

Sums subject to variable interest rates:   

- Investment 36.0 +/- 0.3 

- Borrowing (5.7) +/- 0.0 

 

Maturity structure of borrowing 

17.3 This indicator is set to control the council’s exposure to refinancing risk. The 
upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing will be: 

Page 170



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

Table 6: Refinancing rate risk indicator  

 Upper Lower 

Under 12 months 25% 0% 

12 months and within 24 months 25% 0% 

24 months and within 5 years 25% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 35% 0% 

10 years and within 20 years 50% 0% 

20 years and within 30 years 50% 0% 

30 years and within 40 years 75% 0% 

40 years and within 50 years 100% 0% 

 

17.4 Time periods start of the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of 
borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. 

Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year 

17.5 The purpose of this indicator is to control the council’s exposure to the risk of 
incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments. The limits on 
the long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end 
will be: 

Table 7: Price risk indicator  

 
2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 No fixed 

date 

Limit on principal invested beyond year end £20m £15m £10m £5m 

     

 

17.6 Long-term investments with no fixed maturity date include strategic pooled 
funds but exclude money market funds and bank accounts with no fixed 
maturity date as these are considered short term. 

17.7 In effect, the annual limit and the no fixed date limit would be added together 
to reach the total limit on principal invested beyond year end, meaning that 
during 2026/27, for example, the council could invest up to £25m for the long-
term, subject to investment balances and cash flow requirements. 

18 Prudential Indicators – Borrowing 

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 

18.1 In order to ensure that over the medium-term debt will only be for a capital 
purpose, the council should ensure that debt does not, except in the short 
term, exceed the total of capital financing requirement in the preceding year 

Page 171



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the 
current and next two financial years. This is a key indicator of prudence. 

Table 8: Debt  
    

 31/03/26 
Revised 

£m 

31/03/27 
Estimate 

£m 

31/03/28 
Estimate 

£m 

31/03/29 
Estimate 

£m 

Borrowing 154.3 143.5 132.8 132.1 

New borrowing 5.4 15.6 64.2 88.9 

Finance Leases 2.7 2.1 1.4 1.0 

Total Debt 162.4 161.2 198.4 222.0 

     

18.2 Total debt is expected to remain below the CFR during the forecast period. 

Operational Boundary for External Debt 

18.3 The operational boundary is based on the council’s estimate of most likely 
(i.e. prudent but not worst case) scenario for external debt. It links directly to 
the council’s estimates of capital expenditure, the capital financing 
requirement and cash flow requirements, and is a key management tool for in-
year monitoring. Other long-term liabilities comprise finance lease, Private 
Finance Initiative and other liabilities that are not borrowing but form part of 
the council’s debt. 

Table 9: Operational Boundary 

 31/03/26 
Revised 

£m 

31/03/27 
Estimate 

£m 

31/03/28 
Estimate 

£m 

31/03/29 
Estimate 

£m 

Borrowing 294.4 296.5 314.2 326.4 

Finance Leases 2.7 2.1 1.4 1.0 

Total Debt 297.1 298.6 315.6 327.4 

     

Authorised Limit for External Debt 

18.4 The authorised limit is the affordable borrowing limit determined in compliance 
with the Local Government Act 2003. It is the maximum amount of debt that 
the council can legally owe. The authorised limit provides headroom over and 
above the operational boundary for unusual cash movements. 

Page 172



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

Table 10: Authorised Limit  

 2025/26 
Limit 

£m 

2026/27 
Limit 

£m 

2027/28 
Limit 

£m 

2028/29 
Limit 

£m 

Borrowing 301.5 303.9 321.9 334.3 

Finance Leases 3.4 2.6 1.8 1.2 

Total Debt 304.9 306.5 323.7 335.5 

 

19 Related Matters  

19.1 The CIPFA Code requires the council to include the following in its treasury 
management strategy. 

Financial derivatives 

19.2 Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded 
into loans and investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate 
collars and forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase income at the 
expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable deposits). The general 
power of competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much of 
the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives 
(i.e. those that are not embedded into a loan or investment).  

19.3 The council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, 
forwards, futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to 
reduce the overall level of the financial risks that the council is exposed to. 
Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties, will be taken into account when determining the overall level of 
risk. Embedded derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and 
forward starting transactions, will not be subject to this policy, although the 
risks they present will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk 
management strategy. 

19.4 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 
meets the approved investment criteria, assessed using the appropriate credit 
rating for derivative exposures. An allowance for credit risk calculated using 
the methodology in the Treasury Management Practices document will count 
against the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country limit. 

19.5 In line with the CIPFA Code, the council will seek external advice and will 
consider that advice before entering into financial derivatives to ensure that it 
fully understands the implications. 

Housing Revenue Account 

19.6 The council has adopted the “two pool approach” whereby each of its long-
term loans are split into General Fund and HRA pools. In the future, new long-

Page 173



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

term loans borrowed will be assigned in their entirety to one pool or the other. 
Interest payable and other costs/income arising from long-term loans (e.g. 
premiums and discounts on early redemption) will be charged/credited to the 
respective revenue account. Differences between the value of the HRA loans 
pool and the HRA’s underlying need to borrow (adjusted for HRA balance 
sheet resources available for investment) will result in a notional cash balance 
which may be positive or negative. This balance will be measured each month 
and interest transferred between the General Fund and HRA applying the 
following rates: 

• The PWLB 3-month variable loan rate is applied to a deficit balance 

• The risk-free Debt Management Office rate is applied to a surplus balance. 

Investment of money borrowed in advance of need 

19.7 The council may, from time to time, borrow in advance of need, where this is 
expected to provide the best long-term value for money. Since amounts 
borrowed will be invested until spent, the council is aware that it will be 
exposed to the risk of loss of the borrowed sums, and the risk that investment 
and borrowing interest rates may change in the intervening period. These 
risks will be managed as part of the council’s overall management of its 
treasury risks. 

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 

19.8 The council has opted up to professional client status with its providers of 
financial services, including advisers, brokers and fund managers, allowing it 
access to a greater range of services but without the greater regulatory 
protections afforded to individuals and small companies. Given the size and 
range of the council’s treasury management activities, the S151 Officer 
believes this to be the most appropriate status. 

20 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED  

20.1 The council could elect to bring all treasury management activity back in-
house. This option has been rejected as the arrangement with Hampshire 
County Council’s Investments and Borrowing team provides significant 
resilience and economies of scale. 

20.2 The CIPFA Code does not prescribe any particular treasury management 
strategy for local authorities to adopt. The Section 151 Officer believes that 
the above strategy represents an appropriate balance between risk 
management and cost effectiveness. Some alternative strategies, with their 
financial and risk management implications, are listed in Table 11. 

Page 174



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

Table 11: Alternative strategies and their implications  

Alternative 
Impact on income and 
expenditure 

Impact on risk 
management 

Invest in a narrower 
range of counterparties 
and/or for shorter times 

Interest income will be 
lower 

Lower chance of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be greater 

Invest in a wider range 
of counterparties and/or 
for longer times 

Interest income will be 
higher 

Increased risk of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be smaller 

Borrow additional sums 
at long-term fixed 
interest rates 

Debt interest costs will 
rise; this is unlikely to 
be offset by higher 
investment income 

Higher investment 
balance leading to a 
higher impact in the 
event of a default; 
however long-term 
interest costs may be 
more certain 

Borrow short-term or 
variable loans instead 
of long-term fixed rates 

Debt interest costs will 
initially be lower 

Increases in debt 
interest costs will be 
broadly offset by rising 
investment income in 
the medium term, but 
long-term costs may be 
less certain 

Reduce level of 
borrowing 

Saving on debt interest 
is likely to exceed lost 
investment income 

Reduced investment 
balance leading to a 
lower impact in the 
event of a default; 
however long-term 
interest costs may be 
less certain 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 175



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:- 

Previous Committee Reports:- 

AUD119: Treasury Management Practices, 22 June 2015 

CAB3496 Treasury Management Strategy 2025-26.pdf 

AG166 Treasury Management Outturn Report 2024-25.pdf 

AG179 Treasury Management Mid-year report 25-26.pdf 

Other Background Documents: 

None 

 

APPENDICES: 

Appendix A – Arlingclose Economic & Interest Rate Forecasts December 2025 

Appendix B – Existing Investment & Debt Portfolio Position at 31 December 2025 

Appendix C – Q3 2025/26 Treasury Management Indicators at 31 December 2025 

Appendix D – 50 year Liability Benchmark graph

Page 176

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/Data/Audit%20Committee/201506221830/Agenda/AUD119.pdf
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/documents/s30796/CAB3496%20Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%202025-26.pdf
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/documents/s33023/AG166%20Treasury%20Management%20Outturn%20Report%202024-25.pdf
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/documents/s33805/AG179%20Treasury%20Management%20Mid-year%20report%2025-26.pdf


  CAB3538 
 

 

 

Appendix A – Arlingclose Economic & Interest Rate Forecast December 2025 

Underlying assumptions:  
 

• The Budget signalled further fiscal (tax/spend) tightening across this 

parliament. Most tax changes take effect from 2028, while welfare and 

spending start from April 2026. Taken together, the timing of these 

announcements means the fiscal stance is likely to be slightly looser than 

expected for the next two years (with increased government spending), before 

tightening sharply from 2028 (with large tax rises). 

• Despite the near-term looser fiscal stance, the new policies add little support 

for activity in 2026. Even before the Budget, economic data was pointing to a 

slower growth outlook. Meanwhile, disinflation has been evident and planned 

government actions on train fares and energy bills will also dampen inflation 

next year. 

• The close vote in November to keep Bank Rate at 4% reflected pre-Budget 

uncertainty. With no major growth or inflation boosts in the Budget, a cut to 

3.75% in December took place. 

• Inflation fell to 3.6% in October. Business surveys point to weaker pricing 

power and household inflation expectations are easing, although they remain 

high. Wage growth is moderating amid rising unemployment and overall 

activity is flat. Confidence has been hit by the run-up to the Budget and a 

strong rebound seems improbable in the near term. 

• Weak growth and softer inflation strengthen the case for dovish MPC 

members to push for further Bank Rate cuts, while undermining arguments of 

more hawkish members. There will still be questions over whether 

Government can deliver the fiscal tightening it set out, given a history of U-

turns, and timing ahead of the next General Election. The December meeting 

will offer a clearer view of how divided the MPC really is. 

• Risks to the growth and inflation outlook lie to the downside, which if 

crystallised may ultimately deliver lower Bank Rate than our central case. 

• Lower inflation expectations and a tighter fiscal stance have helped bring 

down gilt yields, especially at the long end. Even so, sustained heavy 

borrowing across advanced economies, the DMO’s move towards issuing 

Page 177



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

more short-dated gilts and lingering doubts about the government’s fiscal 

plans will keep short to medium yields above the levels implied by interest 

rate expectations alone. 

Forecast:  

• Bank Rate was cut by 0.25% in December to 3.75%. 

• Continuing disinflation, rising unemployment, softening wage growth and low 

confidence suggests that monetary policy will be eased to stimulate activity 

ahead of incoming fiscal tightening post-2028. 

• Arlingclose now expects Bank Rate to be cut to 3.25% by Q2 2026, with risks 

weighted to the downside. 

• Medium and long-term gilt yields continue to incorporate premia for UK 

government credibility and global uncertainty. These issues may not be 

resolved quickly and we expect yields to remain higher than would normally 

be consistent with Bank Rate expectations. 

• However, the lower path for Bank Rate maintains the downside risks to 

Arlingclose’s gilt yield forecasts. 

 

 
 

• PWLB Standard Rate = Gilt yield + 1.00% 

• PWLB Certainty Rate = Gilt yield + 0.80% 

• PWLB HRA Rate = Gilt yield + 0.40% 

• National Wealth Fund (NWF) Rate = Gilt yield + 0.40%

Current Dec-25 Mar-26 Jun-26 Sep-26 Dec-26 Mar-27 Jun-27 Sep-27 Dec-27 Mar-28 Jun-28 Sep-28

Official Bank Rate

Upside risk 0.00 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50

Central Case 4.00 3.75 3.50 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25

Downside risk 0.00 0.00 -0.25 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50

3-month money market rate

Upside risk 0.00 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50

Central Case 3.90 3.65 3.50 3.40 3.35 3.35 3.35 3.35 3.35 3.35 3.35 3.35 3.35

Downside risk 0.00 0.00 -0.25 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50

5yr gilt yield

Upside risk 0.00 0.40 0.45 0.50 0.55 0.60 0.65 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70

Central Case 3.92 3.90 3.85 3.80 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.80 3.80

Downside risk 0.00 -0.50 -0.60 -0.70 -0.80 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85

10yr gilt yield

Upside risk 0.00 0.40 0.45 0.50 0.55 0.60 0.65 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70

Central Case 4.48 4.40 4.35 4.30 4.25 4.25 4.25 4.25 4.25 4.25 4.25 4.30 4.30

Downside risk 0.00 -0.50 -0.60 -0.70 -0.80 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85

20yr gilt yield

Upside risk 0.00 0.40 0.45 0.50 0.55 0.60 0.65 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70

Central Case 5.13 4.90 4.85 4.80 4.75 4.75 4.75 4.75 4.75 4.75 4.75 4.80 4.80

Downside risk 0.00 -0.50 -0.60 -0.70 -0.80 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85

50yr gilt yield

Upside risk 0.00 0.40 0.45 0.50 0.55 0.60 0.65 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70

Central Case 4.73 4.50 4.50 4.45 4.45 4.45 4.45 4.45 4.45 4.45 4.45 4.50 4.50

Downside risk 0.00 -0.50 -0.60 -0.70 -0.80 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85

Page 178



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

Appendix B - Existing Investment & Debt Portfolio Position at 31 December 
2025 

 

Treasury investment position 

Investments 30/09/2025 
Balance    

 
 

£m 

Net 
movement  

 
 

£m 

31/12/2025 
Balance    

 
 

£m 

31/12/2025 
Income 

return 
 

% 

31/12/2025
Weighted 

average 
maturity  

years 

Short term investments       

Banks and building societies:      

- Unsecured 4.9 0.6 5.5 4.05 0.06 

Money Market Funds 13.5 4.0 17.5 3.91 0.00 

Government:           

- Debt Management Office 3.0 2.0 5.0 3.71 0.14 

- UK Treasury bills 4.5 (2.5) 2.0 3.82 0.10 

Cash plus funds 1.0 0.0 1.0 4.02 0.00 

 26.9 4.1 31.0 3.36 0.04 

Long term investments            

Pooled property fund* 5.0 0.0 5.0 4.65 N/A 

 5.0 0.0 5.0 4.65 N/A 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 31.9 4.1 36.0 4.00 0.04 

* The rate provided for the pooled property fund investment is reflective of 
annualised income returns over the year to 31 December 2025 based on the market 
value of investments 12 months earlier. 

Treasury management position 
  

 
31/12/2025 

Balance   
£m 

31/12/2025 
Rate 

% 

External borrowing:   

- PWLB  (159.4) 3.33 

Investments   

- Total investments 36.0 4.00 

Net (Debt) / Investments (123.4)  
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 179



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

Appendix C - Q3 2025/26 Treasury Management Indicators at 31 December 
2025 
 
 

 Debt limits  2025/26   
Maximum 

 
£m  

31/12/25 
Actual 

 
£m  

2025/26   
Operational 

Boundary 
£m  

2025/26   
Authorised 

Limit 
£m  

Complied? 
 
 

  

External borrowing (159.4) (159.4) (295.5) (309.1) ✓ 

Leases and other debt 
liabilities  

(3.3) (3.3) (4.5) (5.0) 
✓ 

Total debt  (161.9) (161.8) (300.0) (314.1) ✓ 

 
 

Refinancing rate risk indicator  31/12/25 
Actual 

Upper 
Limit 

Lower 
Limit 

Complied 

Under 12 months  4% 25% 0% ✓ 

12 months and within 24 months  7% 25% 0% ✓ 

24 months and within 5 years  8% 25% 0% ✓ 

5 years and within 10 years  27% 30% 0% ✓ 

10 years and within 20 years  13% 50% 0% ✓ 

20 years and within 30 years  13% 50% 0% ✓ 

30 years and within 40 years  23% 75% 0% ✓ 

40 years and within 50 years  6% 100% 0% ✓ 

 
 

Long term investments   2025/26 
 

£m 

2026/27 
 

£m 

2027/28 
 

£m 

No fixed 
date 
£m 

Actual principal invested beyond year 
end  

- - - £5m 

Limit on principal invested beyond year 
end  

£20m £20m £20m £5m 

Complied  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 180



  CAB3538 
 

 

 

Appendix D – 50 year Liability Benchmark graph 
 

 

P
age 181



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of the Council held on 14 January 2026
	5 To consider and determine the following Recommended Minutes: Cabinet held 12 February 2026 - Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget 2026/27 (CAB3540 - REVISED)
	CAB3540 HRA Budget 26-27 - REVISED

	6 To consider and determine the following Recommended Minutes: Cabinet held 12 February 2026 - General Fund Budget 2026/27 (CAB3541 - REVISED)
	CAB3541 General fund budget 26-27-REVISED
	CA3541 Appendix A - MTFP (Revised)
	CAB3541 Appendix B  - Revenue Proposals, 12/02/2026 Cabinet
	CA3541 Appendix C - Reserves (Revised)
	CAB3541 Appendix D - Winchester Town Account, 12/02/2026 Cabinet
	CAB3541 Appendix E - 2026-27 CTR Income Bands, 12/02/2026 Cabinet
	CAB3541 Appendix F - 2025-26 NNDR write-offs, 12/02/2026 Cabinet
	Council tax resolution 2026-27
	Council Tax 2026-27 - Annex 1
	Council Tax 2026-27 - Annex 2

	7 To consider and determine the following Recommended Minutes: Cabinet held 12 February 2026 - Capital Investment Strategy 2026 - 36 (CAB3539)
	CAB3539 Capital Investment Strategy 26-36, 12/02/2026 Cabinet
	CAB3539 Appendix A, 12/02/2026 Cabinet
	CAB3539 Appendix B, 12/02/2026 Cabinet
	CAB3539 Appendix C, 12/02/2026 Cabinet
	CAB3539 Appendix D, 12/02/2026 Cabinet
	CAB3539 Appendix E, 12/02/2026 Cabinet
	CAB3539 Appendix F, 12/02/2026 Cabinet
	CAB3539 Appendix G, 12/02/2026 Cabinet

	8 To consider and determine the following Recommended Minutes: Cabinet held 12 February 2026 - Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27 (CAB3538 - REVISED)
	CAB3538 Treasury Management Strategy 26-27-REVISED


